
Multiple files are bound together in this PDF Package.

Adobe recommends using Adobe Reader or Adobe Acrobat version 8 or later to work with 
documents contained within a PDF Package. By updating to the latest version, you’ll enjoy 
the following benefits:  

•  Efficient, integrated PDF viewing 

•  Easy printing 

•  Quick searches 

Don’t have the latest version of Adobe Reader?  

Click here to download the latest version of Adobe Reader

If you already have Adobe Reader 8, 
click a file in this PDF Package to view it.

http://www.adobe.com/products/acrobat/readstep2.html




COUNTY DEPARTMENT AGENDA REQUEST 


Department: Presenter(s):


Background/History/Details:


Wording for the Agenda:


What action are you seeking from the Board of Commissioners?


If this item requires funding, please describe:


Has this issue come before the Commissioners in the past? If so, when?


Do you need audio-visual for the presentation?


 STAFF USE ONLY


Administrator's Approval


Back-up Material Submitted?


Approved by Finance


Approved by Purchasing


Reviewed  by Legal


Approved by County Clerk


Type of Request:


Staff Notes:


Meeting Date:


Commissioners Carol Chandler


Approval of reappointment of Darryl McKinney to the Fayette County Hospital Authority for another four-year term commencing June 


1 ,2010 and ending May 31, 2014.


Darryl McKinney has served on the Fayette County Hospital Authority since March, 2000.  He is willing to serve on the Board if 


reappointed.  There are five members of the Hospital Authority, all of whom are appointed by the Board of Commissioners. They serve 


staggered four-year terms.


Approval of reappointment of Darryl McKinney to the Fayette County Hospital Authority for another four-year term.


Not Applicable.


No


No


Yes


No


Not Applicable


Not Applicable


Yes


Yes


ConsentThursday, June 24, 2010








COUNTY DEPARTMENT AGENDA REQUEST 


Department: Presenter(s):


Background/History/Details:


Wording for the Agenda:


What action are you seeking from the Board of Commissioners?


If this item requires funding, please describe:


Has this issue come before the Commissioners in the past? If so, when?


Do you need audio-visual for the presentation?


 STAFF USE ONLY


Administrator's Approval


Back-up Material Submitted?


Approved by Finance


Approved by Purchasing


Reviewed  by Legal


Approved by County Clerk


Type of Request:


Staff Notes:


Meeting Date:


Commissioners Carol Chandler


Approval of the reappointment of Harriett Steele to the Region Three Mental Health Planning Board for another three-year term 


commencing April 1, 2010 and ending March 31, 2012.


This Regional Board operates under the guidelines of the newly formed Georgia Department of Behavioral Health and Developmental 


Disabilities. Historically, mental health services came under the Ga. Dept. of Human Resources. This body is an advisory group between 


local communities and the state concerning the provision and management of mental health services. The statute creating this Board 


allows for a number of positions based on population. Currently Fayette County has two seats on this Board. The other member is John 


Lane. 


 


Harriett Steele was appointed to thee Region Three Mental Health Planning Board for a three-year term commencing April 1,2007 and 


her appointment expired March 31, 2010.   


 


Georgia is divided into regions for the administration and delivery of mental heath services. Currently Fayette County is in Region Three 


but changes are underway at this time that may change the makeup of the counties within regions. Information is expected to be 


forthcoming in July, 2010 about the reorganization of the regions. These changes may effect the numbers of board members and the 


actual requirements for members, thus the need to revisit appointments to this board may resurface later this year.


Approval of reappointment of Harriett Steele to the Region Three Mental Health Planning Board for another three-year term.


Not Applicable.


No


No


Yes


No


Not Applicable


Not Applicable


Yes


Yes


ConsentThursday, June 24, 2010








COUNTY DEPARTMENT AGENDA REQUEST 


Department: Presenter(s):


Background/History/Details:


Wording for the Agenda:


What action are you seeking from the Board of Commissioners?


If this item requires funding, please describe:


Has this issue come before the Commissioners in the past? If so, when?


Do you need audio-visual for the presentation?


 STAFF USE ONLY


Administrator's Approval


Back-up Material Submitted?


Approved by Finance


Approved by Purchasing


Reviewed  by Legal


Approved by County Clerk


Type of Request:


Staff Notes:


Meeting Date:


Commissioners Carol Chandler


Approval of reappointment of Jack Smith to the Fayette County Public Facilities Authority for another one-year term commencing July 23, 


2010 and ending July 22, 2011.


The Fayette County Public Facilities Authority was created by special act in 1978.  The first members were appointed in 1999, in 


preparation of the construction of the Fayette County Justice Center and Jail. 


 


Jack Smith has been a member of the Fayette County Public Facilities Authority since March, 2000. There are three members on the 


PFA, all appointed by the County Commission. 


 


The local act does not prohibit a member of the County Commission from being appointed to the PFA.


Approval of reappointment of Jack Smith to the Fayette County Public Facilities Authority for another one-year term.


Not Applicable.


No


No


Yes


No


Not Applicable


Not Applicable


Yes


Yes


ConsentThursday, June 24, 2010








COUNTY DEPARTMENT AGENDA REQUEST 


Department: Presenter(s):


Background/History/Details:


Wording for the Agenda:


What action are you seeking from the Board of Commissioners?


If this item requires funding, please describe:


Has this issue come before the Commissioners in the past? If so, when?


Do you need audio-visual for the presentation?


 STAFF USE ONLY


Administrator's Approval


Back-up Material Submitted?


Approved by Finance


Approved by Purchasing


Reviewed  by Legal


Approved by County Clerk


Type of Request:


Staff Notes:


Meeting Date:


Commissioners Carol Chandler


Approval of reappointment of Joan Smith to the Fayette County Hospital Authority for another four-year term commencing June 1, 2010 


and ending May 31, 2014.


Joan Smith has served on the Fayette County Hospital Authority since March, 2000.  She is willing to serve on the Board if reappointed. 


The Hospital Authority has five members, all appointed by the Board of Commissioners. They serve staggered four-year terms.


Approval of reappointment of Joan Smith to the Fayette County Hospital Authority for a four-year term.


Not Applicable.


No


No


Yes


No


Not Applicable


Not Applicable


Yes


Yes


ConsentThursday, June 24, 2010








COUNTY DEPARTMENT AGENDA REQUEST 


Department: Presenter(s):


Background/History/Details:


Wording for the Agenda:


What action are you seeking from the Board of Commissioners?


If this item requires funding, please describe:


Has this issue come before the Commissioners in the past? If so, when?


Do you need audio-visual for the presentation?


 STAFF USE ONLY


Administrator's Approval


Back-up Material Submitted?


Approved by Finance


Approved by Purchasing


Reviewed  by Legal


Approved by County Clerk


Type of Request:


Staff Notes:


Meeting Date:


Commissioners Carol Chandler


Approval of reappointment of Mary Shaver to the Fayette County Public Facilities Authority for another one-year term commencing July 


23, 2010 and ending July 22, 2011.


The Fayette County Public Facilities Authority was created by special act in 1978.  The first members were appointed in 1999, in 


preparation of the construction of the Fayette County Justice Center and Jail. 


 


Mrs. Shaver has been a member of the Public Facilities Authority March, 2000. There are three members, all appointed by the Board of 


Commissioners. The terms are for one-year each.


Approval of reappointment of Mary Shaver to the Fayette County Public Facilities Authority for another one-year term.


Not Applicable.


No


No


Yes


No


Not Applicable


Not Applicable


Yes


Yes


ConsentThursday, June 24, 2010








COUNTY DEPARTMENT AGENDA REQUEST 


Department: Presenter(s):


Background/History/Details:


Wording for the Agenda:


What action are you seeking from the Board of Commissioners?


If this item requires funding, please describe:


Has this issue come before the Commissioners in the past? If so, when?


Do you need audio-visual for the presentation?


 STAFF USE ONLY


Administrator's Approval


Back-up Material Submitted?


Approved by Finance


Approved by Purchasing


Reviewed  by Legal


Approved by County Clerk


Type of Request:


Staff Notes:


Meeting Date:


Commissioners Chairman Jack Smith


Presentation of a Resolution to the Marquis de Lafayette Chapter of the Sons of the American Revolution recognizing the observance of 


the "National Let Freedom Ring" Bell Ringing Ceremony on July 4.


Members of the Marquis de Lafayette Chapter of the Sons of the American Revolution hold a bell ringing ceremony on the Old 


Courthouse lawn on the 4th of July each year in recognition of the ringing of the Liberty Bell on July 4, 1776 upon the signing of the 


Declaration of Independence. These bell ringing ceremonies take place all across the nation. This resolution is in recognition of that 


event.


Presentation of Resolution. Members of the Marquis de LaFayette Chapter of the Sons of the American Revolution will be presentation. 


Not Applicable.


No


No


Yes


Yes


Not Applicable


Not Applicable


Yes


Yes


Presentation/RecognitionThursday, June 24, 2010







l\.e9'o(ution


"lLet jfreebotlt 3R.ill{I <!Celebration"


WHEREAS, The tolling of the Liberty Bell at Independence Hall in Philadelphia at two
o'clock in the afternoon of July 4, 1776 punctuated the adoption of the
Declaration of Independence, marking the birth of the United States of
America which would thereafter become a free and independent nation;
and


WHEREAS, It is fitting that the anniversary of this most significant of events should
be appropriately observed each year throughout the United States; and


WHEREAS, The Congress of the United States resolved in 1963 that the Anniversary
of the Adoption of the Declaration of Independence should be observed
each year by the ringing of bells throughout America when the clock
strikes two o'clock in Philadelphia, eastern daylight time, on the Fourth
Day of July;


NOW, THEREFORE, THIS BODY, THE BOARD OF COMMISSIONERS OF FAYETTE
COUNTY, GEORGIA, by way of this resolution, acknowledges the 234th Anniversary of
the Signing of the Declaration of Independence to be celebrated in our community by
the upcoming "National Let Freedom Ring" Bell Ringing Ceremony to be held on the
grounds of the Old Historic Fayette County Courthouse on the Fourth Day of July, in
this year of2010. We call upon our citizens to pause and give homage to the founders
of our nation who dared to pen documents of freedom, independence, and hope for a
nation of people struggling to achieve self-sufficiency and the right to pursue dreams
of a life free of political and religious oppression.


Further, we recognize members of the Marquis de Lafayette Chapter of the Sons of the
American Revolution and their efforts to keep history accurate and alive by continuing
to remind and re-educate our citizens about ofa small group of men all those years ago
who could envision an independent new nation and who had the wisdom, courage and
synergy to move a people forward to make their vision of freedom a reality.


So resolved this 24 th Day of June, 2010, by the


BOARD OF COMMISSIONERS
FAYETTE COUNTY, GEORGIA


Jack R. Smith, Chairman





		Commissioners- SAR Resolution Agenda Request File.pdf

		Commissioners- SAR Resolution Backup






COUNTY DEPARTMENT AGENDA REQUEST 


Department: Presenter(s):


Background/History/Details:


Wording for the Agenda:


What action are you seeking from the Board of Commissioners?


If this item requires funding, please describe:


Has this issue come before the Commissioners in the past? If so, when?


Do you need audio-visual for the presentation?


 STAFF USE ONLY


Administrator's Approval


Back-up Material Submitted?


Approved by Finance


Approved by Purchasing


Reviewed  by Legal


Approved by County Clerk


Type of Request:


Staff Notes:


Meeting Date:


911 Communications Cheryl Rogers


Approval of a request from 911 Communications for authorization to dispose of uniforms and related equipment no longer of use to the 


Department.


The Fayette County E 9-1-1 Communications Center has accumulated several old, worn, faded and torn uniforms from its' employees.  


These uniforms, purchased with funds from the E 9-1-1 Communications Center Operations Budget, have the E 9-1-1 logo and cannot be 


used for any other purposes.  Storage of these uniforms is not an option.


Approval to dispose of old uniforms.  Replacement uniforms have already been purchased.


Not Applicable.


No


No


Yes


Yes


Not Applicable


Yes


Yes


Yes


ConsentThursday, June 24, 2010







May 28,2010


Fayette County Board of Commissioners
140 Stonewall Avenue, West
Suite 100
Fayetteville, Georgia 30214


Dear Commissioners:


The Fayette County E 9-1-1 Communications Center has accumulated several old, worn, faded and torn
uniforms from its' employees. These uniforms were purchased with funds from the E 9-1-1 operational
budget.


These uniforms have the Fayette County E 9-1-1 Communications Center logo on them and cannot be
used for any other purpose. Storage of these uniforms is not an option.


I seek your approval to dispose of these old uniforms. Replacement uniforms have already been
purchased.


Thank you in advance for your consideration of this request. If you have any questions or desire any
additional information please contact me or Iggy Kahl at 770-461-4357.


Sincerely,


q;.~~~~
Director-Fayette County E 9-1-1 Communications


Cc: Chief M. Allen McCullough


Mailing Address: 140 Stonewall Avenue West, Fayetteville GA 30214 Main Phone: 770-460-5730 Web Site: www.fayettecountyga.gov





		Communications- Uniform Agenda Request File.pdf

		Communications- Uniform Backup-Compressed






COUNTY DEPARTMENT AGENDA REQUEST 


Department: Presenter(s):


Background/History/Details:


Wording for the Agenda:


What action are you seeking from the Board of Commissioners?


If this item requires funding, please describe:


Has this issue come before the Commissioners in the past? If so, when?


Do you need audio-visual for the presentation?


 STAFF USE ONLY


Administrator's Approval


Back-up Material Submitted?


Approved by Finance


Approved by Purchasing


Reviewed  by Legal


Approved by County Clerk


Type of Request:


Staff Notes:


Meeting Date:


Finance Mary Holland / Jack Krakeel


Public Hearing on the County's proposed annual budget for the fiscal year beginning July 1, 2010 and ending June 30, 2011, and 


consideration of Resolution 2010-10 enacting said budget.


State law requires two public hearings prior to the adoption of the County's annual budget.  The first public hearing was held on June 10, 


2010.  At the conclusion of the second hearing on June 24, 2010, the Board should adopt Resolution Number 2010-01, establishing the 


annual operating capital and CIP budgets for the fiscal year beginning July 1, 2010, and ending June 30, 2011. 


 


The total annual budget for Fiscal Year 2011 is $73,415,003. 


 


The first required public hearing was held on June 10, 2010. CFO Mary Holland indicated at the hearing that there may be a slight 


change in the total of the budget but work was still underway with two departments to reach final agreement, thus the the total listed 


above may change very slightly when the Budget Resolution is actually adopted. 


The first required public hearing for the Fiscal Year 2011 annual county budget was held on June 10, 2010.  At the conclusion of the 


second required hearing, the Board should adopt Budget Resolution Number 2010-10.


Not Applicable.


Yes Thursday, June 10, 2010


No


Yes


Yes


Yes


Not Applicable


Yes


Yes


Public HearingThursday, June 24, 2010







        REVENUES AND OTHER SOURCES                EXPENDITURES AND OTHER USES        
TRANSFERS TRANSFERS TOTAL


FROM TOTAL TO EXPENDITURES
PROJECTED CASH FUNDING RECOMMENDED CASH AND
 REVENUES RESERVES SOURCES EXPENDITURES RESERVES OTHER USES 


Governmental Funds:
General Fund 44,762,707$        246,298$             45,009,005$        45,009,005$        45,009,005$        


Special Revenue Funds:
EMS 3,175,500            3,175,500            3,034,940            140,560               3,175,500            
Fire Services 7,055,900            359,751               7,415,651            7,415,651            7,415,651            
Street Lights 303,000               303,000               291,655               11,345                 303,000               
State Confiscated Property 20,000                 52,800                 72,800                 72,800                 72,800                 
Jail Construction 393,000               87,495                 480,495               480,495               480,495               
Juvenile Supervision 27,000                 1,800                   28,800                 28,800                 28,800                 
Victims Assistance 165,000               17,782                 182,782               182,782               182,782               
Drug Abuse and Treatment 53,000                 57,038                 110,038               110,038               110,038               
Law Library 55,000                 12,160                 67,160                 67,160                 67,160                 
Emergency Phone E-911 2,379,969           234,618             2,614,587          2,614,587          2,614,587          


Total Special Revenue Funds 13,627,369$       823,444$            14,450,813$       14,298,908$       151,905$            14,450,813$       


Capital/CIP Projects
Capital Projects Fund -                      87,300                 87,300                 87,300                 87,300                 
Total Capital/CIP Funds -$                    87,300$               87,300$               87,300$               -$                    87,300$               


Total Governmental Funds 58,390,076$        1,157,042$          59,547,118$        59,395,213$        151,905$             59,547,118$        


Enterprise Funds
Solid Waste (Landfill) 101,262               46,554                 147,816               147,816               147,816               


Water System 14,370,124          14,370,124          13,871,974          498,150               14,370,124          
Total Enterprise Funds 14,471,386$        46,554$               14,517,940$        14,019,790$        498,150$             14,517,940$        


Internal Service Funds 
Vehicle Replacement -                      -                      


Total of All Budgeted Funds 72,861,462$        1,203,596$          74,065,058$        73,415,003$        650,055$             74,065,058$        


  FAYETTE COUNTY, GEORGIA  


BUDGETED FUNDS


PROPOSED FUNDING AND APPROPRIATIONS @ 6/2/10
 FISCAL YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2011


 BUDGET SUMMARY INFORMATION  







 STATE OF GEORGIA      
 
COUNTY OF FAYETTE 
 
 


RESOLUTION NO. 2010-10 
 
 


BUDGET FOR FISCAL YEAR  2010 – 2011 
 
 


WHEREAS, the Board of Commissioners of Fayette County, Georgia is authorized by 


Georgia law to establish and adopt a budget for the purpose of providing appropriations for the 


proper and orderly operation of government in Fayette County, Georgia. 


NOW THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED AND IT IS HEREBY RESOLVED by the 


Board of Commissioners of Fayette County, Georgia, that the Fayette County budget for the 


2010-2011 fiscal year be adopted for the purpose of providing appropriations in the following 


amounts for the proper and orderly operation of government in Fayette County: 


 


                     


TOTAL GENERAL FUND 45,009,005$    


TOTAL SPECIAL REVENUE FUNDS 14,298,908      


TOTAL CAPITAL/CIP PROJECTS FUNDS 87,300             


TOTAL SOLID WASTE FUND 147,816           


TOTAL WATER SYSTEM FUND 13,871,974      


TOTAL ALL BUDGETED FUNDS 73,415,003$    
 


                                                                     


DULY ADOPTED by the Board of Commissioners of Fayette County, Georgia this 24th 


day of June, 2010.        


BOARD OF COMMISSIONERS 
OF FAYETTE COUNTY 


 
 


  _____________________________ 
Jack R. Smith, Chairman 


 
ATTEST: 
 
____________________________ 
Carol Chandler, County Clerk 





		Finance- FY 2011 Budget Public Hearing Agenda Request File.pdf

		Finance- FY 2011 Budget Public Hearing Backup

		Finance- FY 2011 Budget Public Hearing Backup 1.pdf

		FY 2011 As of June 2



		Finance - FY 2011 Budget Public Hearing Backup 2








COUNTY DEPARTMENT AGENDA REQUEST 


Department: Presenter(s):


Background/History/Details:


Wording for the Agenda:


What action are you seeking from the Board of Commissioners?


If this item requires funding, please describe:


Has this issue come before the Commissioners in the past? If so, when?


Do you need audio-visual for the presentation?


 STAFF USE ONLY


Administrator's Approval


Back-up Material Submitted?


Approved by Finance


Approved by Purchasing


Reviewed  by Legal


Approved by County Clerk


Type of Request:


Staff Notes:


Meeting Date:


Finance Nina Madrid


Approval of staff's request to renew the Annual Support Agreement with Data Voice, Inc. for telecommunications equipment and software 


beginning July 1, 2010 and ending June 30, 2011 at a total cost of $39,996.00. 


This agreement is for the annual support of Fayette County's phone equipment and associated software. 


 


In 2002 Fayette County sent out an RFP for the Telecommunications System for the new Justice Center and Jail Expansion project.  In 


2007 another RFP was sent out to upgrade the Telecommunications Systems for McDonough Road and the Stonewall Administrative 


Complex.  Data Voice was awarded the contract for both projects.  Data Voice has also installed the telecommunications systems used 


by Crosstown Water Plant and Animal Control. 


 


The annual agreement  which begins July 1, 2010 and ends June 30, 2011 provides support for all the equipment and software installed 


by Data Voice.  This agreement may be terminated with a thirty day written notice given by either party prior to the termination date. 


The annual cost for the support services is $39,996.00 to be paid quarterly.  The cost has remained level with no increase for FY 2011. 


  


Data Voice is a Mitel Platinum Dealer authorized to sell and support our systems, has provided excellent service to the County for the 


past eight years, and is very knowledgeable in the configuration and programming of our systems.


Authorization for the Chairman to execute the one year agreement with Data Voice, Inc. for the support of Fayette County's 


telecommunications equipment and software. The County Attorney has reviewed the agreement.


The cost for the annual support agreement was provided to the Finance Department and is included in the FY2011 budget proposal.


Yes Thursday, May 28, 2009


No


Yes


Yes


Yes


Yes


Yes


Yes


ConsentJune 24, 2010







 


 1


 
 


SUPPORT AGREEMENT 
 


 
Page 1 of 7 


CUSTOMER Numbers 2284, 2345, 2411, 2413, 2343, 2347 
Effective Date 07/01/2010 


 
 


 
This  Support  Agreement  (“Agreement”)  is  made  by  and  between  DATA  VOICE,  INCORPORATED,  a  Georgia 
corporation, with offices at PO BOX 1502 Suwanee, GA 30024 (“DATA VOICE”) and FAYETTE COUNTY, GEORGIA a 
political subdivision of the State of Georgia, with offices at 140 Stonewall Avenue, Suite 101, Fayetteville, Georgia 
30214 (“CUSTOMER”) for the following equipment and locations. 
   
 
 


Justice Center, Jail, and Sheriff’s Office 
PAVT1016‐08051‐00  D/240‐T1 CTBUS 24 PORT PCI CARD  2.00 
PAVT1019‐03020‐32  CAPTARIS 32 PORT CALLXPRESS UNIFIED  1.00 
PAVT1019‐03162‐00  CALLXPRESS UNIFIED MESSAGING FOR MS  1.00 
PAVT1024‐03203‐00  CALLXPRESS 7.X USB SECURITY DONGLE  1.00 
PAVT1024‐03914‐00  INITIAL 4 PORT CALLXPRESS UM 7.7 UPGRADE  1.00 
PAVT1024‐03916‐00  ADDITIONAL 4 PORTS ‐ CALLXPRESS UM 7.7  1.00 
PAVT2000‐00000‐05  RIGHTFAX ADDITIONAL FAX CHANNEL  6.00 
PAVT2000‐87004‐00  RIGHTFAX 8.7 GATEWAY FOR MS EXCHANGE  1.00 
PAVT2050‐87090‐00  RIGHTFAX 8.7 BUSINESS SERVER UPGRADE  1.00 
PAVT2125‐10104‐00  TR114+uP4L FOUR CHANNEL LOOP START FAX  2.00 
PCAB10.4PR.CAT5.BLU  10 FOOT CATEGORY 5 BLUE PATCH CORD  57.00 
PCAB10M.2F.SC.ST  10 METER FIBER CABLE SC‐ST CONNECTORS  12.00 
PCAB25CX25  25' FEMALE HANGOFF CABLE, 25 PAIR  42.00 
PCAB25PX25  25 PAIR, 25' MALE ENDED HANGOFF CABLE  2.00 
PCAB3M.2F.ST  3 METER FIBER CABLE ST‐ST  4.00 
PCABATDB9F‐8  RJ45 TO DB9F ADAPTER  1.00 
PCABATDB9M‐8  RJ45 TO DB9M ADAPT  2.00 
PCABATRA8F  RJ45 TO DB25F ADAPTER  3.00 
PCORL‐H4DU‐25‐BK  25'H/S CORD‐BLACK  6.00 
PDEM50004894  5224 IP PHONE DARK  1.00 
PMI2MC330AB  MITEL NETWORKS SX 2000 LIGHT DIGITAL  14.00 







 


 2


PMIS017‐739‐10  PINNACLE 1000 UPS TOWER  1.00 
PMIS017‐739‐20  PINNACLE 2000 UPS TOWER  3.00 
PMIS033‐739‐10  PINNACLE 1000 TOWER BATTERY PACK  1.00 
PMIS033‐739‐20  PINNACLE 2000 TOWER BATTERY PACK  3.00 
PMIS07‐00‐03411  PC ANYWHERE HOST AND REMOTE  1.00 
PMIS30900000  USB EXTERNAL MODEM  3.00 
PMIS31420‐700  RACK PANEL ADAPTER (3.46") BLACK  1.00 
PMIS398722  CARBON COPY  2.00 
PMIS476002  PREMIER 7020 SINGLE LINE TELEPHONE  15.00 
PMISCH‐BT1  CHIME 90 DB ‐ COVERS 1000 TO 5000 SQ FT  1.00 
PMISCOMPAQPROLIANT  COMPAQ PROLIANT ML 370 G3 INTEL XEON  1.00 
PMISDVMDF  MAIN DISTRIBUTION FRAME AND  1.00 
PMISDVPCPENTIUM4/20  PENTIUM 4 PLATFORM WITH WIN 2000 SERVER,  1.00 
PMISDVPENTIUMIII  PENTIUM III PLATFORM WITH WINDOWS NT  1.00 
PMISEHN408‐0010  PREMIUM KVM CPU CABLE (10 FT)  3.00 
PMISEXP2241  UNIDEN EXP2241 2.4 GHz CORDLESS  22.00 
PMISOR808004922  24 PORT, 6 PAIR, 4 CONDUCTOR PATCH PANEL  1.00 
PMISP5E24B19E  24 PORT CATEGORY 5E PATCH PANEL  1.00 
PMISSCS200  LANTRONIX 2 PORT SECURE CONSOLE SERVER  1.00 
PMISSW626A‐R2  PERSONAL SERVSWITCH 4 PORT  1.00 
PMISSWLOCKBOX  SOFTWARE LOCK BOX  2.00 
PMIST5583  ESPIRIT 108 STYLE KEYBOARD  1.00 
PMIST8103  ESPIRIT 5510 TERMINAL WHITE  1.00 
PMISUSR5686D  56K EXTERNAL MODEM  2.00 
PMIT50000402  MITEL NETWORKS SUPERSET 4025 DARK NON  277.00 
PMIT50001184  MITEL NETWORKS LIGHTWARE 31 SOFTWARE  1.00 
PMIT50001266  MITEL NETWORKS 3300 UNIVERSAL ANALOG  1.00 
PMIT50001270  MITEL NETWORKS 3300 UNIVERSAL NETWORK  1.00 
PMIT50002417  MITEL NETWORKS 5230 IP APPLIANCE (PDA  1.00 
PMIT50002818  MITEL NETWORKS 5220 IP PHONE DARK GREY  45.00 
PMIT50002820  MITEL NETWORKS 5240 IP APPLIANCE DARK  4.00 
PMIT50002922  MITEL NETWORKS 3300 10 PACK, CISCO  5.00 
PMIT50002971  MITEL NETWORKS 3300 CONTROLLER (700  1.00 
PMIT50002974  MITEL NETWORKS 3300 RELEASE 3.2 BASE  1.00 
PMIT50002976  MITEL NETWORKS MN 3300 POWER CORD PACK  1.00 
PMIT50002979  MITEL NETWORKS 3300 QUAD DSP  1.00 
PMIT50004800  6000 MAS RELEASE 6.1 SOFTWARE  1.00 
PMIT52000260  MITEL NETWORKS SX 2000 LIGHT T1 II (DS1)  2.00 
PMIT52000380  MITEL NETWORKS T1 II MSDN NETWORK  1.00 
PMIT53001220  MITEL NETWORKS 6010 TELEWORKER SOLUTION  1.00 
PMIT54000291  MITEL NETWORKS 3300 1 IP USER LICENSE  60.00 
PMIT54000294  MITEL NETWORKS 3300 1 IP DEVICE LICENSE  60.00 
PMIT54000303  MITEL NETWORKS 3300 NETWORK LINK LICENSE  1.00 
PMIT54000450  MITEL NETWORKS SX2000 LIGHT FEATURE  1.00 
PMIT54000510  MITEL NETWORKS SX2000 LIGHT FEATURE  1.00 
PMIT54000650  MITEL MN 3300 COMPRESSION LICENSE (8  1.00 
PMIT9125‐100‐270‐NA  MITEL NETWORKS SX 2000 LIGHT PRI  2.00 
PMIT9125‐533‐002‐NA  2ND DIGITAL LINK SOFTWARE OPTION  1.00 
PMIT9125‐533‐003‐NA  3RD DIGITAL LINK SOFTWARE OPTION  1.00 
PMIT9125‐533‐004‐NA  4TH DIGITAL LINK SOFTWARE OPTION  1.00 
PMIT9125‐533‐005‐NA  5TH DIGITAL LINK SOFTWARE OPTION  1.00 







 


 3


PMIT9125‐533‐006‐NA  6TH DIGITAL LINK SOFTWARE OPTION  1.00 
PMIT9125‐533‐007‐NA  7TH DIGITAL LINK SOFTWARE OPTION  1.00 
PMIT9125‐533‐008‐NA  8TH DIGITAL LINK SOFTWARE OPTION  1.00 
PMIT9132‐001‐200‐NA  MITEL NETWORKS SUPERSET 4001 DARK GREY  136.00 
PMIT9132‐025‐200‐NA  MITEL NETWORKS SUPERSET 4025 DARK GREY  16.00 
PMIT9141‐110‐300‐NA  MITEL NETWORKS DATASET 1103  1.00 
PMIT9148‐000‐039‐NA  MITEL OPS MANAGER SYSTEM MANAGEMENT  1.00 
PMIT9150‐500‐399‐NA  FLOPTICAL DISK  2.00 
PMIT9189‐000‐401‐NA  MITEL NETWORKS SX 2000 LIGHT  2.00 
PMIT9400‐200‐116‐NA  MITEL NETWORKS SX 2000 LIGHT PERIPHERAL  5.00 
PMIT9400‐200‐124‐NA  MITEL NETWORKS SX 2000 LIGHT DSU NODE  2.00 
PMIT9400‐200‐163‐NA  MITEL SX2000 LIGHT REDUNDANT CONTROL  1.00 
PMIT9401‐000‐024‐NA  MITEL NETWORKS MUSIC ON HOLD/PAGE UNIT  1.00 
PMITMC320FA  MITEL SX2000 LIGHT ONS LINE CARD  9.00 
PMITMC330AB  MITEL NETWORKS SX 2000 LIGHT DIGITAL  18.00 
PMITMC340BA  MITEL NETWORKS SX 2000 LIGHT LOOP  2.00 
PMITMFRD‐A‐18  MITEL NETWORKS SX 2000 LIGHT LARGE  1.00 
PMITMSA‐A‐08  MITEL NETWORKS SX 2000 LIGHT TRAFFIC  1.00 
PMITMSA‐A‐09  MITEL NETWORKS TRUNK BUSY STATUS  1.00 
PMITMSA‐A‐11  MITEL NETWORKS SX 2000 LIGHT ADVANCED  1.00 
PMITMSA‐A‐12  MITEL NETWORKS SX 2000 LIGHT MAIN  1.00 
PMITMSA‐A‐20  MITEL NETWORKS SX 2000 LIGHT ANSWER PLUS  1.00 
PMITMSA‐A‐34  MITEL NETWORKS SX 2000 LIGHT INTERNAL  1.00 
PMITMSA‐A‐45  MITEL NETWORKS SX 2000 LIGHT DSS/BLF  1.00 
PMITMSA‐A‐49  MITEL NETWORKS SX 2000 LIGHT EMERGENCY  1.00 
PMITMTCL‐A‐20  MITEL NETWORKS SX 2000 LIGHT 640  1.00 
PONE350‐032  ONEAC GROUND BAR  1.00 
PONE568308  6‐AP CENTRAL OFFICE LINE PROTECTOR  16.00 
PPOMMC320EA  MITEL SX2000 LIGHT ONS LINE CARD  1.00 
PPOMMC340BA  SX2000 LIGHT LS/GS TRUNK CARD  1.00 


 
 


Falcon Field Airport 
 


50004894  5224 IP Phone, Dual Mode  2.00 
 
 
 


Parks and Recreation 
 


PMIT50003791  MITEL NETWORKS 5220 IP PHONE, DUAL MODE,  6.00 
PMIT50004197  MITEL NETWORKS LINE INTERFACE MODULE  3.00 


 
 


Crosstown Water Plant 
 


PI4I2CHANNEL  I4 2‐CHANNEL IP NETWORKING LICENSE  1.00 
PI4I50000925  COMPRESSION RESOURCE LICENSE (ONE  2.00 
PI4I50003457  ISERIES EXECUTIVE DISPLAY IP TELEPHONE,  13.00 
PI4I50004261  I4 INCLUDES: 6 LS/CLASS TRUNKS, 2 ONS,  1.00 
PI4I50004262  I4 ANALOG OPTION CARD  1.00 
PI4I50004372  DUAL DSP  1.00 







 


 4


PI4I54000929  2ND ETHERNET PORT  1.00 
PMIS721024  89B BRACKETT  1.00 
PMIS771141  66M1‐50 BLOCK  1.00 
PONE350‐032  ONEAC GROUND BAR  1.00 
PONE6‐AP  ONLINE 6 SERIES ANALOG PROTECTOR FOR CO  9.00 


 
Animal Control 


 
PCAB10.4PR.CAT5.BLU  10 FOOT CATEGORY 5 BLUE PATCH CORD  3.00 
PCABATDB9F‐8  RJ45 TO DB9F ADAPTER  1.00 
PCABATDB9M‐8  RJ45 TO DB9M ADAPT  1.00 
PCABATRA8F  RJ45 TO DB25F ADAPTER  1.00 
PCABATRA8M  RJ45 TO DB25M ADAPTER  1.00 
PCOR466007  7' BASE (LINE) CORD, 4 CONDUCTOR  8.00 
PMISSCS200  LANTRONIX 2 PORT SECURE CONSOLE SERVER  1.00 
PMISSWLOCKBOX  LOCK BOX  1.00 
PMISUSR5686D  56K EXTERNAL MODEM  1.00 
PMIT50003791  MITEL NETWORKS 5220 IP PHONE, DUAL MODE,  4.00 
PMIT50004197  MITEL NETWORKS LINE INTERFACE MODULE  3.00 
PMIT52001151  MITEL NETWORKS IP PHONE LICENSE (USER &  4.00 
PMIT52001874  MITEL NETWORKS 3300 CX CONTROLLER  1.00 
PMIT54000297  MITEL NETWORKS 3300 SINGLE MAILBOX  8.00 
PMIT54000297  MITEL NETWORKS 3300 SINGLE MAILBOX  8.00 
PMIT54001490  3300 TENANTING OPTION  1.00 
PMITPDPH6012/AC48  MITEL NETWORKS 12 PORT POWER DSINE  1.00 
PONERM‐10  ONEAC 10 PORT SURFACE MOUNT BASE UNIT  1.00 
PONERM‐AP11  RM‐AP11 PROTECTOR  6.00 
PONERM‐AP11  RM‐AP11 PROTECTOR  3.00 


 
Water System/Public Works/B&G 


50005080  3300 Mxe Controller  1.00 
50005084  MXe AC Power Supply  1.00 
50005452  3300 2 Pack Hard Drive FRU  1.00 
50005086  MXe RAID Sub‐System   1.00 
50005087  MXe Processor  1.00 
54002537  3300 Gateway Software Package (200 devices)  1.00 
  INCLUDE(S): 


54000540 ‐ 3300 IP Networking License (Qty 1) 
NOTE(S): 
Supports a maximum of 200 devices 


 
50002976  Power Cord Pack (Qty 3); NA  1.00 
50003560  Embedded Digital Trunk Module  1.00 
50002979  ICP Quad DSP Card  1.00 
50001754  5485 IP Paging Unit  1.00 
51002525  3300 Phone Power Dongles (6 Pack)   
50003734  3300 Power Dongle Rev 2 (10 Pack)  3.00 
54000303  3300 Network Link License  1.00 
54000860  3300 Advanced Voicemail Option  1.00 







 


 5


54001130  3300 Voicemail Networking Option   
54001490  3300 Tenanting Option  1.00 
52001151  3300 IP Phone License  60.00 
54000297  3300 Mailbox License  75.00 
54000300  3300 ACD Agent License  1.00 
50002815  5201 IP Phone Dark Grey  1.00 
50004894  5224 IP Phone, Dual Mode  36.00 
50003791  5220  IP Phone, Dual Mode  22.00 
51008924  Management Access Point EM GBL   
51008926  Management Access Point EMSU GBL   


 
Administrative Complex / Library 


50005080  3300 Mxe Controller  1.00 
50005084  MXe AC Power Supply  1.00 
50005452  3300 2 Pack Hard Drive FRU  1.00 
50005086  MXe RAID Sub‐System   1.00 
50005087  MXe Processor  1.00 
54002764  3300 Integrated Software Package (500 devices)  1.00 
  INCLUDE(S): 


54000291  3300 User licence (Qty 8) 
54000294  3300 Device licence (Qty 8) 
54000297  3300 Voicemail licence (Qty 8) 
54000303  3300 Network link licence (Qty 1) 
NOTE(S): 
Supports a maximum of 500 devices   


50002976  Power Cord Pack (Qty 3); NA  1.00 
50003560  Embedded Digital Trunk Module  1.00 
50002979  ICP Quad DSP Card   
50001754  5485 IP Paging Unit   
54000540  3300 IP Networking License  1.00 
54000860  3300 Advanced Voicemail Option  1.00 
54001130  3300 Voicemail Networking Option   
54001490  3300 Tenanting Option  1.00 
52001151  3300 IP Phone License  242.00 
54000297  3300 Mailbox License  340.00 
50004894  5224 IP Phone, Dual Mode  230.00 
50005804  5330 IP Phone  1.00 
51008924  Management Access Point EM GBL   
51008926  Management Access Point EMSU GBL   


 
911 Center 


 
50004894  5224 IP Phone, Dual Mode  6.00 
50003791  5220 IP PHONE  2.00 
50002815  5201 IP Phone Dark Grey  1.00 


 
 


1. RATES:   Rate  for support services will be at a discounted rate of $3,333.00 per month, payable quarterly  in 
advance.  3300 Software Assurance for Fayette County Water, Fayette County Stonewall and 6010 Teleworker 
for Fayette County will be offered to you FREE of charge saving you $2400.00 per year.   Data Voice will also 







 


 6


issue a $500.00 credit on your account at time of renewal for any Remote Programming Fees incurred.  Labor 
rate of service calls not under support agreement will be charged at $95.00 per hour. Failure to pay invoices 
when  due may  result  in  suspension  of  support  services  and  termination  of  this  agreement.   DATA  VOICE 
reserves  the right  to suspend all service to  the CUSTOMER  if any  invoices  for goods or work performed are 
outstanding in excess of  30 days of invoice date. 


2. TERM:  This  agreement  will  commence  on  the  effective  date  and  will  expire  on  June  30,  2011  unless 
terminated by either party giving written notice of said termination thirty (30) days prior to termination.  The 
agreement may be renewed each year at CUSTOMER’S option for a renewal period of one (1) year subject to 
the availability of budgetary funds. 


3. EQUIPMENT:  Support services will be provided on the above listed equipment. 
4. ROUTINE SERVICE: Response will be rendered typically within 4 hours, but not to exceed 24 hours. (between 8 


AM to 5 PM  regular work days) 
5. EMERGENCY SERVICE:  Response will be rendered typically within 1 hour, but not to exceed 2 hours. (between 


8 AM to 5 PM  regular work days).  After hours, or on holidays and weekends, emergency service is available 
for an additional labor charge. 


6. PARTS:   All  defective  parts  caused  by  normal wear  and  use will  be  repaired  or  replaced  by DATA  VOICE, 
Incorporated. 


7. PREVENTIVE MAINTENANCE:   Preventive maintenance will be performed as set  forth  in  the manufacturer’s 
specifications. 


8. ITEMS NOT COVERED:  Expressly excluded from the service provided for under this Agreement are:  Repair or 
service  for damages  to or  failure of  the Equipment  resulting  from Carrier Services  failure or  lack of Carrier 
Service,  CUSTOMER’S  LAN  or  Host,  CUSTOMER  provided  parts  or  materials,  CUSTOMER  data  entry, 
CUSTOMER’S  failure  to  maintain  the  environmental  or  electrical  conditions  as  recommended  by  the 
manufacturer,  CUSTOMER  provided  software,  power  surges  or  dirty  power,  any  additional  Equipment 
provided  by  other  than  DATA  VOICE, misuse,  negligence  by  anyone  other  than  DATA  VOICE,  tampering, 
accident, abuse,  fire,  flood, wind, act of God or public enemy, wiring,  repair, or alteration by anyone other 
than DATA VOICE,  any programming by anyone other than DATA VOICE, or CUSTOMER without DATA VOICE’S 
prior written approval; damages caused by Equipment or lines of the host telephone Equipment, parts which 
have  been  damaged  or  consumed  by  pests  or  domestic  animals,  or  lost  or  stolen  and  any  other  repairs, 
replacement, or maintenance, except repairs, replacement or maintenance resulting from other than normal 
use of  the Equipment.   Repairs necessitated by  any of  the  above excluded  causes  shall be made by DATA 
VOICE  if  so  requested  by  CUSTOMER  and  CUSTOMER  agrees  to  pay  DATA  VOICE  for  such  repairs  at  the 
applicable  rate.    Replacement  batteries  (for  any  system  related  components  including  battery  backup), 
headsets, user guides, and telephone set designation labels are not covered. 


9. ADDITIONAL MOVE, ADD OR CHANGE SERVICES: DATA VOICE  shall  relocate,  rearrange, add  to, or  remove 
Equipment, or do programming changes only at the request of the CUSTOMER who agrees to pay appropriate 
charges in accordance with DATA VOICE’S then current rates for such services. 


10. ENVIRONMENT:    CUSTOMER  agrees  to  provide  the  proper  operating  environment  for  the  equipment  per 
DATA VOICE and the manufacturer’s recommendations.  CUSTOMER agrees and understands that lack of the 
proper environment may result in damage or failure of the electronic components of the equipment and that 
such damage or failure is NOT covered under this agreement. 


11. ELECTRICAL  REQUIREMENTS:  CUSTOMER  agrees  to  provide  the  necessary  electrical  outlet(s)  on  separate 
circuit(s) per DATA VOICE and the manufacturer’s recommendations.   The CUSTOMER also understands and 
agrees  that  such  electrical  power  shall  be  within  the  tolerances  recommended  by  DATA  VOICE  and  the 
manufacturer and that the failure to provide power within these tolerances may result  in damage, failure or 
malfunction of the equipment, which is NOT covered under this agreement. 


12. RIGHT TO ASSIGN OR SUBCONTRACT OR TRANSFER:  DATA VOICE shall have the right to assign or subcontract 
this  agreement  in  full or  in part  subject  to  the  approval of  the Customer, which will not be unreasonably 
withheld. Should the contract or proceeds therefrom be assigned by DATA VOICE, then the proceeds of the 
contract will be paid to DATA VOICE or its assignee without off‐set. 


13.  EQUIPMENT CHANGES:  The monthly charges for support will be based upon the equipment listed above. As 
the  type  or  quantity  of  this  equipment  increases  or  changes,  or  decreases,  the monthly  charges  will  be 







 


 7


changed accordingly. This change in monthly charges will occur on the renewal date of this agreement (July 1, 
2010) and will be according to a new schedule showing a listing of equipment in use by you as of that date. 


14. RATE  INCREASES:    Subject  to  Section  13  above, DATA VOICE  agrees  that  increases  in  the  support  charges 
under  this  contract will  not  exceed  the  percentage  increase  indicated  by  the  “Consumers  Price  Index”  or 
proportionate  increases  in DATA VOICE parts,  labor and overhead costs.   The “Consumer Price  Index”  is the 
U.S.  Average  as  published  in  the  “Monthly  Labor  Review”  of  the  Bureau  of  Labor.    Statistics  of  the  U.S. 
Department of Labor. 


15. ACCESS:  DATA VOICE shall have full access to all equipment to be serviced hereunder in order to carry out the 
provisions of this agreement 


16. NO OTHER AGREEMENTS:  The provisions contained herein constitute all of the terms and conditions of this 
agreement and supersede any and all prior statements and understanding, written or oral.  This contract is not 
binding upon DATA VOICE until accepted and approved by an officer of DATA VOICE and the initial payment is 
made.  


 
FAYETTE COUNTY ACCEPTANCE: 
 
This agreement is hereby executed on 
 
Date______________________________________________________ 
 
By_______________________________________________________ 
 
Print Name________________________________________________ 
 
Title______________________________________________________ 
 
 
DATA VOICE, INC ACCEPTANCE 
 
This agreement is not valid until executed by an Officer of DATA VOICE, INC. 
 
Date_____________________________________________________ 
 
Account Executive_________________________________________ 
 
DATA VOICE Authorized Signature______________________________ 
 
Title_____________________________________________________ 
 





		Finance- FY 2011 Telecommunic... Agreement Agenda Request File.pdf

		Finance- FY 2011 Telecommunications Annual Support Agreement






COUNTY DEPARTMENT AGENDA REQUEST 


Department: Presenter(s):


Background/History/Details:


Wording for the Agenda:


What action are you seeking from the Board of Commissioners?


If this item requires funding, please describe:


Has this issue come before the Commissioners in the past? If so, when?


Do you need audio-visual for the presentation?


 STAFF USE ONLY


Administrator's Approval


Back-up Material Submitted?


Approved by Finance


Approved by Purchasing


Reviewed  by Legal


Approved by County Clerk


Type of Request:


Staff Notes:


Meeting Date:


Planning and Zoning Pete Frisina


Consideration of Ordinance 2010-07, proposed amendments to the Fayette County Code, Chapter 12 Offenses and Miscellaneous 


Provisions, by adding Article VII Cemetery, Burial Ground, Human Remains, or Burial Object, in its entirety.


The Fayette County Code does not currently regulate Cemetery, Burial Ground, Human Remains, or Burial Object.  The proposed 


amendments will bring the Code into compliance with State Law and are also in conjunction with the proposed amendments to the 


Fayette County Subdivision Regulations.  On June 2, 2010, the Board of Commissioners instructed staff to advertise the proposed 


amendments for the June 24, 2010, Public Hearing.


Adopt Ordinance 2010-07, proposed amendments to the Fayette County Code, Chapter 12 Offenses and Miscellaneous Provisions, by 


adding Article VII Cemetery, Burial Ground, Human Remains, or Burial Object, in its entirety.


Not Applicable.


Yes Wednesday, June 2, 2010


No


Yes


Yes


Yes


Not Applicable


Yes


Yes


Public HearingThursday, June 24, 2010







05/06/10 - BOC Wkshop
06/02/10 - BOC Wkshop
06/24/10 - BOC Public Hearing


TO BE ADDED IN ITS ENTIREY
Fayette County Code


Chapter 12 Offenses and Miscellaneous Provisions
Article VII. Cemetery, Burial Ground, Human Remains, or Burial Object


No cemetery, burial ground, human remains, or burial object shall be knowingly
disturbed (OCGA 36-72). When property containing a cemetery or burial ground,
is developed, the following is required:


Evidence of ownership of the land on which the cemetery or burial ground is
located in the form of a legal opinion based upon a title search;


A report prepared by an archeologist stating the number of graves believed to
be present and their locations as can be determined from the use of minimally
invasive investigation techniques that do not require a State permit, including
remote sensing methods and the use of metal probes;


A survey prepared by a registered surveyor showing the location and
boundary in bearings and distances of the cemetery or burial ground based on
the aforementioned archeologist's report. The boundary of the cemetery or
burial ground shall be staked and offset a minimum of five (5) feet from the
location of any grave and the acreage of the cemetery or burial ground shall be
provided;


A plan prepared by a genealogist for identifying and notifying the descendants
of those buried or believed to be buried in such cemetery. The plan shall be
submitted to the Planning and Zoning Department for review and upon
approval thereof, the applicant shall implement the plan for notification. The
notification shall include a summary of rights under OCGA 36-72 and the
contact information for the Planning and Zoning Department;


If those buried or believed to be buried are of aboriginal or American Indian
descent, the genealogist, in preparing the notification plan, shall consult with
the Council of American Indian Concerns and shall include in the notification
plan not only any known descendants of those presumed buried but also any
American Indian tribes as defined in OCGA 44-12-260 that are culturally
affiliated; and a proposal for mitigation or avoidance of the effects of the
planned activity on the cemetery or burial ground. If the proposal includes
relocation of any human remains or burial objects, the proposal shall specify
the method of disinterment, the location and method of disposition of the


1







remains, the approximate cost of the process, and the approximate number of
graves affected.


Within 15 days after it is satisfied that all reasonable efforts have been made to
notify descendants, a Planning Commission Public Hearing shall scheduled. The
public hearing shall be advertised once a week for two (2) consecutive weeks
immediately preceding the week in which the public hearing. The applicant shall
reimburse the County for the cost of the advertisements prior to the public
hearing. Within 30 days after the conclusion of the public hearing, the County
shall notify the applicant, in writing, of its decision. Issues considered by the
Planning Commission shall include:


The presumption in favor of leaving the cemetery or burial ground
undisturbed;


The concerns and comments of any descendants of those buried in the burial
ground or cemetery and any other interested parties;


The economic or other costs of mitigation;


The adequacy of the applicant's plans for disintennent and proper disposition
of any remains or burial objects;


The balancing of the applicant's interest in disinterment with the public's and
any descendants interest in the value of the undisturbed cultural and natural
environment; and


Any other compelling factors which the governing authority deems relevant.


Should any applicant or descendant be dissatisfied with a decision of the Planning
Commission, they may within 30 days of such decision, file an appeal in the
Fayette County Superior Court. The applicant shall not resume or begin any
development activities until the expiration ofthe time for appeal.


During the development phase, orange protective fencing shall be installed around
the cemetery or burial ground along the boundary established by the surveyor. If
an unknown cemetery or burial ground is discovered during the development
process of property, work shall stop immediately and notice shall be given to the
Planning and Zoning Department.


The cemetery or burial ground shall be indicated on a Preliminary Plat, Final Plat,
andlor Site Plan, as applicable. A minimum 20 foot access shall be maintained to
the cemetery or burial ground either through fee simple ownership or an
easement. Any disintennent and disposition of human remains or burial objects
shall be supervised, monitored, or carried out by the applicant's archeologist.


2







Any person who knowingly fails to comply with the provisions of OCGA 36-72
shall be guilty of a misdemeanor of a high and aggravated nature and, upon
conviction, shall pay a fine of not more than $5,000.00 for each grave site
disturbed; provided, however, that any person who knowingly violates the
provisions of OCGA 36-72-4 shall be guilty of a misdemeanor of a high and
aggravated nature and, upon conviction, shall be incarcerated for not more than
six (6) months and shall pay a fine not less than $5,000.00 for each grave site
disturbed.


3





		Planning and Zoning- Cemetary Agenda Request File.pdf

		Planning and Zoning- Cemetery Backup-Compressed






    


MinutesMinutesMinutesMinutes
Budget Workshop


Board of Commissioners
May 24, 2009
8:30 A.M.


The Board of Commissioners of Fayette County, Georgia, met in Official Session on Monday, May 24, 2010, at 8:30 
a.m. in the Conference Room of the Fayette County Administrative Complex, 140 Stonewall Avenue, Fayetteville,
Georgia.


Commissioners Present: Jack Smith, Chairman
Herb Frady, Vice-Chairman
Lee Hearn
Robert Horgan
Eric Maxwell


Staff Present: Jack Krakeel, County Administrator
Mary Holland, Chief Financial Officer
Toni Jo Howard, Assistant Finance Director
Sergio Acevedo, Budget Officer
Floyd L. Jones, Deputy Clerk


______________________________________________________________________________________


Call to Order


Chairman Smith called the May 24, 2010 Board of Commissioners Budget Workshop meeting to order at 8:51 a.m.


Overview


Chief Financial Officer Mary Holland, Budget Officer Sergio Acevedo, and County Administrator Jack Krakeel gave an
overview of Fayette County’s Fiscal Year 2011 Budget to the Board before it heard requests from several department
heads. A copy of the Fayette County Budget Overview 2011 presentation, identified as “Attachment 1", follows these
minutes and is made an official part hereof.


Mr. Krakeel informed the Board that staff has worked diligently over the past months preparing a budget for Fiscal Year
2011 that is consistent with direction provided to staff during the Board retreat held in January, 2010.  He noted the
Board’s direction called for a balanced budget without a tax increase that continued operating the government at the
current level of services.  He said there is still concern with the overall economic outlook for Fiscal Year 2012, and so
the budget has been prepared with not only Fiscal Year 2011 in mind but also with Fiscal Years 2012 and 2013.


Fayette County Sheriff’s Office


Sheriff Wayne Hannah and designated staff discussed with the Board reasons why their department’s recommended
budget was inadequate.  Mr. Krakeel noted that the Sheriff’s original budget request was a 12.73% increase from
last year’s budget, and he reminded the Board that staff was directed to keep the operating budgets at or lower than







Board of Commissioners Minutes
Fiscal Year 2011 Budget Meeting
May 24, 2010
Page 2


last year’s budget.  He told the Board that the original request was reduced by 10% but it still leaves the Sheriff’s
request at a 2.73% increase from last year’s operating budget.  Chairman Smith asked the Sheriff to confer with his
staff and to meet with the County Administrator to find some reconciliation regarding the budget.  The Board also
discussed issues regarding employee uniforms and excessive compensatory time for Sheriff’s employees.


The Board consented to the creation of a new part-time position at the Sheriff’s office after they were informed that
the new position would not result in an increase to the Sheriff’s salary budget.


Fire and Emergency Services


Public Safety Director Allen McCullough began his presentation, but the Board decided that the presentation fell
outside of the parameters established for the budget meeting.  The presentation was postponed and no decision,
consent, or action was taken or given by the Board.


Town of Tyrone


Tyrone Town Manager Richard Newbern requested more funding for Tyrone’s Recreation Program.  The Board
informed Mr. Newbern that a while a final decision would be made concerning the budget in the coming weeks, the
reality facing the County was between funding services required by law versus areas like recreation.  The Board
made no decision regarding the Town’s request.


City of Peachtree City


Peachtree City Manager Bernard McMullen, Council Member Eric Imker, and other staff asked for a restoration of
the annual supplement provided by Fayette County to the Peachtree City Recreation Department.  Mr. McMullen
noted that a $30,000 reduction had been recommended for this budget after a $6,000 reduction last year.  Other
discussion followed.


Chairman Smith informed Mr. McMullen that Fayette County is facing similar constraints as is the city and that
everything that can be cut outside of public safety has been cut.  The Board made no decision on Peachtree City’s
request.


Public Works.


Public Works Director Phil Mallon and Road Department Director Andy Adams requested two additional temporary,
full-time equivalent positions to cut grass on County Right-of-Ways from July 1, 2010 through October 31, 2010 and
then from April 1, 2011 through June 30, 2011 at a total cost of $38,000.


The Board authorized Mr. Mallon to advertise for two temporary, full-time equivalent positions at a total cost of
$21,500 in order to complete the cutting season for calendar year 2010, and to make all preparation to hire the
personnel after the Fiscal Year 2011 budget is approved.


Clerk of Court


Clerk of Court Sheila Studdard spoke about the Drug Court’s budget and her concerns with how the funds were
being expended.







Board of Commissioners Minutes
Fiscal Year 2011 Budget Meeting
May 24, 2010
Page 3


The Board directed that a legal opinion be obtained from the County Attorney with respect to the expending of Drug
Abuse and Treatment (DATE) funds; particularly as they apply to both the Fayette County Board of Education and
the Fayette County Sheriff’s Department.  The Board further directed that Mr. Krakeel discuss the expenditure of
DATE funds with Ms. Karen Spangler of the Fayette County Board of Education and have her provide evidence of
compliance to the current code, to ensure that the budgeted funds are spent properly.  


Fayette Senior Services  


Fayette Senior Services thanked the Board for its recommended funding and for its long-term relationship with the
Board.  Although they did not ask for increased funding, they told the Board they were looking at various avenues to
gain revenue without as strong a dependence on the County.  They requested that the Board consider allowing them
to rent the Senior Services building at various times in an attempt to earn additional money.  The Board listened to
the request and discussed their concerns about it.  They recommended that Fayette Senior Services communicate
with County Administrator Jack Krakeel by providing greater information about the request and by addressing the
concerns that were expressed.


Capital Projects


Six Capital Projects were recommended; four from the Information Systems Department and two from the Road
Department.  The Board approved five of the six recommended Capital Projects but did not make a decision on the
Road Department’s request to obtain a km 8000 Truck Mounted HotBox.


The Board directed the County Administrator to discuss the need for the HotBox with Public Works Director Phil
Mallon and Road Department Director Andy Adams.


5-Year CIP Plan


The 5-Year CIP Plan was not discussed at the request and recommendation of the County Administrator.


Adjournment


No further business came before the Board.  Chairman Smith adjourned the May 24, 2010 Board of Commissioners
Budget Workshop meeting at 4:46 p.m.


___________________________________                                __________________________________________
        Floyd L. Jones,  Deputy Clerk          Jack R.  Smith, Chairman


The foregoing minutes were duly approved at an official meeting of the Board of Commissioners of Fayette County,
Georgia, held on the 24th day of June 2010.


___________________________________
      Floyd L. Jones, Deputy Clerk












COUNTY DEPARTMENT AGENDA REQUEST 


Department: Presenter(s):


Background/History/Details:


Wording for the Agenda:


What action are you seeking from the Board of Commissioners?


If this item requires funding, please describe:


Has this issue come before the Commissioners in the past? If so, when?


Do you need audio-visual for the presentation?


 STAFF USE ONLY


Administrator's Approval


Back-up Material Submitted?


Approved by Finance


Approved by Purchasing


Reviewed  by Legal


Approved by County Clerk


Type of Request:


Staff Notes:


Meeting Date:


Planning and Zoning Pete Frisina


Consideration of Ordinance 2010-06, proposed amendments to the Fayette County Code, regarding Chapter 8 Development 


Regulations, Article III Street Design Standards and Specifications.


The proposed amendments to the Development Regulations include section of the Subdivision Regulations regarding design 


specifications.  These amendments are in conjunction with amendments to the Subdivision Regulations.  Staff worked with a group of 


local developers, surveyors, and engineers to draft the proposed amendments.  On June 2, 2010, the Board of Commissioners instructed 


staff to advertise the proposed amendments for the June 24, 2010, Public Hearing.


Adoption of Ordinance 2010-06, proposed amendments to the Fayette County Code, Chapter 8 Development Regulations, Article III 


Street Design Standards and Specifications


Not Applicable.


Yes Wednesday, June 2, 2010


No


Yes


Yes


Yes


Not Applicable


Yes


Yes


Public HearingThursday, June 24, 2010







 1


06/25/09 – BOC instructed Staff to begin review 
07/09/09 – Bryan Keller, Vanessa Birrell, and Robyn Wilson 
07/13/09 – Bryan Keller, Vanessa Birrell, and Robyn Wilson 
07/15/09 – Bryan Keller, Vanessa Birrell, and Robyn Wilson 
07/27/09 - S/D Regs Committee 
10/26/09 – Bryan Keller 
11/04/09 – BOC Workshop 
11/04/09 – BOC comments from the Workshop 
02/03/10 – BOC Workshop 
03/30/10 – Vanessa Birrell 
04/05/10 – Bryan Keller 
04/15/10 – Phil Mallon 
04/16/10 – Phil Mallon, Pete Frisina, Vanessa Birrell, Bryan Keller, and Robyn 
                  Wilson 
05/06/10 – BOC Workshop (tabled until 06/03/10) 
06/03/10 – BOC Workshop 
06/24/10 -  BOC Public Hearing 
 
 


PROPOSED AMENDMENTS TO 
THE FAYETTE COUNTY DEVELOPMENT REGULATIONS 


 
 
§ 8-46 - 8-80 DEVELOPMENT REGULATIONS 


 
ARTICLE III.  STREET DESIGN STANDARDS AND SPECIFICATIONS* 


 
Sec. 8-46.  Design standards. 
 All roads and bridges constructed in unincorporated Fayette County shall be 


designed in accordance with latest editions of the American Association of State 
Highway and Transportation Officials (AASHTO) design guides and 
specifications except as provided in these regulations.(Ordinance No. 2001-10) 


 
Sec. 8-47.  Classification system. 
 Five (5) functional classifications are identified on the thoroughfare plan.  Any 


street not indicated on the thoroughfare plan will be classified by the Fayette 
County Engineer.  The five classification categories are as follows: 


 


(1)  Major Arterial.  A Georgia State Route which provides traffic movement 
through the region, as well as traffic movement within and through the 
County. 
 


(2)  Minor Arterial.  A street which provides traffic movement within and through 
the County. 


 


(3)  Collector.  A street which collects traffic from local and other collector streets 
and provides a connection to arterial streets. 


 







 2


(4)  County Local.  A street which provides access to adjoining properties and 
traffic circulation within a limited area. 


 


(5)  Internal Local.  A street which primarily serves an individual development 
and provides traffic circulation within that development. 


      (Ordinance No. 86-13, § 3-2, 7-24-86) 
 


 State constitution reference - County street and road construction and 
maintenance, Art. IX, § II, Para. III. 


 


 State law references - Acquisition of property by counties for public road 
construction and other transportation purposes, OCGA § 32-3-1 et seq.; 
classification, designation, etc., of public roads, OCGA § 32-4-1 et seq.; county 
powers as to public roads, OCGA § 32-4-40 et seq.; reimbursement of counties in 
regard to acquisition of rights-of-way, OCGA § 32-5-26; acquisition by county of 
unauthorized outdoor advertising, OCGA § 32-6-83; limited access roads, OCGA 
§ 32-6-110 et seq.; commercial driveways leading to or from state highways, 
OCGA § 32-6-130 et seq.; elimination of grade crossings, OCGA § 32-6-193 et 
seq.; reimbursement of counties for property, interests and right-of-way conveyed 
to Georgia Highway Authority, OCGA § 32-10-6; county roads, bridges and 
ferries, OCGA § 36-55-22.1; county police to inspect and report on condition of 
roads and bridges, OCGA § 36-8-6. (Ordinance No. 86-13, § 3-1, 7-24-86). 


 


 *Cross-reference - Streetlights, Ch. 6. 







 3


Sec. 8-48.  Minimum right-of-way widths and dedication requirements. 
 The thoroughfare plan illustrates the functional classification of streets and the 


general location of future arterial and collector streets in the county.  The right-of-
way dedication requirements expressed below shall correspond to the functional 
classifications illustrated on the thoroughfare plan.  Should a proposed 
subdivision adjoin an existing street, the developer shall dedicate additional right-
of-way to meet one-half the minimum right-of-way requirement for the applicable 
functional classification of the adjoining street. 


 


(1)  Minimum right-of-way and pavement widths. 
 


Functional Classification     Minimum R/W                         Minimum Pavement Width 
 


Major Arterial Per GA DOT  Per GA DOT 
 


Minor Arterial                      100’                            24’ 
 


Collector                               80’                             24’ 
 


(Ordinance NO. 2001-10) 
 


County Local                       60’                                              24’ 
 


Internal Local                60’   24’ 
 


(2)Median width.  Minimum median width for a divided street shall be at least 
twenty-four (24) feet.  (Ordinance No. 86-13, § 3 - 3, 7-24-86; Ordinance No. 94 - 04, § 5, 3-
24-94) (Amended June 9, 2005) 


 
Sec. 8-49.  Roadway sectional composition standards by use and functional 
classification. 
 The applicable standard shall be based on functional classification and the 


predominant zoning through which a street passes.  See latest edition of the 
Georgia Department of Transportation Standard Specifications for the 
Construction of Roads and Bridges for specifications of referenced asphaltic 
concrete types.  For all street classifications, before asphalt pavement is placed a 
Bituminous Prime shall be applied to the base material in accordance with DOT 
specifications.  Application rate shall be a minimum of 0.15 gallons per square 
yard. 
 


(1)  Residential/Local. 
a. 1 ½”  Asphaltic concrete Type “F” (top course). 


 2”    Asphaltic concrete Type “B” (binder). 
 6”   Crusher run or graded aggregate base for main line pavement. 
 10”    Crusher run or graded aggregate base for cul-de-sacs. 
 


      Subgrade stabilized with stone, unless material in place weighs at least 
95 lbs./cu. ft. (Ordinance No. 2001-10) 


 
Or 


 
 







 4


b. 1 ½” Asphaltic concrete Type “F” (top course). 
 2” Asphaltic concrete Type “B” (binder). 


      6”  Soil cement base for main line pavement  
 10”   Soil cement base for cul-de-sacs. 
 Soil cement shall be mixed in place - compacted to 98% maximum dry 


density per standard proctor test ASTM D698. 
  


 Subgrade stabilized with stone, unless material in place weighs at least 
95 lbs./cu. ft. (Ordinance No. 2001-10) 


 
Or 
 


c.  6”  Concrete pavement per specifications detailed in section 8 - 49.1. 
4”  Crusher run or graded aggregate base course compacted to 98% 
maximum dry density per standard proctor test ASTM D698. 
 


(2)  Office, institutional, commercial and all collectors. 
 


a. 1½” Asphaltic concrete Type “F” (top course). 
          2½” Asphaltic concrete Type “B” (binder). 


8”  Graded aggregate or crusher run base course for main line 
pavement. 


 10”  Graded aggregate or crusher run base course for cul-de-sacs. 
Base shall be compacted to 98% maximum dry density per standard 
proctor test ASTM D698. 
 


      Subgrade stabilized with stone, unless material in place weighs at least 
95-lbs./cu. ft. (Ordinance No. 2001-10) 


 
Or 
 


b. 1½” Asphaltic concrete Type “F” (top course) 
             2½” Asphaltic concrete Type “B” (binder). 


 8”  Soil cement base for main line pavement  
 10”  Soil cement base for cul-de-sac. 
 Soil cement shall be mixed in place - compacted to 98% maximum dry 


density per standard proctor test ASTM D698. 
 


Subgrade stabilized with stone, unless material in place weighs at least 
95-lbs./cu. ft. (Ordinance No. 2001-10) 


 
Or 


 
c.  7” Concrete pavement per specifications detailed in section 8-49.1. 


4”  Crusher run or graded aggregate base course compacted to 98%    
maximum dry density per standard proctor test ASTM D698. (Ordinance 
No. 2001-10) 
 


 
 







 5


(3)  Industrial and all arterials. 
 


a. 1½”  Asphaltic concrete Type “F” (top course). 
          2”  Asphaltic concrete Type “B” (binder). 


3”  Asphaltic base. 
8”  Graded aggregate or crusher run base course compacted to 98% 
maximum dry density per standard proctor test ASTM D698. 
Subgrade stabilized with stone, unless material in place weighs at least 
95 lbs./cu.ft. 
 


Or 
 


b. 1½”  Asphaltic concrete Type “F” (top course). 
         2”  Asphaltic concrete Type “B” (binder). 


3”  Asphaltic base. 
8”  Soil cement stabilized base course mixed in place compacted to 
98% maximum dry density per standard proctor test ASTM D698. 
Subgrade stabilized with stone, unless material in place weighs at least 
95-lbs./cu. ft. 


 
Or 
 


c.   8”  Concrete pavement per specifications detailed in section 8-49.1. 
4”   Crusher run or graded aggregate base course compacted to 98% 


maximum dry density per standard proctor test ASTM D698. 
(Ordinance No. 2001-10) 
     


(4)  Typical Road Cross Sections. 
For typical roadway cross sections with asphalt pavements see Figure 8-49 
(4). (Ordinance No. 2001-10; Ordinance No. 86-13, § 3 - 4, 7-24-86; Ordinance No. 90-07, 
7-12-90; Ordinance No. 94-04, § 1, 3-24-94; Ordinance No. 95-09, § 1 - 3, 6-21-95; 
Ordinance No. 2000-07)    


 
Sec. 8-49.1.  (Deleted  July 26, 2001)  (Ordinance No. 90-07, 7-12-90)  
 
Sec. 8-49.2.  Subgrade, base and pavement material and construction specifications. 


(a)  All tests and data described below shall be conducted or provided and paid 
for by the paving contractor or the developer.  Test results shall be 
submitted to the Engineering Department the County Engineer and 
Stormwater Management Department for review and/or approval prior 
to review of the Final Plat. (Ordinance No. 2001-10) 


 
(b) Subgrade:  Embankments shall be constructed in eight to twelve inch lifts.  


Individual lifts shall be compacted using sheep’s foot rollers, vibratory 
compactors, pneumatic tire rollers or other equipment capable of obtaining 
the required compaction.  The surface of the completed subgrade shall be 
bladed to a smooth and uniform texture.  The centerline profile shall 







 6


conform to the established elevations with an acceptable tolerance of +/- ½ 
inch.  The acceptable tolerance under a template conforming to the 
designed cross-section shall be +/- ¼ inch.  (Ordinance NO. 2001-10) 


 


Soil density tests shall be performed on roadway fills four (4) feet in 
height and greater.  The compaction tests will be performed to within 
twelve (12) inches of the final grade of the subgrade.  For the fills 
requiring compaction tests they shall be compacted to ninety-five (95) 
percent of maximum dry density per the standard proctor test (ASTM 
D698, AASHTO T99).  One set of compaction tests shall be performed on 
every other twelve (12) inch lift at one hundred-foot intervals along the 
roadway fill section.  An independent party selected by the developer’s 
engineer and approved by the Engineering Department shall perform the 
tests.  Where the subgrade compaction is determined to be less than the 
required degree, the developer shall remove, replace, and/or recompact the 
section in question, or use other means approved by the Engineering 
Department and Stormwater Management Department, until the density 
is determined to meet the required limit.  Copies of all test results shall be 
submitted to the Engineering Department and Stormwater Management 
Department. (Ordinance No. 2001-10) 


 


The compaction of the top twelve (12) inches of the subgrade shall be 
inspected by proof rolling.  The subgrade shall have sufficient stability to 
support any and all types of construction equipment used to construct the 
roadway without “pumping” (vertical and/or horizontal displacement of 
the subgrade).  The “proof-roll” compaction inspection of the subgrade 
shall be by a vehicle with a minimum gross vehicle weight of 24,000 
pounds, fully loaded with a minimum of 16 tons (32,000 pounds) of 
graded aggregate (54,000 pounds total weight minimum). The weight of 
the proof-roll inspection vehicle and the accompanying load shall be 
shown on a printed “load-out” ticket from a reputable quarry. 
Representatives of the Engineering Department and Road Department or 
Public Works shall approve all subgrades in the unincorporated areas of 
Fayette County. The contractor, at the contractor’s expense, shall correct 
any areas not passing the proof-roll inspection. (Ordinance No. 2001-10) 


 
 (c) Concrete Pavement: 


(1) Concrete pavement compressive strength shall be four 
thousand (4,000) psi at twenty-eight (28) days. Concrete 
test cylinders will be taken from each batch poured for 
every seven hundred fifty (750) feet of street-paving 
construction.  These shall be tested according to ASTM 
C31-69 and C39-72 to ascertain the twenty-eight day 
compressive strength. (Ordinance No. 2001-10) 


 
 
 
 







 7


(2) A concrete slump test (ASTM C143-74) will be conducted 
at the same time that the cylinders are made.  The concrete 
shall not be accepted which has a slump value greater then 2 
½ inches. (Ordinance No. 2001-10; Ordinance No. 90-07, 7-12-90; 
Ordinance No. 94-04 § 2, 3, 3-24-94; Ordinance No. 2000-7)  


   


(3)  Core samples shall be made at intervals of not less than five 
hundred (500) feet and not more than one thousand (1,000) 
feet of paving.  Core sample report must be approved by 
Engineering Department prior to final plat approval. 


 
 (d) Asphalt Pavement: 


(1) Placement of the base material and asphalt shall be 
inspected and approved by the Road Department as 
specified below.  The paving contractor/developer is 
responsible for requesting such inspections, and placement 
of base and /or asphalt shall not be done until such 
inspections have been scheduled. (Ordinance NO. 2001-10) 


  


(2) The compacted base course (graded aggregate or crusher 
run) shall have sufficient stability to support any and all 
types of construction equipment used to construct the 
roadway without “pumping” (vertical and/or horizontal 
displacement of the base due to any number of factors 
including too much water, not enough compactive effort, 
etc.), regardless of compaction. The “proof-roll” 
compaction inspection of the graded aggregate base shall 
be by a vehicle with a minimum gross vehicle weight of 
24,000 pounds, fully loaded with a minimum of 16 tons 
(32,000 pounds) of graded aggregate (54,000 pounds total 
weight minimum). The weight of the proof-roll inspection 
vehicle and the accompanying load shall be shown on a 
printed “load-out” ticket from a reputable quarry. A 
representative of the Road Department or Public Works 
shall inspect all graded aggregate bases in the 
unincorporated areas of Fayette County. The contractor, at 
the contractor’s expense, shall correct any areas not passing 
the proof-roll inspection. (Ordinance NO. 2001-10) 


 


(3) The graded aggregate base thickness, as required in the 
current Fayette County Development regulations, shall not 
be deficient in any area by more than ½ total inches. Any 
deficient area shall be corrected by adding additional 
quantities of the same materials and rebuilt to the desired 
thickness. The contractor, at contractor’s expense, and 
during the proof-roll compaction inspection process, shall 
do the measurement. Three holes shall be dug every 1500 







 8


feet or one hole per each 500 feet, to confirm the required 
thickness. At least one hole shall be dug for any areas less 
than the above footage.  A representative of Fayette County 
Public Works or the Road Department shall determine the 
hole(s) location and confirm the depth of graded aggregate 
base. (Ordinance NO. 2001-10) 


 


(4) Core samples shall be taken of the asphalt at intervals of 
not less than three hundred (300) feet and not more than 
five hundred (500) feet.  Samples shall be taken from the 
center of the travel lane and samples shall alternate 
between travel lanes.  The thickness of the asphalt shall not 
be less than 1/4” from the plan dimensions.  Core sample 
report must be approved by Engineering Department prior 
to final plat approval. (Ordinance NO. 2001-10) 


 


(e) Subdrains:  Lateral subdrains shall be constructed at a minimum interval 
of every 500 ft. for roadways with a continuous grade of 2% or less, and in 
all sag vertical curves and cul-de-sacs.  The top of the subdrain shall be at 
the interface of the subgrade and the subbase.  For all locations in the 
roadway, the subdrain shall extend from the centerline to the nearest drop 
inlet or ditch on each side of the road.  For cul-de-sacs, the subdrain shall 
be designed to accommodate the location of the drop inlet and expected 
groundwater flow.  The subdrain shall consist of a 6 inch perforated 
plastic pipe and be placed at the bottom of a two foot by two foot ditch 
backfilled with AASHTO No. 57 gradation material.  Detail drawing, 
Figure 8-49.2 (e), for the pavement subdrain is on file in the Engineering 
Department. (Ordinance No. 2001-10; Ordinance No. 90-07, 7-12-90; Ordinance No. 
94-04 § 2, 3, 3-24-94; Ordinance No. 2000-7)  


  


Sec. 8-50.  Design speed and grade. 
 Street Classification Maximum Maximum Design Minimum 
  Grade Speed Grade 
 


 Arterial 8% 55 MPH 1% 
  


 Collector 10% 45 MPH 1% 
  


 Local 
  County  10% 35 MPH 1% 
   
  Internal  (less than 5 acres) 15% 25 MPH 1% 
   (5 acres or more)         10% 25 MPH 1% 
 


 (Ordinance No. 86-13, § 3 - 5, 7-24-86; Ordinance No. 94-04, § 6, 3-24-94) 
 
Sec. 8-51.  Minimum cul-de-sac specifications. 
 The distance between the curb and gutter (or edge of pavement) and the right-of-


way within a cul-de-sac shall be at least as wide as such distance along a given 
roadway prior to entering a cul-de-sac. 







 9


(1)  Residential cul-de-sacs.  Sixty-foot right-of-way radius - minimum forty-
foot pavement radius.  Islands are prohibited in cul-de-sacs.  Existing 
islands will be removed at the county’s discretion, or where there is a 
significant problem with access by or operation of public safety vehicles 
and school buses. 


 


(2)  Commercial cul-de-sacs.  Sixty-foot right-of-way radius - minimum forty-
foot pavement radius. 


 


(3)  Industrial cul-de-sacs.  Industrial cul-de-sacs shall provide a sixty-foot 
radius without an island, and shall provide a minimum forty-foot 
pavement width or radius, as applicable.(Ordinance No. 86-13, § 3 - 6, 7-24-86; 
Ordinance No. of 7-28-88; Ordinance No. 94 - 04. § 4, 3-24-94) 


 


Sec. 8-52.  Residential access. 
 
Access.  Every residential lot shall meet the minimum requirements of Article V. Street 
Frontage for Access of the Fayette County Zoning Ordinance. 
 


(a) Residential driveway cuts. Each residential lot shall have at least one (1) and 
no more than two (2), driveway cuts.  Each driveway cut shall be subject to 
the following conditions: 


 
(1) The property has a minimum of one hundred (100) feet of immediate 


road frontage; and for lots Where lots have frontage on multiple 
roads fronting on roads with more than one classification, the 
driveway cut(s) shall be located on the street with the lowest 
functional classification, unless the County Engineer provides written 
authorization allowing otherwise.  Exceptions may be provided if 
doing so improves traffic safety or flow, minimizes environmental 
impacts, or is appropriate based on site-specific physical 
characteristics of the property. (Amended June 9, 2005) 


 


(2) The minimum requirements for sight distance contained in section 8-
55 have been met. (Ordinance No. 2001-01) 


 


(3) Exceptions.  (Ordinance No. 2001-01) 


a. No more than four (4) lots shall fully abut the turnaround 
portion of a cul-de-sac and each of those lots must have a 
minimum of fifty (50) feet of street frontage.  


1.a. Shared Driveways.  Upon determination by the 
Engineering Department that the sight distance 
requirements of Section 8-55 cannot be met for 
individual driveways, a maximum of two (2) lots may 
share a residential driveway.  Shared driveways must 
meet all of the following conditions: 







 10


2.b. The width of the shared driveway shall be a minimum of 
twenty (20) 20 feet and constructed of an all weather 
surface approved by the Engineering Department. 


3.c. A permanent cross-access easement agreement shall be 
recorded and the easement reflected on the plat of both 
properties. 


4.d. The street address of each lot shall be clearly marked at the 
road frontage/curb cut and at the fork in the shared 
driveway. 


5.e. Each lot must have a minimum of one hundred (100) feet of 
immediate road frontage. 


6.f. The shared driveway must comply with the minimum 
requirements for sight distance contained in Section    8-55. 


 


(b) Multiple frontage lot.  When a lot has multiple frontages, the driveway cut(s) 
shall be located on the street with the lowest functional classification in 
accordance with Section 8 - 47. 


 


(c) Circular driveways.  One circular driveway may be permitted, per lot, if the 
sight distance requirements in Section 8-55 can be met for both entrances.  
Circular driveways may also connect multiple frontages provided sight 
distance requirements can be met for both entrances and both streets have the 
same functional classification. Circular driveways shall count as one driveway 
cut with respect to Section 8-52(a). (Ordinance No. 2000-07, Ordinance No. 2002-01) 


 


Circular driveways shall not be allowed in conjunction with a non-circular 
driveway on lots with less than 100 feet or road frontage (i.e., those abutting a 
cul-de-sac turnaround). 
 


(d) No residential lot may have a mailing address on a street where a driveway cut 
does not exist. (Ordinance No. 2000-07, Ordinance No. 2002-01) (Ordinance No. 86 - 13 § 
3 - 7, 7-24-86; Ordinance No. 92 - 07, 4-9-92; Ordinance No. 92 - 10, 5-14-92; Ordinance No. 
93 - 03 § 1, 2, 3-11-93) 


 
 


Sec. 8-53.  New street and nonresidential access cuts. 
The language contained in this section refers to nonresidential curb cuts only.  
The language below applies equally to proposed new streets. 


 
(1)  Nonresidential driveways.  Nonresidential driveway cuts shall be 


permitted under the following conditions: 
 


a.  Required minimum distance between a nonresidential driveway 
and an existing street intersection or another nonresidential 
driveway. 


 
 







 11


Type of Street 
 


Distance from intersection 
 


   Local                                     Collector                               Arterial 
   100’                                          200’                                     250’ 
 


 Distances shall be measured along a right-of-way line from the point of 
intersection of the nearest right-of-way of an existing street to the nearest 
pavement edge of a proposed driveway.  If a proposed driveway is on the 
opposite side of the street from a nonresidential driveway or an existing 
street intersection, the centerline of the proposed driveway shall be aligned 
with the existing driveway or street or shall be offset the distances shown 
above. 


 


b.  Required minimum distance between a nonresidential driveway 
and a street or another nonresidential driveway (other than from 
existing intersections). 


 


Type of Street 
 


Distance from intersection 
 


Local                                     Collector                                Arterial 
   300’                                           400’                                      500’ 
 


(1) The minimum distance between nonresidential driveway cuts shall be 
measured along a right-of-way line from its point of intersection with the 
nearest right-of- way of any existing pavement edge to the nearest 
pavement edge of the proposed nonresidential driveway.  If a proposed 
driveway is on the opposite side of an existing street intersection or 
nonresidential driveway, the centerline of the proposed driveway or street 
shall be aligned with the existing driveway or street or shall be offset the 
distances shown above. 


 


(2)  Interparcel access.  Interparcel access shall be required in order to 
facilitate movement between and among parcels adjoining arterial or 
collector streets to improve overall safety.  When the natural grade along a 
common property line exceeds fifteen (15) percent throughout its length, 
such access shall be at the option of the property owners.  


 


(3)  Exceptions.  In case where it is determined that for technical or legal 
reasons these provisions for access cannot be met, the number and location 
of curb cuts shall be considered by DOT or by the Engineering 
Department and the zoning administrator, as appropriate.  (Ordinance No. 
2001-10) 


 
(4)  Multiple-frontage lots.  When a residential lot has multiple frontages, the 


driveway(s) shall be located on the street with the lowest functional 
classification in accordance with section 8 - 47.  (Ordinance No. 86-13, § 3-8, 
7-24-86; Ordinance of 7-23-87; Ordinance of  3-24-88) 







 12


 
Sec. 8-54.  Acceleration and deceleration lanes. 
 


Minimum Deceleration Lane Design 
 
 County Local & Collector   Arterial 
 


 120 feet long and 50 foot taper  200 feet long and 50 foot taper 
  


For any driveway or street located on a major thoroughfare, except driveways serving one 
(1) to five (5) single-family residences, a deceleration lane shall be provided.  The 
minimum length for deceleration lanes at all new street locations shall be as shown above 
except that either the Engineering Department or the state department of transportation’s 
district traffic and safety engineer, as applicable, may specify longer or shorter 
deceleration lanes based on grade, distance from an intersection, design speed, etc. 
 


The Engineering Department shall make recommendations to the district traffic engineer 
on the need for and design of acceleration lanes on state routes. 
 


The Engineering Department shall determine the need for and design specifications for 
acceleration lanes along county streets. (Ordinance No. 86 - 13, § 3 - 9, 7-24-86)  (Ordinance No. 
2001-10) 
 
Sec. 8-55.  Sight distance and alignment. 
 
Alignment and Continuation   Streets within the subdivision shall be arranged as to 
provide for the alignment and continuation of or projection of existing public streets.  
(NOTE:  MOVED FROM S/D REGS 6-5.2) 
 
All driveways shall be located and streets aligned so as to provide at least the horizontal 
and vertical sight distances as listed below.  All sight distance shall be determined by the 
methods found in the latest edition of A Policy on Geometric Design of Highways and 
Streets (AASHTO). 


 


(1)  Horizontal sight distance refers to the ability to detect objects in the 
roadway while negotiating a horizontal curve.  The distance is measured 
from a point at which the height of the driver’s eye is 3.50 feet above the 
roadway to a stationary object having a height of six (6) inches above the 
roadway. 


 


Arterial streets………………………………………..500 feet 
Collector streets………………………………………350 feet 
Local streets..…………………………………………200 feet 


 


(2)  Vertical sight distance refers to the ability to detect an object in the 
roadway while negotiating the crest of a hill.  The distance is measured the 
same as for horizontal curves. 


 


20 miles per hour design = 150 ft. sight distance 
25 miles per hour design = 175 ft. sight distance 
30 miles per hour design = 200 ft. sight distance 







 13


35 miles per hour design = 240 ft. sight distance 
40 miles per hour design = 275 ft. sight distance 


 


       *See section 8 -51 for cul-de-sac radius. 
 


      50 miles per hour design = 350 ft. sight distance 
 


 In approaches to intersections, there shall be a leveling of the street at a grade 
not exceeding four (4) percent for a distance of not less than fifty (50) feet 
from the nearest right-of-way of the intersecting street. 


 


(3)  Minimum horizontal, radii of centerline curvature. 
 


       Arterial streets - as specified by state DOT. 
       Otherwise ………………………………………………………..1,260 feet 
       Collector streets …………………………………………………   675 feet 
       Local streets ….……………………………………… 35 mph,     350 feet 
                                                                                            30 mph,     250 feet 
                                                                                                 25 mph,     170 feet 
       Dead end* and loop streets………………………………….    125 feet 
 


(4)  Tangents.  Between reverse curves there shall be not less than the 
following minimum tangents. 


 


 Arterial streets - as specified by state DOT. 
        Otherwise ………………………………………………………250 feet 
        Collector streets ………………………………………………   100 feet 
        Local streets where there is no super elevation…………………  50 feet 


      (Ordinance No. 86-13, § 3 - 10, 7-24-86; Ordinance No. 94 - 04, § 7, 3-24-94) 
  
Sec. 8-56.  Stormwater Drainage Plan  


(a) Purpose.  A Stormwater Management Plan (hereinafter referred to as “the 
plan”) shall be prepared for all development projects.  The purpose of such 
a plan shall be to provide for the effective and safe conveyance of excess 
stormwater off of the subject property in such a way and by such means 
that adjacent property owners are not adversely affected and, in the case of 
residential developments, the stormwater runoff within a subdivision does 
not create an unreasonable impact on any individual lot or property owner.  
The stormwater management system may include, but shall not be limited 
to, such elements as:  catch basins; culverts; ditches; drainage easements; 
natural creeks, streams or lakes; piping systems; stormwater detention 
facilities; and, filtration areas.  The following requirements are the 
minimum for any project.  The Engineering Department Stormwater 
Management Department shall require more stringent design criteria for a 
particular project or situation, if it is warranted based on sound 
engineering principles and practices. (Ordinance No. 2000-07; Ordinance No. 
2001-10) 


 


(b)  Design Responsibility.  The plan and its component facilities shall be 
designed and certified by a professional engineer registered to do business 
in the State of Georgia.  The sufficiency, accuracy and completeness of the 







 14


design, including calculations, drawings and all documentation is, and 
shall remain, the responsibility of the person certifying the plans.  The 
plan shall be checked by the designer for accuracy and completeness prior 
to submittal for review. (Ordinance No. 2000-07) 


 
 


(c) County Review and Approval.  The Engineering Stormwater Management 
Department shall review the plan and all submitted calculations and 
documentation.  The submittals will be checked for completeness and 
compliance with this section of the development regulations as well as the 
requirements of any other applicable ordinance. (Ordinance No. 2000-07; 
Ordinance No. 2001-10) 


 


The Engineering Stormwater Management Department shall require 
documentation and calculations beyond the original submittal if, in their 
opinion, the plan does not satisfy the purpose as stated in the subsection 
(a). The approval of the plan does not preclude the necessity for field 
changes once construction has begun.  Any such amendments to the 
approved plan shall be submitted to the Engineering Stormwater 
Management Department on revised drawings and shall be supported by 
such documentation as is appropriate. (Ordinance No. 2001-10) 
 
Additional information on stormwater management requirements are 
provided in Article XIII of the Fayette County Development Regulations, 
Post-Development Stormwater Management for New Development and 
Redevelopment.   


 


(d) Design Standards for Street Drainage 


1. Curb and gutter requirements.  All new streets constructed within the 
county except those constructed to serve subdivisions in which all lots 
are five (5) acres or larger, shall have curbs and gutters.  Rolled back 
curbs are not acceptable, only straight back are allowed. Curb shall be 
six (6) inches high and gutter shall be twenty-four (24) inches face of 
gutter to back of curb. (Ordinance No. 2000-07) 


2. Curb Inlets.  Curb inlets shall conform to the state department of 
transportation (GDOT) specifications.  Spacing of inlets shall not 
exceed five hundred (500) feet on a continuous grade and shall be 
sized to intercept a minimum of eighty-five (85) percent of the flow in 
the gutter section.  Inlets shall be located to prevent stormwater from 
crossing an intersection.  Inlets located in a sag shall be sized to 
prevent gutter spread from covering more than half of the road’s travel 
surface during the 25-year storm event.  If grates are proposed for inlet 
devices, the bars must be perpendicular to the road and shall pose no 
hazard to bicycle traffic.  In any case, throat height shall not exceed 
eight (8) inches. (Ordinance No. 2000-07) 


3. Pipe Material.  Only reinforced concrete may be used for storm drain 
structures under the roadway and in applications to create buildable 







 15


lots.  The pipe must be designed and installed to meet the requirements 
in the latest edition of the Concrete Pipe Design Manual.  A third-party 
pipe installation inspection report will be required for all pipes being 
placed in the ground.  See Section 8-454(F) of the Development 
Regulations for additional information.     


The Engineering Stormwater Management Department shall be 
notified before the pipe installation begins. (Ordinance No. 2001-10) 


All other pipe materials may be used in applications approved by the 
Georgia Department of Transportation.  (Ordinance No. 97-04, 3-27-97; 
Ordinance No. 2000-07) 


4. Piping Systems – Cross drains, laterals and outfalls which are part of a 
street drainage system shall be sized for subcritical gravity flow.  In 
the case of complex piping systems, the design engineer must provide 
calculations to show that no pipe is flowing under pressurized 
conditions and that the hydraulic grade line is below finished grade at 
all points for the 25-year storm event. Calculations determining the 
headwater elevation (inlet or outlet controlled) for the 100-year storm 
shall be provided by the design engineer.  The backwater area 
inundated by the 100-year storm shall be shown and designated on the 
final plat as a 100-year flood plain.  It shall be based on as-built road 
conditions and shall be subject to the same conditions and limitations 
as any other flood plain. (Ordinance No. 2000-07) 


5. Storm Drain – Storm drains shall not exceed five hundred (500) feet of 
continuous length between an inlet, manhole or junction box access. 


6. Headwall Locations – In residential subdivisions outfall piping from 
catch basins shall, at a minimum, extend from the street to a point 
thirty (30) feet behind the front building setback line or to the 100-year 
floodplain, whichever is less. 


7. As-Builts – As-built drawings of piping systems shall be submitted to 
the Engineering Department Division of Utility Services upon 
completion of construction and prior to final plat approval. 
Certification from a registered professional engineer, stating that the 
piping systems will function as designed, must also be submitted prior 
to final plat approval. (Ordinance No. 2000-07; Ordinance No. 2001-10) 


8. Bridges – All new bridges shall be constructed of concrete unless 
otherwise approved by the Engineering Department.  They shall have a 
deck width equal to the approach roadway and be designed for a HS 
20-44 design load.  For bridges crossing streams with a regulatory 
floodway, the bridge shall span the floodway and have three feet of 
freeboard.  For streams without a regulatory floodway, the bridge shall 
be designed to convey a 100-year storm with three feet of freeboard 
and create no more than a foot of backwater. (Ordinance No. 2001-10) 







 16


9. Headwalls and Tailwalls.  All culverts and storm drain system outfalls 
shall have headwalls or tailwalls.  Flared end, vertical wall or vertical 
wall with wing walls types are acceptable. 


10.Outlet velocity.  All outlets must be designed with energy dissipaters if 
outlet velocities are greater than 4.0 feet per second during the 25-year 
design storm. (Ordinance No. 2000-07) 


11. Ditches.  Drainage ditches shall have a minimum bottom width of two 
(2) feet and shall have 3:1 side slopes.  Ditches must be designed to 
handle the 100-year flow rate and lined with an appropriate erosion 
control matting capable of withstanding the 25-year flow velocity.   
(Ordinance No. 2000-07) 


 
(e) Stormwater Runoff Control – In addition to the standards set forth in 


Article XIII, the following criteria shall apply to the control of stormwater 
runoff.   
1. In designing the outlet control structure, the design engineer shall 


consider the effects of submergence on the structure’s ability to control 
discharge.  If weirs, orifices, etc. will become submerged by 
downstream conditions then adjustments must be made by the designer 
in designing the outlet structure.   


2. Detention basins shall be located far enough from any property line to 
allow dispersal of the discharge, unless the basin discharges directly 
into a receiving stream.  In either case, erosion control considerations 
shall be addressed in the erosion and sedimentation control plan.   


3. An emergency spillway shall be provided to by-pass flows for the 100-
year storm in the event that the principal outlet structure gets blocked. 
(Ordinance No. 2000-07)  


4. Any stormwater detention basin which poses a threat to public safety 
or constitutes an “attractive nuisance” shall be fenced to prevent access 
to the basin.  A gate shall be provided for maintenance access.  The 
gate shall be large enough to accommodate trucks or excavation 
equipment.  (Ordinance No. 97-04, 3-27-97) 


5. No stormwater detention basin shall be constructed on a perennial 
stream or creek.  Perennial streams are defined as those indicated as 
heavy solid blue lines on the U.S.G.S. Quadrangle sheets or any 
stream with a watershed of twenty (20) acres or more. Buffers and 
setbacks required by the Watershed Protection Ordinance must also be 
satisfied.  This shall apply unless detention is to be provided by a lake 
or pond. (Ordinance No. 97-04, 3-27-97; Ordinance No. 2000-07) 


6. If detention is to be provided by a lake or pond, adequate storage must 
be provided, or be available in the case of existing lakes or ponds, to 
manage the runoff from the one-hundred year storm.  In addition to 
these requirements, ponds or lakes must meet the requirements of the 







 17


Flood Plain Regulations, and Dams and Impoundment Design and 
Specifications.   (Ordinance No. 97-04, 3-27-97; Ordinance No. 2000-07) 


7. Detention ponds shall be surveyed upon completion of construction to 
insure that the design stage/storage rating curve can be maintained.  
This data shall be certified by a registered professional engineer and 
submitted to the Engineering Stormwater Management Department 
prior to final plat approval. (Ordinance No. 2000-07; Ordinance NO. 2001-10) 


8. A means of access from the nearest internal street in the subdivision to 
any detention pond shall be cleared and reserved by means of an 
easement which shall be accurately shown and identified on the final 
plat.(Ordinance No. 97-04, 3-27-97) 


9. For the purposes of this ordinance, “pre-developed conditions” shall 
mean prior to any man made improvements. (Ordinance No. 2000-07) 


 


Sec. 8-57.  Street resurfacing. 
(a)  All work shall be in conformance with the Georgia Department of 


Transportation Standard Specifications for Construction of Roads and 
Bridges, latest edition. (Ordinance No. 2001-10) 


 


(b)  All weak areas shall be removed and repaired with proper full depth 
patches.  All debris (soil, GAB, and asphalt) shall be removed and 
disposed of properly. (Ordinance No. 2001-10) 


 


(c) The surface to be overlaid shall be thoroughly cleaned and all debris 
removed. 


 


(d) A tack coat of asphalt (AC-10 or AC-20) shall be applied to the entire 
surface to be overlaid. 


 


(e)  The overlay thickness shall be 1 ½ inches of Type F or 9.5 mm SuperPave 
asphalt concrete.  For lifts of 1 ½ inches or greater, Type E or 12.5 mm 
SuperPave asphalt concrete shall be used.  The maximum lift thickness 
shall be 2 inches. (Ordinance No. 2001-10) 


 


(f)  Prior to placing the overlay, a leveling course of Type G sand-asphalt shall 
be used where necessary or as determined by the Engineering or Road 
Department. (Ordinance No. 2001-10) 


 


(g)  The county will evaluate the existing pavement conditions and determine 
the overlay thickness using the methods in the Asphalt Institute’s manual, 
Asphalt Overlays for Highway and Street Rehabilitation.  For all streets 
other than residential, actual traffic counts will be obtained and coring, or 
other acceptable methods of obtaining the actual existing pavement 
thickness, will be utilized.  In no case shall an overlay thickness be less 
than one (1) inch. (Ordinance No. 86-13, § 3 -13, 7-24-86) 


 
 
 
 
 
 







 18


Sec. 8-58.  Street cuts. 
 
Street cuts shall be constructed in accordance with standards available from the 
Engineering Department. (Ordinance No. 86-13, § 3-13, 7-24-86; Ordinance No. 2001-10) 
 
Sec. 8-59.  Street names. 
 Street names shall not be similar, duplicate, nor sound similar to the names of 


existing streets in the county.  Hyphenating, dividing one (1) word into two (2) 
words, affixing “Drive” for “Road”, etc., or other manipulations of an existing 
street name shall not constitute an acceptable street name.  Similar sounding 
names shall be unacceptable regardless of spelling. 


 


(1)  Continuity of street names.  A continuous street, one (1) proposed to be 
continuous, or one (1) proposed to continue an existing street shall bear 
the same name throughout. 


 


(2)  Subdivision street numbering.  The county’s established residential street 
numbering system shall be utilized for every residential, commercial or 
industrial subdivision in the county. 


 


(3)  Property numbers.  Every building shall be assigned and display a 
property number.  Property numbers shall be so located and of such a size 
as to be visible from the street.  If a mailbox is located at the street, such 
mailbox shall have the property number affixed thereto with numerals 
measuring at least three (3) inches in height. 


 


(4)  Unlawful to deface, remove.  It shall be unlawful for any person to alter, 
deface or take down any property number placed in accordance with this 
provision except for repair or replacement of such number. 


      (Ordinance No. 86-13, § 3-14, 7-24-86) 
 
Sec. 8-60.  Street and traffic signs. 


Developers shall be responsible for placing street signs and traffic signs in 
accordance with these regulations.  All required signs shall be in place prior to 
the occupancy of any structure. 


 


(1) Street signs.  Major street name signs shall be installed above the intersecting 
local street name sign.  A street name sign shall be installed for every street at 
an intersection.  Standard street name signs shall have at least four-inch high 
letters for major thoroughfares and at least three-inch high letters for local 
streets.  These letters shall be mounted on an anodized aluminum blank not 
less than 0.08 inch thick covered with a reflective background.  The sign shall 
be coated with a clear acrylic coating.  Nameplates shall be mounted parallel 
or nearly parallel to the street.  Street names shall be visible on both sides.  
Street signs shall be installed at all street intersections according to the 
following standards:  Sign posts shall be at least seven (7) feet but not more 
than nine (9) feet above the street elevation.  At least two (2) feet shall be well 
embedded in the ground.  Sign poles shall be not less than two (2) feet from 







 19


the curb or edge of pavement nor more than ten (10) feet from the curb or 
edge of pavement. 


 


(2) Traffic signs.  Traffic control devices to include signs, signals, street 
markings, etc., shall be installed by the developer.  The type and location of 
traffic control devices shall be determined by the Engineering Department 
based upon the latest edition of the Manual on Uniform Traffic Control 
Devices.  Stop signs shall be installed at every intersection. (Ordinance No. 2001-
10) 


 


(3) Wooden traffic control signs. 
a.  Scope.  This specification covers the fabrication and installation of 


wooden street name and traffic control signs for use in subdivisions.  
(Ordinance No. 2001-10) 


 


b.  Reference publications.  All signs shapes, dimensions, colors and 
mounting criteria will conform with the latest edition of the Manual on 
Uniform Traffic Control Devices (MUTCD) in effect at the time of the 
installation of the signs. 


 


c.  Materials. 
 


1.  Signs shall be fabricated from clear heart redwood, clear cedar 
or a waterproof medium density fiberboard that meets the 
requirement of ASTM D1037-99.  Finished thickness of the 
material shall be one (1) inch. (Ordinance No. 2001-10) 


 


2.  Post shall be fabricated from four-inch by four-inch pressure 
treated lumber or clear heart redwood or clear cedar. 


 


3.  Fasteners shall be aluminum, brass or galvanized steel. 
 


4.  Other material may be used if specifications are submitted to 
and approved by the Engineering Department. (Ordinance No. 
2001-10) 


 


d.  Finishing. 
1.  All Wooden signs shall be painted.  No stained signs will be 


accepted.  Signs shall receive a primer coat of latex paint.  The 
background shall receive two (2) coats of latex paint, and 
raised areas or letters shall receive two (2) additional coats of 
latex paint. 


 


2.  Sign posts shall also be painted with a primer coat of latex 
paint and two (2) finish coats of latex paint. 


 
e.  Installation.  All traffic control, street name, speed limit and other 


signs shall be installed in accordance with the requirements of the 
MUTCD (clearance, height above pavement, etc.).  Sign installation 
will be inspected by the public works or engineering departments prior 
to the public thoroughfare being accepted by the county. 
(Ordinance No. 86-13, § 3 - 15, 7-24-86; Ordinance No. 93 - 04 § 2, 3, 3-11-93) 







 20


 
Sec. 8-61. Grassing of shoulders. 
The developer shall be responsible for providing adequate and effective ground cover on 
the shoulders of the roads as early in the construction process as possible.  The 
requirements for the erosion and sediment control plan (see county erosion and sediment 
control ordinance) include information on vegetation types and planting dates.  
Temporary ground cover is permissible within the limits of the erosion and sediment 
control plan; however, in no case will rye grass be considered, nor accepted, as 
permanent ground cover. (Ordinance. No. 90-07, 7-12-90) 
 


Sec. 8-62.  Utility locations.   
In order to promote uniformity in installation and more effective and less damaging 
maintenance, a uniform system for locating utilities is hereby established.  The locations 
are noted on Drawing 8-63-1 which is on file at the end of the ordinance in Appendix A. 
in the Engineering Department of Fayette County.  Applicable utilities and their locations 
shall be noted on subdivision construction plans. (Ordinance No. 96-08 5-9-96) 
 


Sec. 8-63.  Sidewalks. 
(a) Sidewalks installed in subdivisions may be installed on the County county 


right-of-way in accordance with the location and dimensions given below.  
The County county, through these requirements, does not intend to accept 
these sidewalks as County county property.  The County county shall 
shoulder no responsibility for the maintenance and repair of sidewalks.  
Maintenance and/or repair of sidewalks are the responsibility of adjacent 
property owners or the applicable homeowner’s association. 


 
(b) Sidewalks shall be no more than three (3) feet wide; and shall be located two 


(2) feet behind the back face of the curb in order to not interfere with utility 
locations.  See Drawing 8-63-1 which is on file in the Engineering 
Department of Fayette County at the end of the ordinance in Appendix A.  


 


(c) Sidewalks shall be constructed only on individual lots that have been 
permitted for construction. (Ordinance No. 96-08, 5-9-96) 


 


Sec. 8-64.  Reserved. 
 


Sec. 8-65.  Landscape islands/traffic dividers.  
In order to promote uniformity in the configuration and construction of 
landscape islands/traffic dividers (“islands/dividers”) within the right-of-way 
at entrances to residential subdivisions, a uniform standard is hereby 
established. 


(1)  Where an island/divider is planned, the right-of-way shall be eighty (80) 
feet in width at the connecting public road.  The right-of-way shall remain 
eighty (80) feet in width for a distance of 150 feet at which point the right-
of-way will taper to the normal sixty-(60) feet. 


 


(2)  The island/divider shall be delineated with curb and gutter regardless of 
whether curb and gutter is required in the remainder of the development. 


 







 21


(3)  The island/divider shall not be more than 100 feet long and shall not be 
more than sixteen (16) feet in width from the back of curb to back of curb 
with a sixteen (16) foot travel lane on each side of the island/divider. 


  


(4) No signs or structures shall be allowed in the island/divider.  No trees or 
plants shall be placed in the island/divider that will block a persons view 
of oncoming traffic.  Any object encroaching into the right of way or 
obstructing to the view of oncoming traffic shall be removed. (See 
Example below for clarification).  (Ordinance No. 97-10, 9/3/97; Ordinance No. 
2000-07) 







 22


 


Example: 
Paragraph (4) above means that any object placed in an island/divider that will block 
someone’s view of cars traveling North and South bound shall be removed.  
 
 


 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 


 
Sec. 8-66 – 8-80.  Reserved. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 







 23


Figures/Drawings 
Figure 8-49(4) 
 
 


 







 24


Drawing Number 8-63-1 
 





		Planning and Zoning- Developm...tions Agenda Request File.pdf

		Planning and Zoning- Development Regulations Backup-Compressed






COUNTY DEPARTMENT AGENDA REQUEST 


Department: Presenter(s):


Background/History/Details:


Wording for the Agenda:


What action are you seeking from the Board of Commissioners?


If this item requires funding, please describe:


Has this issue come before the Commissioners in the past? If so, when?


Do you need audio-visual for the presentation?


 STAFF USE ONLY


Administrator's Approval


Back-up Material Submitted?


Approved by Finance


Approved by Purchasing


Reviewed  by Legal


Approved by County Clerk


Type of Request:


Staff Notes:


Meeting Date:


Planning and Zoning Pete Frisina


Consideration of Resolution 2010-11, proposed amendments to the Planning and Zoning Department Fee Schedule.           


The Planning and Zoning Department Fee Schedule is proposed to be amended to address a fee for a Minor Subdivision Plat.  The fee is 


proposed to be the same as the fee charged for a Final Plat.  Staff is also proposing to delete the Preliminary Plat Resubmittal Fee and 


the Warranty Deed recording fee.  These amendments are in conjunction with proposed amendments to the Subdivision Regulations.  On 


June 2, 2010, the Board of Commissioners instructed staff to advertise the proposed amendments for the June 24, 2010, Public Hearing.


Adoption of Resolution 2010-11, proposed amendments to the Planning and Zoning Department Fee Schedule.


Not Applicable


Yes Wednesday, June 2, 2010


No


Yes


Yes


Not Applicable


Not Applicable


Yes


Yes


Public HearingThursday, June 24, 2010







05/06/10 - BOC Wkshop
06/02/10 - BOC Wkshop
06/24/10 - BOC Public Hcaring


FAYETTE COUNTY
PLANNING & ZONING DEPARTMENT


SCHEDULE OF FEES


REZONING REQUEST (Before the Planning Commission and Board of Commissioners)


NUMBER OF ACRES FEE
0-5 acres $250.00*
6-20 acres $350.00*
21-100 acres $450.00*
101+ acres $550.00*


* An additional $20.00 deposit is required (per public hearing sign posted on property). Staffis required to post one (I) public
hearing sign per each road frontage of the property to be rezoned. If the sign frame(s) is returned to the Planning & Zoning
Department within five (5) working days of the last applicable public hearing. the sign deposit can be reimbursed


VARIANCE, CHANGE OF USE, EXTENSION OR ENLARGEMENT OF NONCONFORMING USES,
AND CONTINUANCE OF NONCONFORMANCE REQUEST (Before the Zoning Board of Appeals)


$175.00* plus $25 for each additional variance requested (Amended 6/21100)


* An additional $20.00 deposit is required (per public hearing sign posted on property). Staffis required to post one (1) public
hearing sign per each road frontage of the property. lfthe sign frame(s) is returned to the Planning & Zoning Department within
five (5) working days of the last applicable public hearing, the sign deposit can be reimbursed.


ADMINISTRATIVE VARIANCE $50.00
(Amended 6/21100)


PRELIMINARY PLATS There shall be no review and compliance fee for preliminary plats unless a preliminary
plat is resubmitted without noted deficiencies having been corrected, in ...."hich case a fee of$1 00.00 shall be imposed
for the additiOl'lal review required.


FINAL PLATS or MINOR SUBDIVISION PLAT. A fee of$100.00 per lot shall be imposed for all residential
and nonresidential lots except that the fee for the first three (3) lots of a residential subdivision shall be $35.00 per
lot. Any applicant whose final plat is returned for resubmission due to deficiencies and such deficiencies are not
corrected when resubmitted, shall incur an additional fee of $5.00 per lot for the additional review required. Afl
original 'Nammt)' Deed for the rights of ways must be submitted alol'lg with a eheel( made payable to the "Clerl( of
Superior Court". The charge is calculated as follows: $HU)(-) fer the first page plus n.oo fer eaeh additioRal
page;







FINAL PLAT or MINOR SUBDIVISION PLAT REVISION. All revisions to final plats shall have imposed
thereon the following fees:
No lots added: $25.00 plus advertising cost, ifany
Lots added: $100.00 per lot


CONDITIONAL USE PERMITS $30.00


SITE PLAN REVIEW (NONRESIDENTIAL) AND COMPLIANCE FEES


Less than one (1) acre $150.00
One (1) to five (5) acres $200.00
Five (5) to ten (10) acres $250.00
More than ten (10) acres $300.00*
* plus $50.00 for every five (5) acres or fraction thereof in excess often (10) acres.


If the site plan is resubmitted without previously noted deficiencies having been corrected, the applicable fee from the
above schedule shall be DOUBLED.


LAND DISTURBANCE PERMIT Determined and collected by the Engineering Storm water Management
Department. (Amended 01/16/07)


SIGN PERMIT FEE


Banners and Signage During Construction $10.00
Permanent signs smaller than 60 square feeL $30.00
Permanent signs larger than 60 square feet $30.00*
* Plus $3.00 for each square foot in excess of 60 square feet.
(Amended 01/16/07)


Note: Placing or erecting a sign without a permit shall result in a DOUBLE fee.


TEMPORARY STRUCTURE PERMITS


Office Trailer, Storage Trailer or Guardhouse $25.00
Office Trailer, Storage Trailer of Guardhouse - Renewal $25.00
Mobile Classroom $50.00
Mobile Classroom - Renewal $50.00


OTHER FEES (Adopted 6/21 /00):


SITE RE-INSPECTION FEE $25.00


XEROX COPIES
Copies in excess of 10 pages 25 cents each
11 " X 17" or larger $ 2.00 each


Note: No fees associated with a Courtesy Site Plan or Courtesy Plat review, Zoning ContInuation Letter, Pre-Application
Conference with Conceptual Plan Review, Master Plan Review or Preliminary Plat. (Amended 01116/07)





		Planning and Zoning- Fee Schedule Agenda Request File.pdf

		Planning and Zoning- Fee Schedule Backup-Compressed






Minutes
Board of Commissioners


May 27, 2010
 7:00 P.M.


Notice: A complete audio recording of this meeting can be heard by accessing Fayette
County’s Website at  www.fayettecountyga.gov.  Click on “Board of Commissioners”, then
“County Commission Meetings”, and follow the instructions.  The entire meeting or a single
topic can be heard.


                       
The Board of Commissioners of Fayette County, Georgia, met in Official Session on Thursday, May 27, 2010, at 7:00
p.m. in the Public Meeting Room of the Fayette County Administrative Complex, 140 Stonewall Avenue, Fayetteville,
Georgia.


Commissioners Present: Jack Smith, Chairman
Herb Frady, Vice Chairman
Lee Hearn
Robert Horgan
Eric Maxwell


Staff Present: Jack Krakeel, County Administrator
Scott Bennett, County Attorney
Carol Chandler, Executive Assistant


 Karen Morley, Chief Deputy Clerk
______________________________________________________________________________________________


Chairman Smith called the meeting to Order.
Senior Chaplin Ardon Smith of American Legion Post 105 offered the Invocation.
Post Commander Denny Leander of American Legion Post 105 led the Pledge of Allegiance.


ACCEPTANCE OF AGENDA: Chairman Smith requested the agenda be amended to add a special presentation tonight
regarding Memorial Day services. Commissioner Horgan made a motion to amend the agenda to add a special
presentation to the agenda.  Commissioner Hearn seconded the motion.  The motion carried 5-0. Commissioner Frady
made a motion to add a new business item to the agenda to nominate Joe Kuebler to serve on Post 2 of the Recreation
Commission.  Commissioner Maxwell seconded the motion.  The motion carried 5-0.  Commissioner Frady  made a
motion to approve the agenda as presented and amended. Commissioner Horgan seconded the motion.  The motion
carried 5-0.


PRESENTATION/RECOGNITION:
Chairman Smith recognized members of the American Legion Fayetteville Post 105, members of the American Legion
Lyle-Brewster Post 50 from Peachtree City, members of the Veterans of Foreign Wars Post 9949, members of the
Marine Corps League, Tax Commissioner George Wingo, Sheriff Wayne Hannah, Clerk of Superior Court Sheila
Studdard, Probate Judge Ann Jackson, Lt. Robert Collins’ mother Retired Army Lt. Colonel Sharon Collins, Lt. Collins’



http://www.fayettecountyga.gov





Board of Commissioners Minutes


May 27, 2010


Page 2


long-time girlfriend and childhood sweetheart Nicole Williams, Nicole’s parents Mr. and Mrs. Tom Williams and Lt. Daniel
Berschinski’s parents, Bob and Susan.  


Recognition of Lieutenant Robert Wilson Collins.
Chairman Smith read and the Board presented a Resolution honoring Lieutenant Robert Wilson Collins’ memory, valor
and ultimate sacrifice to protect the freedom of Americans to his mother Army Lieutenant Colonel Retired Sharon Collins.
Chairman Smith remarked that in Heritage Park there is an area dedicated to Veterans.  He said there is a special
section where bricks engraved with the names of Fayette County service men and women killed in action up through
the Vietnam War.  He remarked that it was the County’s intension to add a brick honoring Lieutenant Collins along with
one honoring Sgt. Shawn McCloskey. A copy of the Resolution, identified as “Attachment No. 1", follows these minutes
and is made an official part hereof.  


Recognition of Lieutenant Daniel Berschinski.
Chairman Smith read and the Board presented a Resolution honoring Lieutenant Daniel Berschinski for his valor,
courage and sacrifice to protect the freedom of Americans to Daniel and his mother Susan Berschinski.  A copy of the
Resolution, identified as “Attachment No. 2", follows these minutes and is made an official part hereof.  


Chairman Smith requested a short break in the meeting at 7:35 p.m. to allow the public to personally speak with
Lieutenant Collins’ family and Lieutenant Berschinski and his family.  


Chairman Smith reconvened the meeting at 7:44 p.m.


A. PRESENTATION OF GEORGIA ASSOCIATION OF STATE FLOODPLAIN MANAGEMENT PROGRAM
AWARD FOR EXCELLENCE IN FLOODPLAIN MANAGEMENT TO THE STORMWATER MANAGEMENT
DEPARTMENT:


The Board recognized the Stormwater Management Department for being presented the Award for Excellence in
Floodplain Management by the Georgia Association of State Floodplain Management. Director of Stormwater
Management Vanessa Birrell introduced Charles Absher, P.E., CFM representing the Georgia Association of Floodplain
Managers Program who would be making the presentation of the Award. A copy of the request, identified as “Attachment
No. 3", follows these minutes and is made an official part hereof.  


B.              RECOGNITION OF THE STORMWATER MANAGEMENT DEPARTMENT FOR ITS WORK IN OBTAINING
A COMMUNITY RATING SYSTEM CLASS 6 FOR FAYETTE COUNTY.  BRAD LOAR, US DEPARTMENT
OF HUMAN SERVICES FEMA RIVER MITIGATION DIVISION DIRECTOR WILL MAKE A PRESENTATION:


The Board recognized the Stormwater Management Department staff for their work in obtaining a Community Rating
System Class 6.  Director of Stormwater Management Vanessa Birrell introduced Dr. Brad Loar, Director of the U.S.
Department of Human Services FEMA River Mitigation Division, who would be making the presentation.  After his
presentation, Ms. Birrell recognized Captain Pete Nelms for his work in implementing his pre-mitigation grant, as well
as commending her staff including Bryan Keller and Deborah Sims for all of their work in this process.  A copy of the
request and backup, identified as “Attachment No. 4", follow these minutes and are made an official part hereof.    


PUBLIC COMMENT:
None.







Board of Commissioners Minutes


May 27, 2010


Page 3


CONSENT AGENDA: Commissioner Horgan made a motion to approve Consent Agenda items 1-7 as presented.
Commissioner Hearn seconded the motion.  The motion carried 5-0.


911 COMMUNICATIONS - PROPOSAL #P750:
1. Approval of request from 911 Communications to issue a request for proposals (Proposal #P750) for services


of a technology specialist to assist in the selection and acquisition of a new Computer Aided Dispatch (CAD)
System.  A copy of the request and backup, identified as “Attachment No. 5", follow these minutes and are
made an official part hereof.  


FIRE AND EMERGENCY SERVICES - PERSONAL HEALTH/WELLNESS PROGRAM:
2. Approval of staff’s recommendation to update Fayette County Fire and Emergency Services’ Policy No. 120.00,


Personal Health/Wellness Program related to time off for sickness or injury.  A copy of the request and backup,
identified as “Attachment No. 6", follow these minutes and are made an official part hereof.  


FIRE AND EMERGENCY SERVICES - ATLANTA REGIONAL EVACUATION COORDINATION PLAN ADOPTED:
3. Approval of staff’s recommendation to adopt the Atlanta Regional Evacuation Coordination Plan.  A copy of the


request and backup, identified as “Attachment No. 7", follow these minutes and are made an official part hereof.


SHERIFF’S OFFICE:
4. Approval of the Sheriff’s Office request to amend the Fayette County Sheriff’s Office State Confiscated


Technical Services Revenue Budget Account by $60.06 to recognize abandoned monies required to be
retained for law enforcement enhancement.  A copy of the request, identified as “Attachment No. 8", follows
these minutes and is made an official part hereof.  


SHERIFF’S OFFICE:
5. Approval of the Sheriff’s Office request to amend the Overtime Budget for the Fayette County Sheriff’s Office


Criminal Investigations Division by $6,809.80 for reimbursement for employees assigned to work with various
Federal Agencies.  A copy of the request, identified as “Attachment No. 9", follows these minutes and is made
an official part hereof.  


STORMWATER MANAGEMENT - ORDINANCE NO. 2010-03 AMENDMENTS APPROVED:
6. Approval of amendments to Article IX. Soil Erosion and Sedimentation Control Ordinance of the Fayette County


Development Regulations with revisions as mandated by the Georgia Environmental Protection Division and
Georgia Soil and Water Conservation Commission.  A copy of the request and Ordinance No. 2010-03,
identified as “Attachment No. 10", follow these minutes and are made an official part hereof.  


MINUTES:
7. Approval of minutes for Board of Commissioners’ meetings held on May 5, 2010 and May 13, 2010.


OLD BUSINESS:
C.       APPROVAL OF STAFF’S RECOMMENDATION TO AWARD PROPOSAL #P714 FOR A STRATEGIC


TECHNOLOGY PLAN AND RISK ASSESSMENT TO LBL TECHNOLOGY PARTNERS IN AN AMOUNT NOT
TO EXCEED $57,480:


Director of Information Systems Russell Prince remarked that Strategic Technology Plan would basically provide the
County with a three to five year road map for technology funding.  He said the Risk Assessment was requested by the
County’s Financial Auditors to assure that proper controls, procedures and security are in place to protect the County’s







Board of Commissioners Minutes


May 27, 2010


Page 4


vital information.  He said the chosen consultant would work with the Information Systems Department in a technology
steering committee to gather information necessary for the project.  


Commissioner Horgan made a motion to approve staff’s recommendation to award Proposal #P714 for a Strategic
Technology Plan and Risk Assessment to LBL Technology Partners in an amount not to exceed $57,480.  Commissioner
Hearn  seconded the motion.  The motion carried 5-0.  A copy of the request and backup, identified as “Attachment No.
11", follow these minutes and are made an official part hereof.


D.          APPROVAL OF STAFF’S RECOMMENDATION TO AWARD PROPOSAL #P742 FOR PROFESSIONAL
SERVICES OF A CERTIFIED PUBLIC ACCOUNTANT FOR FINANCIAL AND COMPLIANCE AUDITS TO
NICHOLS, CAULEY & ASSOCIATES, LLC FOR FISCAL YEARS 2010-2014 AT A COST OF $352,920:


Chairman Smith asked Vice Chairman Frady to take over the meeting at this time.  He said he had a conflict with this
item and would be absent during this discussion.    


Chief Finance Officer Mary Holland remarked that this item had been discussed at the last Board meeting regarding the
auditing services for the next five years.  She said at that time the Board had requested additional information in regard
to the criteria that had been used in the selection process.  She said this information was provided to the Board and staff
was recommending the low bidder Nichols, Cauley & Associates, LLC in the amount of $352,920.  She said this covered
the full five years period and was an all inclusive price for the auditing services.


Vice Chairman Frady asked for the Board’s consideration on this matter.


Commissioner Maxwell asked if the $352,920 was a negotiated rate with this firm and Ms. Holland replied yes.  Ms.
Holland said this was a coordinating effort between the Purchasing Department and the Finance Department.  She said
the firms who made the top list were asked to provide their best offer.  Commissioner Maxwell pointed out that the
Nichols Firm was rated 96 out of a maximum of 105.  


Commissioner Maxwell made a motion to approve staff’s recommendation to award Proposal #P742 for Professional
Services of a Certified Public Accountant for Financial and Compliance Audits to Nichols, Cauley & Associates, LLC for
Fiscal Years 2010-2014 at a cost of $352,920. Commissioner Frady seconded the motion. The motion carried 4-0.
Chairman Smith was not present for the vote.  A copy of the request and backup, identified as “Attachment No. 12",
follow these minutes and are made an official part hereof.  


NEW BUSINESS:
E.        APPROVAL OF STAFF’S RECOMMENDATION TO AWARD PROPOSAL #P745 FOR PROPERTY AND


CASUALTY INSURANCE COVERAGE FOR  FISCAL YEAR BEGINNING JULY 1, 2010 AND ENDING JUNE
30, 2011 TO PUBLIC RISK UNDERWRITERS OF GEORGIA, INC. AT A COST OF $420,578:


Chief Finance Officer Mary Holland asked for the Board’s consideration to award Proposal #P745 for property and
Casualty Insurance Coverage to Public Risk Underwriters of Georgia in the amount of $420,578.  Commissioner Maxwell
pointed out that because this had been competitively bid, there was a 40% reduction in cost from the initial process. 


Commissioner Horgan made a motion to approve staff’s recommendation to award Proposal #P745 for Property and
Casualty Insurance Coverage for Fiscal Year beginning July 1, 2010 and ending June 30, 2011 to Public Risk
Underwriters of Georgia, Inc. at a cost of $420,578.  Commissioner Hearn seconded the motion.  The motion carried
5-0.  A copy of the request and backup, identified as “Attachment No. 13", follow these minutes and are made an official
part hereof.  







Board of Commissioners Minutes


May 27, 2010


Page 5


F.           APPROVAL OF STAFF’S RECOMMENDATION TO AWARD PROPOSAL #P737 FOR ARCHITECTURAL
SERVICES FOR AN ADDITION TO THE  FAYETTE COUNTY PUBLIC LIBRARY TO LORD, AECK AND
SARGENT IN THE AMOUNT OF $59,500:


Director of the Fayette County Public Library Chris Snell asked for the Board’s consideration to award Proposal #P737
for architectural services for an addition to the Fayette County Public Library to Lord, Aeck and Sargent in the amount
of $59,500.  County Administrator Jack Krakeel pointed out that this was actually one of the first construction projects
that would be managed internally with staff.  He said once the contract was awarded to the architect, the architect would
start the design work and develop the appropriate specifications and documents which would then be sent out for bid
for a contractor to actually do the construction work.


Commissioner Maxwell made a motion to approve staff’s recommendation to award Proposal #P737 for Architectural
Services for an addition to the Fayette County Public Library to Lord, Aeck and Sargent in the amount of $59,500 with
the provision that the Chairman be authorized to execute the contract as soon as the County Attorney has reviewed and
approved the contract.  Commissioner Frady seconded the motion.  The motion carried 5-0.  A copy of the request,
backup and contract, identified as “Attachment No. 14", follow these minutes and are made an official part hereof.  


G.         APPROVAL OF WATER COMMITTEE’S RECOMMENDATION TO USE ECO-SOUTH, INC. TO PERFORM
MITIGATION WORK AT THE DANIELLY-WAGNER SITE IN THE AMOUNT OF $829,635:


Director of the Water System Tony Parrott asked for the Board’s consideration to use Eco-South, Inc. to perform
mitigation work at the Danielly-Wagner site in the amount of $829,635.


Commissioner Frady made a motion to approve staff’s recommendation to use Eco-South, Inc. to perform mitigation
work at the Danielly-Wagner site in the amount of $829,635 and authorize the Chairman to execute the contract as soon
as the County Attorney has reviewed and approved the contract.  Commissioner Horgan seconded the motion.  The
motion carried 5-0.  A copy of the request and contract, identified as “Attachment No. 15", follow these minutes and are
made an official part hereof.  


Item added:
H.      CONSIDERATION OF JOE KUEBLER TO FILL POST 2 ON THE FAYETTE COUNTY RECREATION


COMMISSION:


Commissioner Frady asked for the Board’s consideration to appoint Joe Kuebler to fill Post 2 on the Fayette County
Recreation Commission.  


Commissioner Frady made a motion to nominate Joe Kuebler to fill Post 2 on the Fayette County Recreation
Commission with said term commencing on June 1, 2010 and ending on may  31, 2014.  Commissioner Horgan
seconded the motion.  The motion carried 5-0.  


ADMINISTRATOR’S REPORT: 
COUNTY’S BOND RATING UPGRADED TO AA1:
County Administrator Jack Krakeel remarked that the County had received news from Moody’s Investor Services that
the County’s Bond Rating has been upgraded from AA2 to AA1 and this was for the General Obligation Bond Ratings.
He also remarked that the Water System’s Bond Rating has been upgraded from AA3 to AA2.  He noted that the AA1
rating was the highest rating that could be achieved in the high quality category and was one notch below a AAA rating.
He commended the Board of Commissioners for their sound fiscal policy and this was now reflected by the upgrades







Board of Commissioners Minutes


May 27, 2010


Page 6


in the County’s Bond Ratings.  He said this would be very favorable to the taxpayers should the County have a need to
go to the bond market or consider refinancing existing debt structure.


ATTORNEY’S REPORT:  
AECOM TECHNICAL SERVICES, INC. ASSIGNMENT AGREEMENT: County Attorney Scott Bennett remarked that
in October of 2008 the County entered into a contract with Glatting, Jackson, Kercher & Anglin to perform the County’s
Comprehensive Transportation Plan.  He pointed out that AECOM Technical Services, Inc. has purchased the Glatting
Firm and they are seeking approval on an Assignment of this contract from the Glatting Firm to AECOM Technical
Services.  He asked for the Board’s consideration to authorize the Chairman to execute the Assignment contract with
AECOM.


Commissioner Frady made a motion to authorize the Chairman to execute the Assignment Agreement with AECOM
Technical Services, Inc., pursuant to a review in order to determine if the financial viability and the principals of this firm
are sufficient to warrant a transfer.  Commissioner Horgan seconded the motion.  The motion carried 5-0.  (This
Agreement was officially executed at the June 2, 2010 Board meeting and listed as an attachment in those minutes).
 
STAFF REPORTS:
None.           


BOARD REPORTS:
COMMISSIONER MAXWELL:  Commissioner Maxwell commented on the issue of abandoned homes in Fayette
County. He suggested this issue be listed on the Board’s June 2  Workshop Agenda for discussion.  Countynd


Administrator Jack Krakeel replied that this item had already been brought to his attention and was listed on the June
2  Workshop Agenda for discussion by the Board.  nd


EXECUTIVE SESSION: County Administrator Jack Krakeel requested an Executive Session to discuss real estate
acquisition.


Commissioner Hearn made a motion to adjourn to Executive Session for the purpose of discussing real estate
acquisition.  Commissioner Horgan seconded the motion.  The motion carried 5-0.


Chairman Smith adjourned the Executive Session and reconvened the meeting back to open session.


Commissioner Hearn made a motion to authorize the Chairman to execute the Executive Session Affidavit affirming that
real estate acquisition was discussed in executive session.  Commissioner Frady seconded the motion.  The motion
carried 5-0.  A copy of the Executive Session Affidavit, identified as “Attachment No. 16", follows these minutes and is
made an official part hereof.  


ADJOURNMENT:   Hearing no further business to come before the Board, Chairman Smith adjourned the meeting at
9:30 p.m.
___________________________________                               __________________________________________
Karen Morley, Chief Deputy Clerk                                 Jack R.  Smith, Chairman


The foregoing minutes were duly approved at an official meeting of the Board of Commissioners of Fayette County,
Georgia, held on the 24  day of June, 2010.th


___________________________________
Karen Morley, Chief Deputy Clerk








MinutesMinutesMinutesMinutes
Board of Commissioners


 June 2, 2010
 3:30 P.M.


Notice: A complete audio recording of this meeting can be heard by accessing Fayette
County’s Website at  www.fayettecountyga.gov.  Click on “Board of Commissioners”, then
“County Commission Meetings”, and follow the instructions.  The entire meeting or a single
topic can be heard.


                       
The Board of Commissioners of Fayette County, Georgia, met in Official Session on Wednesday, June 2, 2010, at  3:30
p.m. in the Commissioners’ Conference Room, Suite 100 of the Fayette County Administrative Complex, 140 Stonewall
Avenue, Fayetteville, Georgia.


Commissioners Present: Jack Smith, Chairman
Herb Frady, Vice Chairman
Lee Hearn
Robert Horgan
Eric Maxwell


Staff Present: Jack Krakeel, County Administrator
Scott Bennett, County Attorney
Carol Chandler, Executive Assistant


 Floyd L. Jones, Deputy Clerk
________________________________________________________________________________________________


Call to Order by Chairman


Chairman Smith called the June 2, 2010 Board of Commissioners Workshop Meeting to Order at 3:30 p.m.


Acceptance of Agenda


Commissioner Horgan moved to accept the agenda as printed.  Commissioner Hearn seconded the motion.  No
discussion followed.  The motion passed unanimously.


OLD BUSINESS:


A. Continued discussion of proposed amendments to the Fayette County Subdivision Regulations and the
Fayette County Development Regulations.


Community Development Director Pete Frisina, Public Works Director Phil Mallon and other staff discussed and
explained the proposed amendments to the Fayette County Subdivision Regulations and the Fayette County
Development Regulations with the Board.







Board of Commissioners Minutes
June 2, 2010
Page Number 2


The Board consented to authorize staff to advertise Public Hearings to be held during the June 24, 2010 Board
of Commissioners meeting.  A copy of the request and the proposed amendments to the Fayette County
Subdivision Regulations and the Fayette County Development Regulations, identified as “Attachment 1", follows
these minutes and is made an official part hereof.


B. Continued discussion of the International Property Maintenance Code and property maintenance
issues.


Interim Permits and Inspections Director Joe Scarbrough informed the Board of four structures in Fayette
County that have been abandoned and foreclosed.  He reported that two of the four structures are new home
starts that have been abandoned since February, 2008.  The other two structures were abandoned and
foreclosed due to fire.  He told of his efforts to communicate with the banks responsible for the foreclosed
structures, but reported that his efforts have not yielded many results.  He explained that the County Code
provided specific legal direction on what is required to declare properties public nuisances and have them
condemned by a judge and informed the Board of the process as outlined in the County Code.   Mr. Scarbrough
emphasized that this process, once started, could take a significant amount of time to complete.  Discussion
followed.


Commissioner Maxwell reviewed pictures of the four structures and informed the Board that he would sign
complaints against each structure, thereby starting the process.  Commissioners Frady and Horgan added they
would sign alongside Commissioner Maxwell.  Public Works Director Phil Mallon said he would provide the
Board an estimated cost for the removal of the four structures based on labor cost and estimated material
weight.  A copy of the request, identified as “Attachment 2", follows these minutes and is made an official part
hereof.    


NEW BUSINESS:


C. Discussion of the City of Stockbridge’s request to use some of Fayette County’s mitigation areas for
two well sites.


County Attorney Scott Bennett briefly explained the City of Stockbridge’s request.  He explained that the city
was requesting the Board to sign an agreement allowing Stockbridge to use some of the County’s mitigated
wetlands located within Stockbridge’s city limits for the purpose of drilling two wells.  In compensation, the city
would mitigate another site adjacent to Fayette County’s wetlands allowing Fayette County to maintain its Corps
of Engineers approval.  He explained that Stockbridge has not offered any compensation to Fayette County,
and that there is no  benefit to Fayette County other than being a good neighbor to a city in Henry County.  


Commissioner Frady stated that he would like to be a good neighbor, but since there is much invested in the
Fayette County’s mitigated wetlands he did not want to jeopardize it by putting two wells in it.  Mr. Bennett
added that Water System Director Tony Parrott was not in favor of the request, based on his experience.
Commissioner Hearn noted that the County “has everything to lose and nothing to gain with the request”.
Chairman Smith summarized that the consensus opinion of the Board was “Thank you but no thank you”.    Mr.
Bennett replied that he would notify Stockbridge by letter informing them of the Board’s consensus not to agree
to the request.  A copy of the request, identified as “Attachment 3", follows these minutes and is made an
official part hereof.







Board of Commissioners Minutes
June 2, 2010
Page Number 3


 REPORT:


D. Presentation of the monthly update on the County’s 2010 Transportation Work Plan by Public Works
Director Phil Mallon.


Public Works Director Phil Mallon presented his monthly update to the Board.  Discussion followed.  


Chairman Smith told Mr. Mallon that, at least a year ago, the Board was informed there was enough funding
to complete the majority of the proposed projects.  He said that the Board was anxious to know whether there
were still enough funds, or if there have been inflated costs which have taken a toll.  He asked for updated cost
estimates for the projects since they would be critical for future planning.  Mr. Mallon replied that he could
provide updated cost estimates to an extent, but clarified  some of the projects would provide some difficulties
since there is no certainty regarding what is required.  A copy of the request and the Fayette County
Transportation 2010 Work Plan, identified as “Attachment 4", follows these minutes and is made an official part
hereof.   


ADMINISTRATOR’S REPORT


Update on Town of Brooks Water System: County Administrator Jack Krakeel updated the Board on the meeting with
officials from the Town of Brooks regarding its Water System customers.  He remarked that all outstanding issues had
been resolved with the transfer of the operating agreement.  He noted that all customers of the Brooks Water System
would be notified by letter of this transfer.  Discussion followed.  Mr. Krakeel noted that during the meeting, questions
were asked about sewer billings, such as are provided to other Fayette Water System customers.  He told the Board
the billing service would affect about ten customers in the Town of Brooks, and that the Town’s officials were informed
the County could provide that service for $1.00 per month per customer.  He concluded that the billing service would
entail a second agreement, and that the agreement would be coming to them for ratification as soon as it is approved
by the County Attorney.


Update on Budget Review: County Administrator Jack Krakeel updated the Board on the budget review which included
the budget items for the Sheriff’s Office.  He noted that Sheriff Hannah had agreed to meet the budget guidelines that
were recommended by staff, meaning there would be no increase in the Sheriff’s budget.  He also commented on a
recent request from Commissioner Horgan regarding the replacement of carpet for the Fayette County Historical Society
building.  He said the Board had looked into this issue a few years ago but action was deferred because of the cost
associated with the replacement.  He said after a review of the various kinds of carpet that would work for this facility,
staff was recommending $5,300 for this replacement carpet.  He asked the Board for consideration to include the
replacement in this year’s budget.  Discussion followed.


Chief Finance Officer Mary Holland presented a final proposed budget to the Board for review.  She asked for the
Board’s consideration to advertise for public hearings to be held on June 10th and June 24th at the Board of
Commissioner’ meetings.  She asked the Board for clarification on the replacement carpet for the Fayette County
Historical Society and whether or not the Board wanted to include this cost in the 2010 budget or the 2011 budget.  Mr.
Krakeel recommended that a purchase order be issued for this work and the funds to come out of the current
contingency fund. 







Board of Commissioners Minutes
June 2, 2010
Page Number 4


Commissioner Hearn moved to approve the issuance of a purchase order for replacement carpet at the Fayette County
Historical Society with funds to come out of the current contingency fund.  Commissioner Horgan seconded the motion.
No discussion followed.  The motion passed unanimously.  A copy of the Fiscal Year 2011 Budget Proposal, identified
as “Attachment 5", follows these minutes and is made an official part hereof. 


ATTORNEY’S REPORT


AECOM Technical Services Assignment Agreement: County Attorney Scott Bennett remarked that the Chairman had
some questions regarding the AECOM Technical Services, Inc. Assignment Agreement that was approved at the May
27th Board meeting.  He reported that the questions had been answered and asked for the Board’s consideration to
authorize the Chairman to execute this Assignment Agreement.


Commissioner Horgan moved to authorize the Chairman to execute the AECOM Technical Services Assignment
Agreement.  Commissioner Frady seconded the motion.  No discussion followed.  The motion passed unanimously.  A
copy of the AECOM Technical Services Assignment Agreement, identified as “Attachment 6", follows these minutes and
is made an official part hereof.


STAFF REPORTS


Draft Fayette County Comprehensive Transportation Plan: Public Works Director Phil Mallon commented that a draft
copy of the Fayette County Comprehensive Transportation Plan had been sent to each Commissioner earlier in the
week, and he asked for the Board’s consideration to post the draft plan to the County’s website.  Chairman Smith replied
that his review of the draft plan would be complete in the next few days, that he would talk to Mr. Mallon after his review
was complete, and then the draft plan could be posted at that time.


BOARD REPORTS


Complaint Regarding a Dam adjacent to The Landings Subdivision: Commissioner Maxwell commented on an e-
mail that he had received regarding a complaint on some work on a dam located adjacent to The Landings Subdivision
in Peachtree City.  County Administrator Jack Krakeel said staff was aware of this situation and had all of the
documentation ready for response.  He noted that a Stop Work Order had been issued this morning and it would be lifted
this afternoon with respect to permit that they would receive from the County.  He concluded by saying that this matter
had been addressed and the Stormwater Department staff was currently working on the situation.


EXECUTIVE SESSION


There was no Executive Session.







Board of Commissioners Minutes
June 2, 2010
Page Number 5


ADJOURNMENT


When no further business came before the Board, Chairman Smith adjourned the June 2, 2010 Workshop Meeting at
5:34  p.m.


___________________________________                               __________________________________________
     Floyd L. Jones, Deputy Clerk                          Jack R.  Smith, Chairman


The foregoing minutes were duly approved at an official meeting of the Board of Commissioners of Fayette County,
Georgia, held on the 24th day of June 2010.


___________________________________
       Floyd L. Jones, Deputy Clerk








COUNTY DEPARTMENT AGENDA REQUEST 


Department: Presenter(s):


Background/History/Details:


Wording for the Agenda:


What action are you seeking from the Board of Commissioners?


If this item requires funding, please describe:


Has this issue come before the Commissioners in the past? If so, when?


Do you need audio-visual for the presentation?


 STAFF USE ONLY


Administrator's Approval


Back-up Material Submitted?


Approved by Finance


Approved by Purchasing


Reviewed  by Legal


Approved by County Clerk


Type of Request:


Staff Notes:


Meeting Date:


Planning and Zoning Pete Frisina


Consideration of Ordinance 2010-05, proposed amendments to the Fayette County Code regarding Chapter 8 Development Regulations 


by adding Article XIV Subdivision Regulations, in its entirety.    


The proposed amendments are a result of an overall review of the Subdivision Regulations including amendments for compliance with 


State Law.  Staff worked with a group of local developers, surveyors, and engineers to draft the proposed amendments.  The Subdivision 


Regulations are proposed to be added to the Fayette County Code under Chapter 8 of the Development Regulations.  On June 2, 2010, 


the Board of Commissioners instructed staff to advertise the proposed amendments for the June 24, 2010, Public Hearing.


Adoption of Ordinance 2010-05, proposed amendments to the Fayette County Code regarding Chapter 8 Development Regulations by 


adding Article XIV Subdivision Regulations, in its entirety


Not Applicable.


Yes Wednesday, June 2, 2010


No


Yes


Yes


Yes


Not Applicable


Yes


Yes


Public HearingThursday, June 24, 2010







  1


Legal advertisement to run a minimum of 15 days prior to the public hearing date. 
04/01/09 – BOC Workshop 
04/23/09 – BOC Public Hearing (Cancelled 05/06/09 Workshop) 
05/28/09 – BOC Public Hearing (Table until 06/25/09) 
06/17/09 – Subdivision Regulations Committee 
06/25/09 – BOC Public Hearing (Select items only) 
07/09/09 – Bryan Keller, Vanessa Birrell, and Robyn Wilson 
07/13/09 – Bryan Keller, Vanessa Birrell, and Robyn Wilson 
07/15/09 – Bryan Keller, Vanessa Birrell, and Robyn Wilson 
07/21/09 – Phil Mallon (Section 1 and 2) 
07/27/09 – Subdivision Regulations Committee 
07/27/09 -  Bryan Keller, Vanessa Birrell, and Robyn Wilson 
07/30/09 – Phil Mallon, Bryan Keller, and Robyn Wilson 
07/31/09 – Phil Mallon 
08/10/09 – Subdivision Regulations Committee 
09/02/09 – BOC Workshop 
10/06/09 – Phil Mallon 
10/12/09 – Pete Frisina, Dennis Dutton, and Robyn Wilson  
10/13/09 – Pete Frisina and Robyn Wilson  
10/15/09 – Bryan Keller  
10/16/09 – David Scarbrough  
10/20/09 – Phil Mallon  
10/20/09 – Phil Mallon, Pete Frisina, Vanessa Birrell, and Robyn Wilson  
10/21/09 – Phil Mallon, Pete Frisina, Vanessa Birrell, Bryan Keller, and Robyn Wilson 
10/22/09 – Phil Mallon  
10/23/09 – Phil Mallon, Pete Frisina, Vanessa Birrell, Bryan Keller, and Robyn Wilson 
10/26/09 – Phil Mallon  
10/23/09 – Phil Mallon, Pete Frisina, Vanessa Birrell, Bryan Keller, and Robyn Wilson                  
10/26/09 – Attorney Scott Bennett  
11/04/09 – BOC Workshop (Marked up version) 
01/25/10 – Amendments based on comments from BOC Workshop on 11/04/09  
02/02/10 – BOC Workshop (Marked up version) 
02/02/10 - Amendments based on comments from BOC Workshop on 02/02/10 


(BOC, Pete Frisina, Phil Mallon, Vanessa Birrell, Bryan Keller, Robyn Wilson, 
Billy Brundage, Larry Seabolt, and Randy Boyd)  


04/02/10 - Pete Frisina, Phil Mallon, Vanessa Birrell, Bryan Keller, Robyn Wilson, Dennis 
Dutton, Billy Brundage, Larry Seabolt, and Randy Boyd 


February, March, and April – Numerous meetings were held during this time between Pete 
Frisina, Vanessa Birrell, Bryan Keller, and Robyn Wilson. 


05/06/10 – BOC Workshop  (tabled until 06/02/10) 
06/02/10 – BOC Workshop 
06/24/10 – BOC Public Hearing 







  2


PROPOSED AMENDMENTS TO 
THE FAYETTE COUNTY CODE 


ARTICLE XIV SUBDIVISION REGULATIONS 
 


SUBDIVISION REGULATIONS 
 
AN ORDINANCE SETTING FORTH REGULATIONS, SPECIFICATIONS, 
AND PROCEDURES GOVERNING THE PLATTING OF LAND WITHIN 
THE CORPORATE LIMITS OF FAYETTE COUNTY INTO 
SUBDIVISIONS; REQUIRING AND REGULATING THE PREPARATION 
AND PRESENTATION OF SUBDIVISION PLATS FOR SUCH PURPOSES; 
ESTABLISHING MINIMUM IMPROVEMENTS; DEFINING TERMS AND 
PROVIDING PENALTIES FOR VIOLATION THEREOF. 
 
BE IT ORDAINED BY the Board of Commissioners of Fayette County and it is hereby 
ordained by the authority of the same: 
 


SECTION 1 
 


Sec. 8-500.  DECLARATION OF PURPOSE 
 


In Pursuance of authority conferred by Georgia Number 358, General Planning and Zoning 
Enabling Act of 1957, amended, the regulations, specifications and procedures for the 
subdivision and subsequent development of land and for the platting thereof, prescribed and 
adopted by this ordinance are hereby deemed by the Board of Commissioners to be desirable and 
necessary in order to help insure the public health, safety, morals, and general welfare by means 
of harmonious, orderly, and progressive development of land.  Further, the purposes of the 
regulations of the subdivision of land are, among others: 
 


• To encourage and ensure the development of economically sound and stable 
neighborhoods;  


• To assure the adequate provision of required streets, utilities, and other facilities and 
services to new land developments;  


• To assure the provisions of reasonably safe and convenient vehicular and pedestrian 
traffic access and circulation;  


• To assure the provision of needed public open spaces and building sites in new land 
developments through the dedication or reservations of land for recreational, educational, 
and other public purposes;  


• To assure land is developed with reasonable safeguards for environmental protection; 
• To provide accurate, uniform records for identification and location of real estate 


boundaries; and  
• To assure, in general, the wise development of new areas, in harmony with the 


Comprehensive Plan of Fayette County. 







  3


Change the following in its entirety: 
“County Commissioners” to “Board of Commissioners” 
“Planning and Zoning Commission” to “Planning Commission” 
“Zoning Regulations” to “Zoning Ordinance” 
“final plat to Final Plat” 
“preliminary plat to Preliminary Plat” 
“subdivider to Subdivider” 
Delete all sections numbers under Definitions. 
 


SECTION 2 
 


Sec. 8-501.  DEFINITIONS 
 


 For the purpose of this ordinance, the following words, terms, phases, and their 
derivations shall have the meaning given in this section. 


  
Words used in the present tense include the future tense.  Words used in the 
singular number include the plural number and words used in the plural number 
include the singular. The word “shall” is always mandatory while the word “may” 
is merely discretionary. 


 
The Planning Commission’s interpretation shall be final as to the meaning of any 
definition, statement, requirement, symbol, and/or abbreviation used in 
connection with these regulations and/or application thereof. 


 
Words and terms not explicitly defined in this Ordinance shall have the 
meaning given by common and ordinary use as defined in Webster's New 
Collegiate Dictionary.  The following specific definitions shall apply: 


 
Board of Commissioners. The Board of Commissioners of Fayette County, 
Georgia. 


 
 County.  The County of Fayette, Georgia. 
 
 County Commissioners.  The Commissioners of the County of Fayette, 
 Georgia. 
 


County Engineer.  The official, to whom the responsibilities normally associated 
with this title, have been delegated.   


 
 
 
 
 







  4


 Commissioners of Health. The Fayette County Commissioner of Health, the 
Fayette County Health Department, and/or the State of Georgia Department of 
Health. The words “Commissioner of Health” are used in these regulations to 
denote the fact that all matters pertaining to health regulations shall be directed to  


 that official or his staff.  (NOTE:  RELOCATE IN ALPHABETICAL ORDER) 
 


Comprehensive Plan. The Comprehensive Plan for the County of Fayette, 
Georgia, approved by the Board of Commissioners and maintained by the 
Fayette County Planning and Zoning Department.  Planning Commission and 
recommended to the County Governing Authority for their consideration which 
may consist of the Major Thoroughfare Plan, General Land Use Plan, Street and 
Road Classifications Plan, and other maps data, and descriptive matter for the 
physical development of the County and any portion thereof, including any 
amendments, extensions, or additions thereto as recommended by the Planning 
Commission. 


 
 Construction Plans.  Any plans required for the review, permitting and 


construction of a subdivision, including, but not limited to: Site; Grading; 
Street Profiles; Stormwater Management; Floodplain Management, Utility; 
Soil Erosion, Sediment, and Pollution Control; Soil Surveys; and Construction 
Details. 


 
 Crosswalk.  A right of way within a block dedicated to public use for pedestrian 


use only and is so designed as to provide access to adjacent streets or lots. 
 
 Cul-de-sac.  A street having only one end open for access to another street and 


the other end being terminated by a turn-around as specified in these regulations.  
A street with only one intersection and having only one end open for access to 
another street, the other end being abruptly terminated with no turn-around.  A 
street, or segment of a street, with only one (1) way in or out and which 
terminates at a turn-around constructed in accordance with the Fayette County 
Development Regulations.   


 
 Dead End Street.  A street with only one intersection and having only one end 


open for access to another street, the other end being abruptly terminated with no 
turn-around. 


 
 Development.  The act, process or state of erecting buildings, structures, or 


making improvements, or laying out and dividing land.  A substantial human-
induced change to real estate, including buildings or other structures including 
an activity, action, or alteration that fundamentally alters the current use 
and/or density of use of a property. 


   
 
 
 
 







  5


 Commissioners of Health Environmental Health County Manager. The Fayette 
County Commissioner of Health, the Fayette County Health Department, and/or 
the State of Georgia Department of Health. The words “Commissioner of Health” 
“Environmental Health County Manager” are used in these regulations to 
denote the fact that all matters pertaining to health regulations shall be directed to 
that official or his staff.  The official responsible for all matters within the 
Subdivision Regulations pertaining to health regulations and is the Director of 
the Fayette County Environmental Health Department.   


 
 Major Fayette County Thoroughfare Plan.  See section 2-6 (Comprehensive 


Plan).  The Thoroughfare Plan for the County of Fayette, Georgia, approved by 
the Board of Commissioners, indicating the designation of street type and is 
maintained by the Fayette County Planning and Zoning Department.   


 
 Easement.  A grant by the owner of land for the use of such land by others, 


including the public, for a specific purpose of purposes.  An interest in land 
granted by the land owner to another person, consisting of the right to use or 
control the land, or an area above or below it, for a specific limited purpose, 
such as to cross if for access to a public road. 


 
 Loop Street.  A street that connects to another street which is not a cul-de-sac or 


single-access loop street at two (2) points, forming a horseshoe or loop. (Amended 
5/23/85)   


 
 Loop Street, Single Access.  A street which connects to another street at one 


point and intersects itself at some point, forming a “p” or similar shape. (Amended 
5/23/85)  


 
 Lot or Acreage.  An undivided portion of land which is designed as a distinct and 


separate tract and identified by a tract number, lot number, or symbol on an 
approved subdivision plat properly recorded, and which is or may in the future be 
offered for sale, conveyance, transfer or improvement.  A tract of land of varying 
sizes which is designated as a single unit of property. 


 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 


 Lot Width.   The distance between the side lot lines, measures at a building line, 
parallel to the street right-of-way line.  The minimum distance between side 







  6


property lines either measured in a straight line parallel to the street right-of-
way or a tangent and perpendicular to the mid-point of the arc in the case of the 
turn around portion of a cul-de-sac along the front minimum building line (see 
graphic below).  


  
  


 
  
 
  
 M.S.L.  Mean Sea Level.   
 
 Marginal Access Street.  A street parallel to and adjacent to an arterial street 


providing access to abutting property.   
 
 Phase.  A portion or section of a larger development delineated on an approved, 


recorded Final Plat. 
 
 Plat, Final.   All divisions of a tract of land into two (2) or more lots where the 


lots are less than five (5) acres in size and/or new streets are created.   
 







  7


 Plat, Preliminary. A conceptual subdivision plan required prior to a Final Plat 
where new streets are created.   


 
 Planning Commission.  The Fayette County Planning Commission of Fayette 


County, Georgia. 
 
 Residential Street.  A street used for local circulation in residential areas 


providing access to abutting property.   
 
 Right-of-Way.  A portion of land being used or in the future will be used as a 


street, road, thoroughfare, crosswalk, pipe way, drainage canal, and/ or other 
similar uses and designated by means of right-of-way lines.  A strip of land, often 
of uniform width, that is owned by Fayette County and used, or may be used for 
transportation, utilities, or similar purposes.   


 
 Street.  A public right-of-way which provides vehicular access to abutting 


property.  A public or private thoroughfare or road  used for vehicular access to 
other streets and/or properties.  Streets may be 1) owned and 
operated/maintained by Fayette County (i.e., those within a Public Right-of-
Way); 2) privately owned but open for public use and maintained by Fayette 
County (i.e., those within a prescriptive easement); or 3) privately owned and 
maintained (i.e., a private road).  Public streets are designated by type on the 
Fayette County Thoroughfare Plan.   


 
 Major Arterial Street.  A street which is designated as such on the Major 


Thoroughfare Plan and which is intended to provide swift and safe movement of 
traffic through the community.   (NOTE:  CURRENTLY IN DEVELOPMENT 
REGULATIONS – ARTICLE III.) 


 
 Secondary Arterial Street.  A street which is designated as such on the Major 


Thoroughfare Plan and which is intended to provide easy and convenient traffic 
movement within the community.   (NOTE:  CURRENTLY IN DEVELOPMENT 
REGULATIONS – ARTICLE III. AND REFERRED TO AS A MINOR ARTERIAL) 


 
 Collector Street.  A street which is designated as such on the Major 


Thoroughfare Plan and which is intended to collect traffic from residential streets 
and direct it safely to secondary or major streets.  (NOTE:  CURRENTLY IN 
DEVELOPMENT REGULATIONS – ARTICLE III.) 


  
 Subdivider.  Any person, firm, corporation, association or partnership or any 


agent thereof who undertakes or proposes to undertake the subdivision of land so 
as to constitute create a subdivision as defined herein.  


 
 
 Subdivisions.  All divisions of a tract or parcel of land into a minimum of two 


(2) or more lots.  building sites, for the purpose, whether immediate or future, of 
sale, legacy, or building development and includes all divisions of land involving 







  8


a new street or change in existing streets, and includes re-subdivision and where 
appropriate context, relates to the process of subdividing or to the land or area 
subdivided; provided, however that the following are not included within this 
definition:   


 
(a) The combination or recombination of portions of previously platted lots 


where the total number or of lots is not increased and the resultant lots are 
equal to the standards of the municipality jurisdiction;   


 
(b) The division of land into parcels of five (5) acres or more where no new 


street is involved. 
  


Subdivision, Minor.  All divisions of a tract of land into two (2) or more lots 
where the lots are five (5) acres or greater in size and no new streets are 
created.   


 
 Technical Review Committee (TRC).  A committee of County Staff, in regards 


to the Subdivision Regulations, that performs monthly review of Preliminary 
and Final Plats, prior to approval by the Planning Commission.   


 
 Tract.  A parcel portion of land with definite and ascertainable limits or 


boundaries.  A specified parcel of land.  
 
 Utility.  Any community service available to the public by means of an overhead 


or underground distribution and/or collection systems such as electricity, 
telephone, water, wastewater, stormwater, cable, natural gas, etc.. 


 
 Zoning Administrator.  The official to whom the responsibilities normally 


associated with this title have been delegated. 
 
 Zoning Regulations Ordinance.  The Zoning Regulations Ordinance enacted by 


the Board of Commissioners of the County of  Fayette County, Georgia, which is   
maintained and implemented by the Fayette County Planning and Zoning 
Department.   


 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 


SECTION 3 
 


Sec. 8-502.  GENERAL 







  9


 
(a) Zoning Ordinance.  No subdivision shall be accepted approved for review 


which does not conform with the Zoning Ordinance applicable to the land for 
which it is proposed. 


 
(b) Recordation of Final Plat or Minor Subdivision Plats.  No Final Plat or Minor 


Subdivision Plat shall be recorded with the Clerk of Superior Court of Fayette 
County, Georgia, without said plat having first been submitted to and approved by 
the Planning Commission.  The Secretary to the Planning Commission shall 
endorse the plat upon approval by the Planning Commission.   


 
The Planning Commission approval is not required for Final Plats a plat of 
subdivision where no new streets or roads are created or no new utility 
improvements are required or no new sanitary sewer or approval of a septic tank 
is required.  Said plat shall contain a certification from the licensed surveyor 
that these provisions do not apply which shall entitle said plat to be recorded.  
(Ordinance No. 2009-01 Adopted 06/25/09)  


 
(c) Open.  (Ordinance No. 2009-01 Adopted 06/25/09)  Unless noted otherwise, the County 


Engineer shall be responsible for the implementation of the Subdivision 
Regulations.   


 
 







  10


SECTION 4 
 
Sec. 8-503. APPROVAL OF SUBDIVISIONS 


 
Subdivisions shall be reviewed and approved in two (2) stages as follows:  Preliminary Plats, 
Construction Plans (see applicable Development Regulations), and Final Plats.  The 
requirements of this section are administered by the Fayette County Zoning Administrator, 
unless indicated otherwise.   
 
(a) Preliminary Plat 
 


1. Purpose.  The purpose of tThe Preliminary Plat is to safeguards the Subdivider 
from unnecessary loss of time and expense in preparation of a subdivision plat 
which that does not conform with the specifications of the Subdivision 
Regulations Ordinance.  The Preliminary Plat only requires approximate accuracy 
of scale and dimension.  Public agencies having jurisdiction will review the 
Preliminary Plat regarding matters within their jurisdiction.  During the review 
process, the Subdivider or his agent may be called upon for consultation 
clarification. 


 
The Subdivider is ultimately responsible for compliance with all applicable 
statutes, ordinances, regulations, and rules.  Approval of a Preliminary Plat 
shall not constitute a variance or authorization to violate any statutes, 
ordinances, regulations, and/or rules. 


 
2. Preliminary Plat/Lot Layout.Future Tract Plan.  The Subdivider shall submit to 


the Zoning Administrator for the Planning Commission a reasonably accurate 
Preliminary Plat, wiith a completed application, (see Preliminary Plat 
Application under Forms at www.fayettecountyga.gov) plat in sketch form of the 
entire tract which will show the tentative future street system and lot layout for 
the entire tract.  The plat must also show future recreation areas and pedestrian 
circulation patterns. (Ordinance No. 2000-03)  


  
3. Street Name(s) and Subdivision Name Approval.  Prior to submittal of the 


Preliminary Plat, street name(s) (see Development Regulations, Article III.) and 
subdivision names shall be submitted to the Planning and Zoning Department.  
The Planning and Zoning Department shall forward said names to the 
Postmaster and 911 for approval.  Approval by both parties is required. The 
Planning and Zoning Department shall reserve the names with the Postmaster 
and 911.  The approved names shall be indicated on the Preliminary Plat.   


 
4. Filing/Filing the Preliminary Plat and Other Requirements.  Any person 


desiring to subdivide land shall file with the Zoning Administrator for the 
Planning Commission a number of copies, which number shall be determined by 
the Zoning Administrator, of the Preliminary Plat. In order to be considered by 
the  







  11


Planning Commission, the Preliminary Plat shall be submitted in accordance with 
the schedule of hearing dates and application deadlines established by the 
Planning and Zoning Department.  Said schedule is available in the office of the 
Zoning Administrator.  Preliminary Plats shall be submitted to the Planning and 
Zoning Department.  Preliminary Plats shall be reviewed and approved by the 
applicable County departments and the Technical Review Committee (TRC) 
prior to consideration by the Planning Commission.   


 
The Preliminary Plat shall be prepared, signed, and sealed in accordance with 
these regulations and with applicable County specifications by a registered 
engineer, surveyor, and/or landscape architect who are is licensed under the laws 
of the State of Georgia.   
 
The Zoning Administrator shall have authority to reject the Preliminary Plat, if 
after study, he or she finds that it does not comply with these regulations.  If 
rejected, the Zoning Administrator shall provide Subdividers with a written 
statement specifying all the respects in which the plat fails to comply.  
Subdividers shall have the right to appeal to the Planning Commission from such 
rejections.   
 
The Preliminary Plat will be placed on a Planning Commission Agenda upon and 
approval from all the appropriate departments.  (Ordinance No. 99-09, 6/24/99; Ordinance No.  
2009-01 Amended 06/25/09)  


 
4-1.3. Plat Review Fee.  Upon the filing of any Preliminary Plat, a plat of plan review 


fee, established by the Board of Commissioners shall be assessed. There shall be 
no recording of any plat or plan until the plat of plan review fee is paid. (Amended 
6/11/82)     


 
5. Approval by Individual Agencies.  The Preliminary Plat shall be reviewed at 


the TRC Meeting.  The checklists/comments from the applicable department are 
due to the Planning and Zoning Department within three (3) calendar days 
after the TRC Meeting.  Should the plat contain deficiencies and require 
corrections, said corrections shall be made by the design professional to satisfy 
all requirements of the Preliminary Plat, the corrected copies of the plat shall 
be submitted to the Planning and Zoning Department for distribution to the 
applicable departments.  The applicable department shall have a maximum of 
14 calendar days from each resubmittal date to review and submit the 
checklists/comments to the Planning and Zoning Department.  The reviewing 
applicable departments shall recommend approval with or without conditions or 
shall require modification of the Preliminary Plat to the extent that each has 
jurisdiction.   


 
 
 
 
 







  12


 No Preliminary Plat shall be placed on the Planning Commission Agenda until it 
has been reviewed by the TRC and approved by the Zoning Administrator and 
the applicable departments.   recommended for Planning Commission approval 
by the Zoning Administrator unless the Zoning Administrator first obtains the 
approval of the County Engineer and the Health Department.    Percolation tests 
meeting Health Department requirements shall be furnished in three (3) copies. 
Approval will be on an individual lot basis. (Ordinance No. 99-09, 6/24/99) 
 


6. Approval by Planning Commission. 
 


a. The Preliminary Plat shall be placed on the Planning Commission Agenda 
for consideration when the Preliminary Plat has been reviewed by TRC 
and is approved by the Zoning Administrator and all of the appropriate  
applicable departments.  The applicant shall be notified by mail of the 
date, time, and place of the public meeting.  (Ordinance No.  2009-01 Amended 
06/25/09)  


 
b. The Planning Commission shall take action on Preliminary Plats in their 


regularly scheduled meetings.  , except fFor revisions to a recorded plat 
which, under the applicable provisions of Section 4-2.7, that requires 
approval of a new revised Preliminary Plat that substantially.  Revisions 
which changes a street and/or utility layout shown on a recorded plat shall 
be afforded a public hearing on the new Preliminary Plat.  The legal notice 
for which shall be advertised in at least one (1) of the newspaper in which 
is carried the legal advertisements of the County in such a manner as to 
give at least seven (7) calendar days notice of the public hearing from the 
date of issue. (Ordinance No. 2000-03; Ordinance No. 2009-01 Amended 06/25/09)   


 
c. Approval or disapproval of a Preliminary Plat by the Planning 


Commission shall be within 60 days of the date of their regularly 
scheduled meetings.  The Planning Commission shall have 60 calendar 
days to act on approve or deny a Preliminary Plat.  The 60 calendar days 
begins upon approval by all of the appropriate departments.  The 
Planning Commission may consider a Preliminary Plat at a Public 
Hearing or a Workshop/Public Meeting (a schedule of the Planning 
Commission’s monthly meetings is available through the Planning and 
Zoning Department.)  If after 60 calendar days from the date of the 
approval by all of the appropriate departments their regularly scheduled 
meetings, the Planning Commission fails to act, the Preliminary Plat shall 
be deemed approved; provided, however, that the Subdivider may waive 
this requirement in writing and consent to an extension of such period.  If 
approval of the Preliminary Plat is not recommended, the reasons 
therefore shall be supplied to the Subdivider.  The approval of a 
Preliminary Plat by the Planning Commission shall not be deemed to 
constitute an acceptance by Fayette County of any street or other real 
property shown upon the plat. (Ordinance No. 99-09, 6/24/99; Ordinance No.  2009-01 
Amended 06/25/09) 


 







  13


7. Approval of Engineering Construction Drawings Plans.  Upon approval of the 
Preliminary Plat by the Planning Commission, the Subdivider may submit 
construction plans shall be submitted to the Stormwater Management 
Department for distribution to the appropriate departments to the County 
Engineer and Fire Marshal for approval.  The plans must be prepared by an 
Engineer Registered in the State of Georgia and must bear his seal in accordance 
with the requirements of the Development Regulations. No pPermits for 
grading, or road construction, of the roads and/or any minimal improvements 
will shall not be given until the County Engineer, Stormwater Management 
Director, and the Fire Marshal have approved the construction plans as indicated 
by their signature and/or stamp.  Construction Plans and applicable permits 
shall expire upon expiration of the Preliminary Plat.  


 
Resubmitted Construction Plans, required as a result of an expired Preliminary 
Plat, shall be updated to comply with all applicable Federal, State, and Local 
regulations. 
  
Any plans requiring approval by a State and/or Federal agency shall be 
submitted directly to said agency by the Subdivider. (Ordinance No. 2000-03)   


  
8. Expiration.  Preliminary Plats shall include the following statement: “Approval 


of this Preliminary Plat shall expire eighteen (18) 24 months from the date of 
approval by the Planning Commission unless: 


 
 a)  A Final Plat for at least one (1) section phase has been approved; or  
 
b)  Street base construction for at least 50 percent of the total linear footage of 


all street(s) approved on the Preliminary Plat on at least one (1) section has 
been completed and inspected.”  


      
 Upon expiration of the Preliminary Plat, a new Preliminary Plat shall be 


submitted in accordance with all current regulations and requirements. 
 
(b) Final Plat or Minor Subdivision Plat 
 


1. Conformance. The Final Plat shall conform with the layout and phasing 
indicated on the Preliminary Plat.  If desired by the Subdivider, the Final Plat may 
constitute only that phase be developed and recorded in phases of the 
Preliminary Plat he proposes to record and develop at that time; provided that 
such portion each phase conforms with all requirements of these regulations and 
the Development Regulations.  (Ordinance No. 99-09, 6/24/99) 


 
 
 
 
 







  14


2. Filing the Final Plat or Minor Subdivision Plat. The A Final Plat shall not be 
submitted for review until the minimum improvements are completed subject to 
the provisions herein of Section 8 of these regulations.  The Final Plat shall be 
submitted in accordance with the schedule of application deadlines and meeting 
dates, a copy of which is available in the office of the Zoning Administrator 
Planning and Zoning Department.    Eight (8) blueline copies and one (1) mylar 
A Minor Subdivision Plat may be submitted at any time.  The number of 
copies required of the Final Plat or Minor Subdivision Plat is available in the 
Planning and Zoning Department. of the Final Plat shall be submitted to tThe 
Zoning Administrator shall for distribution distribute copies of the Final Plat or 
Minor Subdivision Plat to the reviewing appropriate departments.  The fFinal 
pPlat or Minor Subdivision Plat shall be deemed filed when it has been 
submitted by to the Zoning Administrator Planning and Zoning Department 
with a completed application (see Final Plat/Minor Subdivision Plat 
Application under Forms at www.fayettecountyga.gov). (Ordinance No. 99-09, 6/24/99) 


 
3. Approval by Appropriate Departments.   


 
A Final Plat shall be reviewed by TRC.  A checklist of required information 
from the applicable department is due to the Planning and Zoning Department 
within three (3) calendar days after the TRC Meeting.  Should the Final Plat 
require corrections, the corrected copies of the plat shall be submitted to the 
Planning and Zoning Department for distribution to the applicable 
departments.  The applicable departments shall have a maximum of 14 
calendar days from each resubmittal date to review and submit the 
checklists/comments to the Planning and Zoning Department. 
 
A Minor Subdivision Plat shall be reviewed by the applicable departments 
which shall have a maximum of 14 calendar days from the submittal date for 
the review.  Should the Minor Subdivision Plat require corrections, the 
corrected copies of the plat shall be submitted to the Planning and Zoning 
Department for distribution to the applicable departments.  The applicable 
departments shall have a maximum of 14 calendar days from each resubmittal 
date to review and submit the checklists/comments to the Planning and Zoning 
Department. 
 
When a corrected Final Plat or Minor Subdivision Plat is resubmitted, the 
applicable departments shall review the resubmitted Final Plat or Minor 
Subdivision Plat for compliance with all applicable statutes, codes, ordinances, 
and rules.  The review of a resubmitted Final Plat or Minor Subdivision Plat shall 
not be limited to only those reasons identified from a previous review. 
 
 
 
 
 







  15


Once the corrected copies have been approved by all applicable departments, 
one (1) paper vellum or mylar shall be submitted to the Planning and Zoning 
Department.  Each applicable department shall be notified that the paper 
vellum or mylar is available for review in the Planning and Zoning 
Department.  The paper vellum or mylar shall be available in the Planning and 
Zoning Department for a total of 14 calendar days to be reviewed and/or signed 
by the applicable departments.   
 
Said appropriate departments shall approve, with or without modification, or 
disapprove the Final Plat, to the extent to which each has jurisdiction within 14 
calendar days from the submittal and/or resubmittal of the Final Plat.    (Ordinance No. 
99-09, 6/24/99; Ordinance No.  2009-01 Amended 06/25/09) 


  
 Approval by Zoning Administrator.  Approval or disapproval of the Final Plat 


shall be conveyed by the Zoning Administrator to the Subdivider within ten (10) 
business days following the scheduled plat review meeting.  If the Final Plat is 
disapproved, the reasons therefore shall be stated on the plat checklist.  The 
approval of a Final Plat shall not be deemed to constitute an acceptance by 
Fayette County of any street or other real property shown upon the plat.  (Ordinance 
No. 99-09, 6/24/99) 


 
a. Revisions to a recorded plat which, under the provisions 4-2.8, require 


approval of new Preliminary and Final Plats, shall be afforded a public 
hearing before the Planning Commission, the legal notice for which shall 
be advertised in at least one (1) issue of the newspaper in which is carried 
the legal advertisements of the County, and shall provide at least seven (7) 
days notice of the public hearing from the date of issue.   


 
a.  Each approved Final Plat shall include thereon the following statements: 


 
1.  “Fayette County does not accept the ownership, maintenance 


or responsibility for any drainage easement or overall drainage 
plan, or the lack of one, indicated by this plat.”  (Amended 7/9/81) 


(NOTE:  RELOCATE THE FOLLOWING TO SECTION 8-504) 
 


2.  Open.(Amended 7/12/90) 
 


4. Approval by the Planning Commission.   (Ordinance No.  2009-01 Adopted 06/25/09) 


 
a. The Final Plat or Minor Subdivision Plat shall be placed on the Planning 


Commission Agenda for consideration when the Final Plat or Minor 
Subdivision Plat is approved by all of the appropriate departments. The 
applicant shall be notified by mail of the date, time, and place of the 
public meeting. No Final Plat or Minor Subdivision Plat shall be 
recorded with the Clerk of Superior Court of Fayette County, Georgia, 
without said plat having first been submitted to and approved by the 
Planning Commission.  (Ordinance No.  2009-01 Adopted 06/25/09) 


 







  16


b. Approval or disapproval of a Final Plat by the Planning Commission shall 
be within 60 days of the date of their regularly scheduled meetings.   The 
Planning Commission shall have 60 calendar days to approve or deny a 
Final Plat or Minor Subdivision Plat.  The 60 calendar days begins 
upon approval by all of the appropriate departments.  The Planning 
Commission may consider a Final Plat or Minor Subdivision Plat at a 
Public Hearing or a Workshop/Public Meeting. If after 60 days from the 
date of their regularly scheduled meetings, the Planning Commission fails 
to act, the Preliminary Plat shall be deemed approved; provided, however, 
that the Subdivider may waive this requirement in writing and consent to 
an extension of such period.  If approval of the Final Plat or Minor 
Subdivision Plat is not recommended, the reasons therefore shall be 
supplied to the Subdivider (Ordinance No.  2009-01 Adopted 06/25/09) 


 
c. The Secretary to the Planning Commission shall endorse the plat Final 


Plat or Minor Subdivision Plat upon approval by the Planning 
Commission. (Ordinance No.  2009-01 Adopted 06/25/09) 


 
5. Additional Requirements for Final Plat or Minor Subdivision Plat (if 


applicable) for approval prior to Recordations. In addition to the above 
requirements, all documents, including, but not limited to:  reports, 
environmental permits and/or variances (required for subdivision construction), 
bonds, Irrevocable Letters-of-Credit, as-built drawings, and stormwater 
operation and maintenance plans and agreements, referenced in the 
Development Regulations the following documents must shall be submitted to 
the noted authorities applicable departments. (Amended 7/12/90)   


 
1. A warranty deed for the subdivision or portion of the 


subdivision covered by the Final Plat, shall be submitted to the 
Zoning Administrator. (Amended 7/12/90) 


 
 2. A performance bond or irrevocable Letter-of-Credit to cover 


any asphalt pavement which the Subdivider will be completing 
at a later date, shall be posted with the County Engineer in 
accordance with Section 8 of these regulations. (Amended 7/12/90; 
Ordinance No. 2000-03) 


 
3 A performance bond or irrevocable Letter-of-Credit to cover 


any grassing or other erosion control items shall be posted with 
the County Engineer in accordance with Section 8 of these 
regulations. 


 
4. A core sample report must be submitted to the County 


Engineer for approval in accordance with the Development 
Regulations. 


 







  17


5. As-built plans of all storm sewer pipes and detention ponds 
must be submitted to the County Engineer for approval in 
accordance with the Development Regulations. 


 
6. As-built plans of the water lines and a cost letter must be 


submitted to the Water System for approval. 
 
7. A street light petition must be submitted to the County 


Engineer to establish a street light district, if appropriate. 
 
8.  One (1) digital copy of the approved Final Plat or Minor 


Subdivision Plat in a format that is compatible with Fayette 
County’s Geographic Information System must be submitted to 
the Engineering Department Planning and Zoning 
Department for distribution to the appropriate departments.  
Submittal will not be accepted via an email.  (Ordinance No. 2001-12)   


 
4-2.6 Removal.  After a subdivision has been recorded, the Subdivider may petition 


the County Commission for permission to remove the subdivision plat from the 
land records of Fayette County.  The County Commission may permit such 
removal providing that no lot in the subdivision has been sold. Upon giving its 
permission for such removal, the County Commission shall release the bonds 
and/or cash posted by the Subdivider pursuant to the provisions of Section 8. 


 
6. Final Plat or Minor Subdivision Plat Expiration.  A Final Plat or Minor 


Subdivision Plat shall expire 90 calendar days after the date of approval by the 
Planning Commission if the Final Plat or Minor Subdivision Plat has not been 
recorded by the Subdivider into the Fayette County Clerk of Superior Court 
records.   Once a Final Plat or Minor Subdivision Plat has expired, it and any 
Maintenance Bond and/or Irrevocable Letter-of-Credit (see Section 8-508) are 
void and a new Final Plat or Minor Subdivision Plat and  Maintenance Bond 
and/or Irrevocable Letter-of-Credit shall be submitted.  The fee for the review 
and approval process shall be 50 percent of the original Final Plat or Minor 
Subdivision Plat fee.  


 
7. Revision to a Recorded Final Plat.  In addition, a A revision to a recorded 


Final Plat shall show the name, phase (if any), date of the recorded subdivision 
plat being revised, and the exact citation with regard to the Clerk of Superior 
Court records and the book and page number wherein said plat is recorded.  See 
Section 8-504. for requirements to be indicated on the Revised Final Plat, as 
applicable.  In addition, a Proposed proposed revisions to a recorded Final Plat 
which that substantially changes in any way the street and/or utility layout, 
unless initiated by Fayette County, shall be submitted as require a revised 
Preliminary Plat in accordance with Section 4-1 8-503 of these regulations.  
(Ordinance No.  2009-01 Amended 06/25/09) 


 
Proposed revisions to a Recorded Final Plat of any existing residential or 
agricultural-residential subdivisions which add property to, increases the number 







  18


of platted lots, or changes the principal use on a lot(s) within a residential 
subdivision will be considered in public hearings before the Planning 
Commission and the Board of Commissioners.  The legal notice shall be 
advertised at least seven (7) calendar days prior to the public hearing before the 
Planning Commission, but not more than forty-five (45) 45 calendar days, nor 
less than 15 calendar days prior to the public hearing before the Board of 
Commissioners.  In the event that the time-frames above cannot be met with one 
(1) advertisement, the notice shall be published twice.   
 
As applicable, aA revised Final Plat shall comply with the revised Preliminary 
Plat and shall be approved by the Planning Commission. (Amended 10/26/95; Ordinance No.  
2009-01 Amended 06/25/09) 


 
8. Revisions to a Recorded Minor Subdivision Plat.  A revision to a recorded 


Minor Subdivision Plat shall show the name, phase (if any), date of the 
recorded subdivision plat being revised, and the exact citation with regard to 
the Clerk of Superior Court records and the book and page number wherein 
said plat is recorded.  See Section 8-504. for requirements to be indicated on 
the revised Minor Subdivision Plat, as applicable.   


 
Proposed revisions to a Recorded Minor Subdivision Plat of any existing 
residential or agricultural-residential subdivisions which add property to, 
increases the number of platted lots, or changes the principal use on a lot(s)  
will be considered in public hearings before the Planning Commission and the 
Board of Commissioners.  The legal notice shall be advertised at least seven (7) 
calendar days prior to the public hearing before the Planning Commission, but 
not more than 45 calendar days, nor less than 15 calendar days prior to the 
public hearing before the Board of Commissioners.  In the event that the time-
frames above cannot be met with one (1) advertisement, the notice shall be 
published twice.   


 
9. Minor Revisions to a Recorded Final Plat or Minor Subdivision Plat.  A minor 


revision to a recorded Final Plat or Minor Subdivision Plat such as the 
combination of lots, minor shifts to lot lines, corrections of errors and/or 
establishment or modification of an easement that does not increase the 
number of lots, change the use, alter the road or utility layout, or change the 
outer boundary of the Final Plat or Minor Subdivision Plat will be reviewed by 
the Zoning Administrator.  Based on the nature of the minor revision, the 
Zoning Administrator shall contact the applicable departments for their input.  
The signature of the Zoning Administrator and Environmental Health 
Specialist shall be required for approval of the minor revision prior to 
recording.  See Section 8-504 for requirements to be indicated on the minor 
revision of a Final Plat or the minor revision of a Minor Subdivision Plat, as 
applicable. 


 
10. Distribution Schedule. Requirements After the Recordation of an Approved 


Final Plat or Minor Subdivision Plat. 
 







  19


11. Open. (Ordinance No.  2009-01 Amended 06/25/09) 


After the Final Plat or Minor Subdivision Plat has been recorded, no building 
permits shall be issued until the Subdivider has furnished the required number 
of recorded copies of the Final Plat or Minor Subdivision Plat and a recorded 
Warranty Deed for any right-of-way being donated to the County , and one (1)  
copy of the approved Final Plat, in a readily available media, except emails, 
in a format that is compatible with Fayette County’s Geographic 
Information System to the Planning and Zoning Department.  The Planning 
and Zoning Department will be responsible for distributing the materials copies 
of the Final Plat to the appropriate departments.  (Ordinance No.  2009-01 Amended 06/25/09) 


 
12. Building Permit.  No permit for the construction of any building on any lot of a 


proposed subdivision or phase thereof shall be issued unless the Final Plat or 
Minor Subdivision Plat of the proposed subdivision has been recorded in the 
office of the Clerk of Superior Court of Fayette County, Georgia, and unless the 
Minimum Site Improvements, as prescribed in this Ordinance, have been made 
and such improvements have been inspected and approved by the County 
Engineer applicable departments.  Upon recordation of the Final Plat or Minor 
Subdivision Plat, the required number of recorded copies, a recorded copy of a 
Warranty Deed for any right-of-way dedicated to the County, and the digital 
media copy of the approved Final Plat or Minor Subdivision Plat shall be 
submitted to the Planning and Zoning Department prior to the issuance of any 
building permits.   Lots within a nonresidential subdivision shall also require 
an approved Site Plan, as applicable, for the issuance of a building permit.    
(Ordinance No. 2000-03) 


 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 


SECTION 5 
 
Sec. 8-504.  THE SUBDIVISION PLAT 







  20


 
 


(a) The Preliminary Plat.  The Preliminary Plat shall contain all the following 
requirements and certification statements, and any additional information 
required to address any State and/or Federal requirements (see Preliminary 
Plat Checklist under Forms at www.fayettecountyga.gov).    


 
 The following shall be indicated on the Preliminary Plat: 
 


 1. The title block shall state: “Preliminary Plat of ……… Subdivision”, 
County, State, land lot(s), and  district(s). 


 
 2. Name, address, telephone number, fax number of the engineer, 


surveyor, and/or landscape architect including seal, signature, and 
Georgia registration number. 


  
 3. Name, address, telephone number, fax number of the owner and/or 


developer. 
 
 4. Indicate date of plat preparation; provide scale of drawing (not to 


exceed 1 in. = 100 feet, stated and shown graphically. 
 


 5. Provide legend of all abbreviations. 
 
 6. Provide an index of sheets if more than one (1) sheet is provided. 
 
 7. Provide a north arrow (to state plane grid north) and vicinity map of 


such a scale that the subdivision may be readily located and identified 
within the County.   


 
 8. Show all land lot lines; land district lines; city and/or county boundaries 


intersecting or adjacent to the subject property. 
 
 9. Show exterior property lines with bearings and distances of subject 


property.  Provide a matching Warranty Deed and legal description of 
property (if applicable.) 


 
10. Provide zoning district and property owner(s) name and/or subdivision 


name of all adjacent properties. 
 
11. Show location, purpose, and width of any easement of record.  Provide a 


note if there are no existing easements associated with the property. 
 
12. Within the general notes, indicate the zoning district; minimum lot size; 


front, side, and rear setbacks;  minimum floor area; minimum lot width 
at the building line; total acreage of subject property; and total number 
of lots. 







  21


 
13. Provide rezoning information, including petition number, date of 


approval, and exact wording of any rezoning conditions (if applicable); 
and any approved variances including petition number and date of 
approval (if applicable.)  


 
14. All applicable zoning regulations shall be indicated on the Preliminary 


Plat.  Show front, side, and rear setback lines as dashed lines.  Indicate 
minimum lot width at the front building line on each individual lot or in 
a legend. 


 
15. Provide the area of each lot and contiguous area (if applicable, see 


Section 6) to the 1/100th acre; label the lot numbers; and  show the 
dimensions of all lot lines.  


 
16. Indicate how lots will be served by water and sewage disposal.  Indicate 


the proposed layout of waterlines, fire hydrants, and sewer lines (if 
applicable.)  If County water is not available, indicate how subdivision 
will be served (i.e., individual well/septic tank.) 


 
17. Indicate all existing structures and buildings and label as “to remain” 


or “to be removed”.  Structures and buildings that will remain must be 
shown on individual lots and meet all applicable zoning requirements.  
Also indicate any improvements such as existing railroads, sewers, 
bridges, culverts, drain pipes, water mains, water wells, parks, public 
open spaces, etc.  Provide a note if there are no existing structures, 
buildings, or improvements on the subject property.  


 
18. Indicate the location of a cemetery (if applicable, see Fayette County 


Code, Chapter 12, Article VII. Cemeteries, Burial Grounds, Human 
Remains, and Burial Objects.)  


 
19. The plat shall show all parcels of land to be dedicated to the County for 


public use. 
 
20. Indicate the boundaries and enhancement areas for any proposed 


common areas including signage.  Label as “Common Area – Not a 
Building Lot” and/or “Signage.” 


   
21. Indicate the boundaries and area to 1/100th acre for any proposed 


Developed Residential Recreational/Amenity Areas.  Label recreation 
areas “Not a Residential Building Lot, For Recreational Purposes 
Only.” 


22. Show all existing and/or proposed streets on and/or adjacent to property.  
Label right-of-way widths.  Label proposed street names.  Provide right-
of-way dedication, as needed. 


 







  22


23. Corner Lots – Fillet (20 foot radius) or chamfer corner property lines at 
street intersections. 


 
24. Street Length – Indicate the length of each street in the subdivision. 
 
25. Entrances – Subdivision entrances shall meet sight distance 


requirements and minimum distance between intersection requirements 
(both sides of street.)  Provide appropriate data on the plat  
(Development Regulations – Article III.) 


 
26. Indicate any proposed golf cart, bicycle, or pedestrian circulation 


systems, including sidewalks, crosswalks, multi-use paths, etc. 
 


5-1.2 North Point General Requirements.  The plat shall show a true north arrow 
point, be plotted at a standard engineering scale (minimum not to exceed scale 
1” equals 200 feet), and indicate the total acreage of the site and total number of 
residential lots created.   


 
27. Show existing (dashed) and proposed (solid) contour at ten (10) two (2) 


foot intervals of elevation and be based upon North American Datum 
NAD 1983 State Plane Georgia West.  based upon MEAN SEAL LEVEL 
(M.S.L.) datum.  Accuracy shall be within 1/2 contour intervals.   


 
5-1.4 Existing Features. The plat shall show the location and names of existing and 


platted property lines, streets, water courses, railroads, public and private rights-
of-way, sewers, bridges, culverts, drain pipes, water mains, public utility 
easements, parks, other public open spaces, and names of adjoining property 
owners or subdivisions.   


 
5-1.5 Dedications and Reservations. The plat shall show all parcels of land to be 


dedicated or reserved for public use including the names, locations, and widths of 
all proposed streets, parks and other public spaces.   


 
5-1.6 Lot Lines. The plat shall show all proposed lot lines, lot and block identifications, 


and building setback lines.   
 
5-1.7 Vicinity Map. The plat shall show a vicinity map of such a scale that the 


subdivision may be readily located and identified within the County.  
 
 
 
 


28. Delineate and label all state waters requiring  watershed protection 
buffers and setbacks within the subdivision.  Delineate and label all state 
waters adjacent to the subdivision where any watershed buffers and/or 
setbacks extend into the subdivision property.  Provide a note if there are 







  23


no state waters requiring a buffer.  Label as  “Watershed Protection 
Buffer,” and “Watershed Protection Setback.” 


 
29. Show location of all specimen trees within 100 feet of the centerline of 


all right-of-ways, stormwater management structures, and utility and 
drainage easements. 


 
30. Identify any specimen trees designated for removal.  Include the tree size 


(DBH), species (common name) and justification for removal.  
 


31. Delineate and label each drainage basin within the project boundaries.  
Provide drainage areas and existing and proposed CN values.  Show 
offsite area and peak flow (Q10 and Q100) for drainage areas passing 
through site. 


 
32. Delineate and label areas to be used for stormwater management 


consistent with the hydrologic data provided above. For each drainage 
basin, provide a narrative description of how water quality, stream 
channel protection, and flood protection criteria will be satisfied or why 
any exemptions may apply.   


 
33. Delineate any base flood elevations as required in the Floodplain 


Management Ordinance. For any streams with 100 acres or greater 
drainage area provide the future-conditions flood elevations.  Provide a 
note if there is no floodplain on the property.  Reference the FIRM panel 
number and date.   


 
34. Delineate any groundwater recharge areas as required in the 


Groundwater Area Protection Ordinance.  Provide a note if there is no 
groundwater recharge areas on the property. 


 
35. Delineate all jurisdictional wetlands.  The wetland delineation shall be 


made following the procedures established by the U.S. Army Corps of 
Engineers.   


 
36. Soils.  The plat shall indicate and delineate the soil classifications of soils 


in the areas of across the property proposed for the placement of on-site 
sewage management systems.  The soil classification work shall be done 
following the procedures for Level III soil surveys established in the 
Georgia Department of Human Resources’ current Manual for On-Site 
Sewage Management Systems.   The requirements for a Soil Classifier 
are located in said manual.   


 
37. Statements and/or Certifications.  Provide the following statements 


and/or certifications, if applicable: 
 







  24


a. “Approval of this Preliminary Plat shall expire 24 months from 
the date of approval by the Planning Commission unless a Final 
Plat for at least one (1) phase has been approved; or street base 
construction for at least 50 percent of the total linear footage of 
all street(s) approved on the Preliminary Plat .”  


   
b. “This Preliminary Plat has been reviewed and approved by the 


Planning Commission on ___/    /___.” 
 


c. “Each residential building lot has a minimum contiguous area 
that is free and clear of zoning setbacks, watershed protection 
buffers and setbacks, jurisdictional wetlands, and easements of 
any kind.”  Indicate the contiguous area (in acres) on each 
individual lot or in a legend.” 


 
d. WETLAND DELINEATION   


 
 


I, ___________________________ of ___________________________  
                       name                                                                              organization 


do hereby certify that I have field inspected the property know as  
______________________ on ___________ and determined that the property 
           subdivision name                                         date 


 contains  does not contain jurisdictional wetlands as defined by the U.S. 
Army Corps of Engineers. 
 
____________________________________ 
Signature of Wetland Delineator 
 
____________________________________ 
Company Address & Telephone 


 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 


e. SOIL CLASSIFICATION DELINEATION 
 
 


I, ______________________ do hereby certify that the Level III soil  







  25


                             name     


survey information provided on this plat was performed by 
______________________ in accordance with the procedures specified in  
                 company name  
the Georgia Department of Human Resources’ current Manual for On-Site 
Sewage Management Systems.   
 
_______________________________          ____________________________ 
Signature of Soil Classifier                                 Georgia DHR Soil Classifier, Professional  
    Geologist, or Professional Engineer 
    Registration No. 


Registration Numbers/License Numbers 
 
 
 
____________________________________ 
Company Address & Telephone 


 
 
5-1.11 Checklist.  In addition to the above items, the Preliminary Plat shall satisfy all the 


requirements listed on the Fayette County Preliminary Plat Checklist, available in 
the Planning and Zoning Department.   


 
38. Completeness.  If any of the above facts are omitted or misrepresented on 


the plat, the Zoning Administrator may refuse to review the plat and shall 
return the plat to the Subdivider to be completed or revised.  (Ordinance No.  
2009-01 Amended 06/25/09) 


 
(b) The Final Plat. The Final Plat shall contain all of the following requirements 


and certification statements and any additional information required to address 
any State and/or Federal requirements (see Final Plat Checklist under Forms 
at www.fayettecountyga.gov). 


 
 Sheet Design. The Final Plat and/or a revision to a recorded Final Plat shall 


conform in general with the Preliminary Plat and requirements; therefore, as set 
forth in these regulations and shall be drawn in permanent ink on one (1) or more 
sheets of linen tracing cloth or reproducible plastic measuring seventeen (17) 17 
inches by twenty-two (22) 22 inches. as per plat book.  When two (2) or more 
sheets are used, a key map shall be shown with each sheet. There shall be a two 
(2) inch margin on the left end of the plat and one-half (1/2) inch margin on the 
remaining three (3) sides. 


 
 
 
 


A revision to a recorded plat shall be drawn in permanent ink on a sheet of linen 
tracing cloth or reproducible plastic measuring a minimum of ten (10) inches by 
fourteen (14) 14 inches, and if necessary, a maximum of seventeen (17) 17 by 
twenty-two (22) 22  inches. 







  26


 
 The following shall be indicated on the Final Plat: 
 


 1. The title block shall state:  “Final Plat of …….”  A revision to a Final 
Plat must state “Revised Final Plat of ………..”; purpose and date of 
revision and date of revision; and date, plat book, and page number of 
the previously recorded Final Plat. 


 
 2. The title block shall show the name of the proposed subdivision, County, 


State, land lot(s), and district(s). 
 
 3. Name, address, telephone number, fax number of the engineer, 


surveyor, and/or landscape architect including seal, signature, and 
Georgia registration number. 


  
 4. Name, address, telephone number, fax number of the owner and/or 


developer. 
 
 5. Indicate date of plat preparation; provide scale of drawing (not to 


exceed 1 in. = 100 feet, stated and shown graphically.  The Zoning 
Administrator may approve a different scale. 


 
 6. Provide legend of all abbreviations. 
 
 7. Provide an index of sheets if more than one (1) sheet is provided. 
 
 8. Provide a north arrow (to state plane grid north) and vicinity map of 


such a scale that the subdivision may be readily located and identified 
within the County.   


 
 9. Show all land lot lines; land district lines; and city and/or county 


boundaries intersecting or adjacent to the subject property. 
 
10. Show property lines with bearings and distances of the subject property.  


Provide a matching Warranty Deed and legal description of property (if 
applicable.) 


 
11. Provide zoning district and property owner(s) name and/or subdivision 


name of all adjacent properties. 
 
12. Show location, purpose, width and/or dimensions of any easement of 


record and/or easements within the subdivision.  Provide a note if there 
are no recorded easements found associated with the property. 


 
13. Within the general notes, indicate the zoning district; minimum lot size; 


front, side, and rear setbacks; minimum floor area; minimum lot width 
at the building line; total acreage of subject property; and total number 
of lots. 







  27


 
14. Provide rezoning information, including petition number, date of 


approval, and exact wording of any rezoning conditions (if applicable); 
and any approved variances including petition number and date of 
approval (if applicable.)  


 
15. Provide information regarding the Preliminary Plat, including date of 


approval by the Planning Commission and exact wording of any related 
conditions of approval. 


 
16. All applicable zoning regulations shall be indicated on the Final Plat.  


Show front, side, and rear setback lines as dashed lines.  Indicate 
minimum lot width at the front building line. 


 
17. Provide the area of each lot and the contiguous area (if applicable, see 


Section 6) to the 1/100th acre; label the lot numbers; label street 
addresses; show the bearings and distances of all lot lines; and identify 
the parent tract, if applicable. 


 
18. Indicate how lots will be served by water and sewage disposal.  Indicate 


the location of fire hydrants (if applicable.)  If County water is not 
available, indicate how subdivision will be served (i.e., individual 
well/septic tank.) 


 
19. Indicate all existing structures and buildings and label as “to remain” 


or “to be removed”.  Structures and buildings that will remain must be 
shown on individual lots and meet all applicable zoning requirements.  
Also indicate any improvements such as existing railroads, sewers, 
bridges, culverts, drain pipes, water mains, water wells, parks, public 
open spaces, etc.  Provide a note if there are no existing structures, 
buildings, or improvements on the subject property. 


  
20. Indicate the location of a cemetery (if applicable, see Fayette County 


Code,  Chapter 12, Article VII. Cemeteries, Burial Grounds, Human 
Remains, and Burial Objects.)  


 
21. The plat shall show all parcels of land to be dedicated to any Local, 


State, or Federal governmental agency for public purpose (i.e. – public 
parks, fire stations, public schools, etc.)  


 
22. Indicate the boundaries and area to 1/100th acre for any common areas 


including signage.  Label as “Common Area – Not a Building Lot” or 
“Signage.” 


 
23. Indicate the boundaries and area for any Developed Residential 


Recreational/Amenity Areas. Label recreation areas “Not a Residential 
Building Lot, For Recreational Purposes Only.” 


 







  28


24. Show all existing streets on and/or adjacent to property.  Label right-of-
way widths.  Label  street names.  Provide right-of-way dedication, as 
needed.  


 
25. Georgia Plat Act – Show the direction and distance from a point of 


reference to a point on the boundary of the survey.  The point of 
reference shall be an established, monumented position that can be 
identified or relocated from maps, plats, and other documents on public 
record. 


 
26. Georgia Plat Act – State the type of equipment used to obtain the linear 


and angular measurements used in preparation of the plat. 
 
27. Surveying – Provide line and curve data for all right-of-way, parcel/lot 


boundaries, and easements.  Line data shall include bearing and length.  
Curve data shall include the arc length, radius, chord length, and chord 
bearing. 


 
28. Surveying – Street centerline curve data shall include the deflection 


angle (delta), radius, length, and tangent. 
 
29. Surveying – Lengths shall be expressed to the nearest one-hundredth 


(1/100th) of a foot.  Angles shall be shown to the nearest second.  The 
error of closure shall not exceed third order accuracy (one [1] in 
10,000).  The Final Plat shall contain the location, bearing, and length of 
every street line, lot line, boundary line, and easement line, whether 
curved or straight. All dimensions shall be shown in feet and decimals to 
the nearest one-hundredth (1/100th) of a foot, and all angles shall be 
shown to the nearest minute second. The error of closure shall not exceed 
third order accuracy require accuracy of at least one (1) in five thousand 
(5000) 10,000. 


 
30. Corner Lots – Fillet (20-foot radius) or chamfer corner property lines at 


street intersections. 
 
31. Street Length – Indicate the length of each street in the subdivision. 
 
 
32. Indicate any proposed golf cart, bicycle, or pedestrian circulation 


systems, including sidewalks, crosswalks, multi-use paths, etc. 
 
33. Delineate and label all stormwater easements as required in Article VIII 


of the Development Regulations. 
 
34. Delineate and label all state waters requiring watershed protection 


buffers and setbacks within the subdivision.  Delineate and label all state 
waters adjacent to the subdivision where any watershed buffers and/or 







  29


setbacks extend into the subdivision property.  Provide a note if there are 
no state waters requiring a buffer.  Label as  “Watershed Protection 
Buffer,” and “Watershed Protection Setback.”   


 
35. Delineate and label all base flood elevations, both natural and man-


made.  Reference the source(s) of any flood hazard data shown on the 
Final Plat.   


 
36. Establish a minimum finished floor elevation (MFFE) as required in the 


Floodplain Management Ordinance.  
 
37. Delineate all jurisdictional wetlands.  Identify the source of the wetland 


delineation. 
   
38. Identify and label all stormwater management control structures (inlets, 


pipes, headwalls, BMPs, etc.) within the project.  The nomenclature 
should match that used for the project’s Inspection and Maintenance 
Agreement for Stormwater Management Controls.  Stormwater controls 
shall be on common property.  


 
39. Delineate any groundwater recharge areas as required in the 


Groundwater Area Protection Ordinance.  Provide a note if there is no 
groundwater recharge areas on the property.  


 
The Final Plat shall show all jurisdictional wetlands on the subject properties and 
identify the source of the wetland delineation.   
 
40. The Final Plat shall show the accurate location, material, and description 


of all monuments. A permanent master bench mark shall be established 
within the site. by transfer of levels, not less than third order accuracy, 
from the nearest approved bench mark of known elevation (M.S.L.) 
showing its location on the Final Plat, and recording its elevation on the 
Final Plat to the nearest one-hundredth (1/100) of a foot.  The monuments 
shall be an iron rod or pipe of not less than one half inch in diameter 
and not less than 18 inches long and driven to a minimum depth of 12 
inches.    


  
50. Statements and/or Certificates.  Provide the following statements and/or 


certificates, if applicable: 
 


a. “Each residential building lot has a minimum contiguous area 
that is free and clear of zoning setbacks, watershed protection 
buffers and setbacks, jurisdictional wetlands, and easements of 
any kind.”  Indicate the contiguous area on each individual lot 
or in a legend. 


 
b. Georgia Plat Act – Show the closure precision of the field survey.  


“The field data upon which this map or plat is based has a 







  30


closure precision of one (1) foot in ______ feet, and an angular 
error of_______per angle point, and was adjusted using 
_________rule.” 


 
c. Georgia Plat Act – Show the closure precision of the data shown 


on the plat.    “This map or plat has been calculated for closure 
and is found to be accurate within one (1) foot  in__    ____feet.” 


 
d. “Fayette County does not accept the ownership, maintenance or 


responsibility for any drainage easement or overall drainage 
plan, or the lack of one, indicated by this plat.”   


 
e. “As per Flood Insurance Rate Map Number              dated  /  /  , 


this site (does or does not) lie within a flood hazard zone.” 
 
 


f. STORMWATER MANAGEMENT INSPECTION AND 
 MAINTENANCE 


 
The property conveyed herein is subject to the restrictive 
covenants of the Homeowners Association and an Inspection 
and Maintenance Agreement for Stormwater Management 
Controls recorded in Deed Book                , Page         .  
Failure to satisfy the inspection and maintenance 
requirements of the above-referenced agreement may result in 
enforcement action by the County, including but not limited 
to, judgment liens against the property owners and/or 
Homeowners Association.  The inspection and maintenance 
agreement is recorded with the Clerk of Courts.  A copy of the 
agreement is available at the Fayette County Stormwater 
Management Department.   


 
 
 
 
 


g. WETLANDS   
 


Wetlands shown on this plat are under the jurisdiction of the U.S. 
Army Corps of Engineers.  Property owners may be subject to 
penalty by law for disturbance to these wetland areas without 
proper authorization. (Added 3/23/2006)  


 
h. OWNER’S CERTIFCATE 


 
 We, the undersigned owner(s) and/or mortgagee(s) of the 


____________________________________Subdivision, hereby 
offer to dedicate and/or reserve for public use the rights-of-way for 







  31


public use, and/or reserve for public use the easements and other 
ground shown on this plat. 


 
 We, the undersigned owner(s), understand this Final Plat and any 


Maintenance Bond and/or Irrevocable Letter-of-Credit shall 
expire and thus become void if the Final Plat is not recorded into 
the Fayette County Clerk of Superior Court records within 90 
calendar days (__/__/____) of the date of approval by the 
Planning Commission.   


 
 Owner  Date Mortgagee                   Date 
 ___________________         ________      __________________          ______ 
 ___________________         ________      __________________          ______ 
 (Ordinance No. 2000-03) 


 
 


i. SURVEYOR’S CERTIFICATE 
 


I hereby certify that this plat is true and correct and was prepared 
from an actual survey of the property by me or under my 
supervision; that all monuments and infrastructure shown hereon 
actually exist or are marked as “future”; and their location, size, 
type and material are correctly shown.   


 
By:  ____________________________________________________________ 
        GA Registered Land Surveyor – Signature and Number                Date 


        Registration/License Number 
 


 
 
 
 
 
 
 


j. ENGINEER’S CERTIFICATE 
 


I hereby certify that accepted engineering practices and design 
methods were used to establish the layout of this development; that 
the streets, drainage structures and other design features have been 
constructed according to the development’s approved Construction 
Drawings Plans; and that all applicable requirements of Fayette 
County’s Development Regulations and Subdivision Regulations 
have been fully complied with.   


 
 
 
By:  ____________________________________________________________ 







  32


        GA Professional Engineer –              Date 
        Signature and Registration/License Number  


         (Amended 3/23/06) 
 
 


k. WETLAND DELINEATOR’S CERTIFICATE 
 
 


I, ___________________________ of ___________________________  
                       Name                                                                             Organization 
do hereby certify that I have field inspected the property know as  
______________________ on ___________ and determined that the property 
           Subdivision Name                                        Date 


� contains � does not contain jurisdictional wetlands as defined by the U.S. 
Army Corps of Engineers. 
 
 
 
____________________________________ 
Signature of Wetland Delineator 
 
 
____________________________________ 
Company Address & Telephone 
 


 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 


l. LEVEL III SOIL SURVEY 
 
I, ______________________ do hereby certify that the Level III Soil  
                             Name     


Survey information provided on this plat the Soil Map was performed by 
______________________ in accordance with the procedures specified in  
                 Company Name  
the Georgia Department of Human Resources’ current Manual for On-Site 
Sewage Management Systems.   
 
_______________________________          ____________________________ 
Signature of Soil Classifier                                 Georgia DHR Soil Classifier, Professional  
    Geologist, or Professional Engineer 
    Registration No. 







  33


Registration Numbers/License Numbers 
 
 
 
____________________________________ 
Company Address & Telephone 


 
 


m. PRELIMINARY PLAT CERTIFICATE 
 


I hereby certify that all the applicable requirements of the Fayette County 
Subdivision Regulations relative to the preparation and submission of a 
preliminary plat have been fully complied with. 


 
 
   ____________________________________________             ______________ 
        GA Registered Land Surveyor/Professional Engineer/      Date 
                Landscape Architect - Signature and 
                Registration/License Number 
 
 


n. Approvals. The following spaces shall be provided (as shown in 
Figure 1) on the Final Plat in the form listed below for approval by 
all agencies having jurisdiction: 


 
 Approved by Department of Public Fayette County Environmental Health 


Department, Fayette County, Georgia.  (Amended 6/23/94) 
  
 
 Date ____________________ Signed ______________________________ 
                Environmental Health Specialist 
  


 
 
 Approved by Fayette County Stormwater Management Department, Fayette 


County, Georgia. 
 
 
 Date _____________________  Signed _______________________________ 
                                                                                       Stormwater Management 
 
 
 Approved by the Fayette County Engineer County Engineer of Fayette County. 


All as-builts construction plans have been approved.  (Amended 8/27/87) 
 
 
 Date ____________________ Signed ______________________________ 
                 County Engineer 







  34


  
 
 Approved by the Fayette County Planning Commission on:  _______________     


(Amended 6/23/94) 
 
 
 Date ____________________ Signed ______________________________ 
                                     Secretary   
 


 
Approved by the Fayette County Zoning Administrator. (Amended 6/23/94) 


 
 
 Date ____________________ Signed ______________________________ 
                  Zoning Administrator 
 
  


Approved by Fayette County Fire Marshal. All fire hydrant(s) located as shown. 
(Amended 6/23/94) 


 
 
 Date ____________________ Signed ______________________________ 
                 Fire Marshal 


 
 


 
 Drainage Easement/Overall Drainage.  Each approved Final Plat shall include 


thereon the following statement: 
 
 “Fayette County does not accept the ownership, maintenance or responsibility for 


any drainage easement or overall drainage plan, or the lack of one, indicated by 
this plat.” 


 
 
 


o. Dedication of Right-of-Way.  Each approved Final Plat 
shall include thereon the following statement(s), as 
applicable: 


 
(1) All that property contained within the right-of-way 


of (insert name of new street[s] within the 
subdivision), said roads having at least a minimum 
of (fill in) foot right-of-way as indicated hereon, 
are hereby deeded to Fayette County, a political 
subdivision of the State of Georgia, at no cost to 
Fayette County, upon recordation of said Final 
Plat into the Fayette County Clerk of Superior 
Court records. 







  35


 
(2) All that property contained within the required 


right-of-way of (insert name of existing street) 
having a minimum required (fill in) foot right-of-
way.  (fill in) feet shall be dedicated to create a 
minimum (fill in) foot right-of-way as measured 
from the centerline.  Said right-of-way shall be 
indicated hereon and are hereby deeded to Fayette 
County, a political subdivision of the State of 
Georgia, at no cost to Fayette County, upon 
recordation of said Final Plat into the Fayette 
County Clerk of Superior Court records. 


 
 Surveying. The Final Plat shall contain the location, bearing, and length of every 


street line, lot line, boundary line, and easement line, whether curved or straight. 
All dimensions shall be shown in feet and decimals to the nearest one-hundredth 
(1/100) of a foot, and all angles shall be shown to the nearest minute second. The 
error of closure shall not exceed third order accuracy require accuracy in excess 
of one (1) in five thousand (5000) 10,000. 


 
 Monuments. The Final Plat shall show the accurate location, material, and 


description of all monuments. A permanent master bench mark shall be 
established within the site by transfer of levels, not less than third order accuracy, 
from the nearest approved bench mark of known elevation (M.S.L.) showing its 
location on the Final Plat, and recording its elevation on the Final Plat to the 
nearest one-hundredth (1/100) of a foot.  and shall comply with the standards set 
forth by the Fayette County Stormwater Management Department.  


 
 Easements. In addition to the requirements for the Preliminary Plat as set forth in 


Section 5-1.4 of these regulations, The Final Plat shall show the location, width, 
and/or dimension of all easements within the subdivision.  and drainage 
easements where required. 


 
Final Plat Application/Checklist. 


 
The Final Plat shall contain items listed on the Final Plat Checklist that is 
available in the Planning and Zoning Department. (Added 6/23/94; Ord. No. 2000-03) 
 


p. Submittals – The following submittals and checks shall be 
satisfied prior to Final Plat approval, as applicable. 


 
(1) Core Sample Report (Development Regulations – 


Article III.) 
 


(2) Soil Density Tests (Development Regulations – 
Article III.) 


 







  36


(3) Utilities–power, gas, and water installed 
(Development Regulations, Article III.) 


 
(4) Stormwater Management Plan (Development 


Regulations, Article XIII.) 
 


(5) Stormwater Operations and Management Plan 
(Development Regulations, Article XIV.) 


 
(6) Storm Sewer Installation Report  (Development 


Regulations, Article III.) 
 


(7) Stormwater Management Inspection and 
Maintenance Agreement (Development 
Regulations,  Article XIII.) 


 
(8) Stormwater As-Built Plan (Development 


Regulations, Article XIV.) 
 


(9) Performance Bond/Irrevocable Letter-of-Credit 
(Subdivision Regulations – Section 8-508.)   
Amount $_______________                     


 
(10) Maintenance Bond/Irrevocable Letter-of-Credit 


(Subdivision Regulations – Section 8-508.)   
Amount $_______________                     


 
(11) Engineering Department Final Inspection.  (Call 


Department to schedule.) 
 
 
 


(12) Submit a Soil Map indicating the classification of 
soils in the areas of across the property proposed 
for the placement of on-site sewage management 
systems.  The soil classification work shall be done 
following the procedures for Level III soil surveys 
established in the Georgia Department of Human 
Resources’ current Manual for On-Site Sewage 
Management Systems.  The requirements for a Soil 
Classifier are located in said manual.   


 
q. Other Considerations. 


 
(1) An application may be submitted to the Planning 


and Zoning Department for the Board of 
Commissioners authorization of motorized cart 







  37


use in the subdivision after recordation of the 
Final Plat (see Fayette County Code, Chapter 10 
Motor Vehicles and Traffic and the home page 
www.fayettecountyga.gov for application.) 


 
(2) A petition may be submitted to the Stormwater 


Management Department for the Board of 
Commissioners authorization for the subdivision 
to become a street light district after recordation of 
the Final Plat (see Fayette County Code, Chapter 
16 Street Lights.) 


 
(c) The Minor Subdivision Plat. The Minor Subdivision Plat shall contain all of 


the following requirements and certification statements and any additional 
information required to address any State and/or Federal requirements (see 
Minor Subdivision Plat Checklist under Forms at www.fayettecountyga.gov). 


 
Sheet Design. The Minor Subdivision Plat and/or a revision to a recorded 
Minor Subdivision Plat shall be drawn in permanent ink on one (1) or more 
sheets of paper vellum or mylar measuring 17 inches by 22 inches.  When two 
(2) or more sheets are used, a key map shall be shown with each sheet.  


 
The following shall be indicated on the Minor Subdivision Plat: 


 
 1. The title block shall state:  “Minor Subdivision Plat of …….”  A 


revision to a Minor Subdivision Plat must state “Revised Minor 
Subdivision Plat of ………..:” purpose and date of revision;  and date, 
plat book, and page number of the previously recorded Minor 
Subdivision Plat. 


 
 
 2. The title block shall show the name of the proposed subdivision, County, 


State, land lot(s), and district(s). 
 
 3. Name, address, telephone number, fax number of the engineer, 


surveyor, and/or landscape architect including seal, signature, and 
Georgia registration number. 


  
 4. Name, address, telephone number, fax number of the owner and/or 


developer. 
 
 5. Indicate date of plat preparation; provide scale of drawing (not to 


exceed 1 in. = 200 ft.), stated and shown graphically.  The Zoning 
Administrator may approve a different scale. 


 
 6. Provide legend of all abbreviations. 
 







  38


 7. Provide an index of sheets if more than one (1) sheet is provided. 
 
 8. Provide a north arrow (to state plane grid north) and vicinity map of 


such a scale that the subdivision may be readily located and identified 
within the County.   


 
 9. Show all land lot lines; land district lines; and city and/or county 


boundaries intersecting or adjacent to the subject property. 
 
10. Show property lines with bearings and distances of the subject property.  


Provide a matching Warranty Deed and legal description of property (if 
applicable.) 


 
11. Provide zoning district and property owner(s) name and/or subdivision 


name of all adjacent properties. 
 
12. Show location, purpose, width and/or dimensions of any easement of 


record and/or easements within the subdivision.  Provide a note if there 
are no recorded easements found associated with the property. 


 
13. Within the general notes, indicate the zoning district; minimum lot size; 


front, side, and rear setbacks; minimum floor area; minimum lot width 
at the building line; total acreage of subject property; and total number 
of lots. 


 
14. Provide rezoning information, including petition number, date of 


approval, and exact wording of any rezoning conditions (if applicable); 
and any approved variances including petition number and date of 
approval (if applicable.)  


 
15. All applicable zoning regulations shall be indicated on the Minor 


Subdivision Plat.  Show front, side, and rear setback lines as dashed 
lines.  Indicate minimum lot width at the front building line on each 
individual lot or in a legend. 


 
16. Provide the area of each lot and the contiguous area (if applicable, see 


Section 8-505) to the 1/100th acre; label the lot numbers; label street 
addresses; show the bearings and distances of all lot lines; and identify 
the parent tract, if applicable. 


 
17. Indicate how lots will be served by water and sewage disposal.  If County 


water is not available, indicate how subdivision will be served (i.e., 
individual well/septic tank.) 


 
18. Indicate all existing structures and buildings and label as “to remain” 


or “to be removed”.  Structures and buildings that will remain must be 
shown on individual lots and meet all applicable zoning requirements in 
terms of any new property lines.  Also indicate any improvements such 







  39


as existing railroads, sewers, bridges, culverts, drain pipes, water mains, 
water wells, parks, public open spaces, etc.  Provide a note if there are 
no existing structures, buildings, or improvements on the subject 
property.  


 
19. Indicate the location of a cemetery (if applicable, see Fayette County 


Code,  Chapter 12, Article VII. Cemeteries, Burial Grounds, Human 
Remains, and Burial Objects.)  


 
20. The plat shall show all parcels of land purposed to be dedicated to any 


Local, State, or Federal governmental agency for public purpose (i.e. – 
public parks, fire stations, public schools, etc.)  


 
21. Indicate the boundaries and area to 1/100th acre for any proposed 


common areas including signage.  Label as “Common Area – Not a 
Building Lot” or “Signage.” 


 
22. Show all existing streets adjacent to subject property.  Label street 


names and right-of-way widths.  Provide right-of-way dedication, as 
needed.  


 
23. Georgia Plat Act – Show the direction and distance from a point of 


reference to a point on the boundary of the survey.  The point of 
reference shall be an established, monumented position which can be 
identified or relocated from maps, plats, and other documents on public 
record. 


 
24. Georgia Plat Act – State the type of equipment used to obtain the linear 


and angular measurements used in preparation of the plat. 
 
25. Surveying – Provide line and curve data for all right-of-way, parcel/lot 


boundaries, and easements.  Line data shall include bearing and length.  
Curve data shall include the arc length, radius, chord length, and chord 
bearing. 


 
26. Corner Lots – Fillet (20-ft. radius) or chamfer corner property lines at 


street intersections. 
 
27. Delineate and label all state waters requiring watershed protection 


buffers and setbacks within the subdivision.  Delineate and label all state 
waters adjacent to the subdivision where any watershed buffers and/or 
setbacks extend into the subdivision property.  Provide a note if there are 
no state waters requiring a buffer.  Label as “Watershed Protection 
Buffer,” and “Watershed Protection Setback.”   


 
28. Delineate and label all base flood elevations both natural and man-


made.  Reference the source(s) of any flood hazard data shown on the 
Minor Subdivision Plat.   







  40


 
29. Establish a minimum finish floor elevation (MFFE) as required in the 


Floodplain Management Ordinance.  
 
30. Delineate all jurisdictional wetlands per the National Wetlands 


Inventory. A more detailed study may be required by the Stormwater 
Management Director dependent on field conditions.  Provide a note if 
the inventory indicates none are present.  


 
31. Delineate any groundwater recharge areas as required in the 


Groundwater Area Protection Ordinance.  Provide a note if there is no 
groundwater recharge areas on the property. 


   
32. Indicate the classification of soils in the areas of the property proposed 


for the placement of on-site sewage management systems.  The soil 
classification work shall be done following the procedures for Level III 
soil surveys established in the Georgia Department of Human 
Resources’ current Manual for On-Site Sewage Management Systems.  
The requirements for a Soil Classifier are located in said manual.   


 
33. The Minor Subdivision Plat shall show the accurate location, material, 


and description of all monuments. The subdivider shall provide and set 
iron monuments at all property corners.  The monuments shall be an 
iron rod or pipe of not less than one half inch in diameter and not less 
than 18 inches long and driven to a minimum depth of 12 inches.    


  
 
 
34. Statements and/or Certificates.  Provide the following statements and/or 


certificates, if applicable: 
 


a. “Each residential building lot has a minimum contiguous area 
that is free and clear of zoning setbacks, watershed protection 
buffers and setbacks, jurisdictional wetlands, and easements of 
any kind”.  Indicate the contiguous area (in acres) on each 
individual lot or in a legend. 


 
b. Georgia Plat Act – Show the closure precision of the field survey. 


“The field data upon which this map or plat is based has a 
closure precision of one (1) ft. in ______ ft., and an angular 
error of_______per angle point, and was adjusted using 
_________rule.” 


 
c. Georgia Plat Act – Show the closure precision of the data shown 


on the plat.   “This map or plat has been calculated for closure 
and is found to be accurate within one (1) ft. in______ft.” 


 







  41


d. “Fayette County does not accept the ownership, maintenance or 
responsibility for any drainage easement or overall drainage 
plan, or the lack of one, indicated by this plat.”   


 
e. “As per Flood Insurance Rate Map Number              dated  /  /  , 


this site (does or does not) lie within a flood hazard zone.” 
 


f. WETLANDS 
 


Wetlands shown on this plat are under the jurisdiction of the U.S. Army Corps 
of Engineers.  Property owners may be subject to penalty by law for disturbance 
to these wetland areas without proper authorization.  


 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
g. OWNER’S CERTIFCATE 


 
 We, the undersigned owner(s) of the____________________________________ 


Subdivision, hereby dedicate the rights-of-way for public use, and/or reserve for 
public use the easements and other ground shown on this plat. 


 
 We the undersigned owner(s) understand this Minor Subdivision Plat and any 


Maintenance Bond and/or Irrevocable Letter-of-Credit shall expire and thus 
become void if the Minor Subdivision Plat is not recorded into the Fayette 
County Clerk of Superior Court records within 90 calendar days (__/__/____) 
of the date of approval by the Planning Commission.   


 
 Owner    Date 


                    
 _________________________________   _____________       
  


_________________________________   _____________       
  


 
h. SURVEYOR’S CERTIFICATE 







  42


 
I hereby certify that this plat is true and correct and was prepared from an 
actual survey of the property by me or under my supervision; that all 
monuments and infrastructure shown hereon actually exist or are marked as 
“future”; and their location, size, type and material are correctly shown.   
 
By:  ____________________________________________________________ 
       GA Registered Land Surveyor –  Date 


                                Signature and Registration/License Number 
 
 


i. ENGINEER’S CERTIFICATE 
 
I hereby certify that accepted engineering practices and design methods were 
used to establish the layout of this development; that the streets, drainage 
structures and other design features have been constructed according to the 
development’s approved Construction Plans; and that all applicable 
requirements of Fayette County’s Development Regulations and Subdivision 
Regulations have been fully complied with.   
 
By:  ____________________________________________________________ 
       GA Professional Engineer –   Date 


                                 Signature and Registration/License Number  
  


 
 
 
 


j. LEVEL III SOIL SURVEY 
 


I, ______________________ do hereby certify that the Level III Soil  
                            Name     
Survey information provided on this plat was performed by 
______________________ _____________in accordance with the procedures 
Company Name  
 specified in the Georgia Department of Human Resources’ current Manual for 
On-Site Sewage Management Systems.   
 
___________________________        ____________________________ 
Signature of Soil Classifier                   Georgia DHR Soil Classifier, Professional  
                    Geologist, or Professional Engineer 
                    Registration No. 


                Registration Numbers/License Numbers 
 
 
 
____________________________________ 
Company Address & Telephone 


 
 







  43


k. Approvals. The following spaces shall be provided on the Minor 
Subdivision Plat in the form listed below for approval by all 
agencies having jurisdiction: 


 
 Approved by Fayette County Environmental Health Department 
 Date____________________ Signed ___________________________ 
               Environmental Health Specialist 
  
 
 Approved by Fayette County Stormwater Management Department 
 
 Date_____________________ Signed ____________________________ 
                                                                                       Stormwater Management 
 
 Approved by the Fayette County Engineer  
 Date____________________ Signed ____________________________ 
                County Engineer 
  
 Approved by the Fayette County Planning Commission on:  ___/____/___     
  


Date____________________ Signed ____________________________ 
                                                          Secretary   
 


Approved by the Fayette County Zoning Administrator.  
   
 
 Date ____________________ Signed ____________________________ 
                 Zoning Administrator 
 


l. Dedication of Right-of-Way.  Each approved Minor Subdivision 
Plat shall include thereon the following statement(s), as 
applicable: 


 
All that property contained within the required right-of-way of (insert name 
of existing street) having a minimum required (fill in) foot right-of-way.  (fill 
in) feet shall be dedicated to create a minimum (fill in) foot right-of-way as 
measured from the centerline.  Said right-of-way shall be indicated hereon 
and are hereby deeded to Fayette County, a political subdivision of the State 
of Georgia, at no costs to Fayette County, upon recordation of said Final Plat 
into the Fayette County Clerk of Superior Court records. 


 
 


 
 
 
 
 
 







  44


 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 


SECTION 6 
 


Sec. 8-505.  MINIMUM DESIGN STANDARDS 
 
6-1 Block. 
 
6-1.1 Non-residential. Blocks for other that residential use shall be of such length and 


width as may be suitable for their prospective use, including adequate provision 
for off-street parking and maneuvering space. 


 
6-1.2 Residential. The length of residential blocks shall not exceed fifteen hundred 


(1,500) feet not be less than four hundred (400) feet.  Blocks of more than fifteen 
hundred (1,500) feel will be permitted if natural or man made barriers such as 
streams and railroads require blocks of greater size.  The depth of residential 
blocks shall be sufficient to allow two (2) tiers of lots, unless prohibited by 
natural or man-made barriers, or unless one tier backs on to a line of another 
person’s property, provided that this shall not prevent the inclusion with the 
subdivision plan of blocks of greater width including super blocks. Super blocks 
may contain public or joint use areas such as parks and playgrounds and shall be 







  45


covered by adequate maintenance agreements if not dedicated and accepted for 
public maintenance. 


 
6-1.3 Crosswalks. Rights-of-way for pedestrian crosswalks shall be provided when in 


the opinion of the Planning Commission, Zoning Administrator, or County 
Engineer crosswalks are necessary for direct pedestrian access to schools, 
shopping centers, and parks.  The crosswalk right-of-way shall not be less than 
twenty (20) feet wide. (Ordinance No. 2000-03) 


 
6-2 Easements. 
 
6-2.1 Utility. Utility easements for overhead services shall be located at the rear or side 


of and adjacent to the lot lines and shall be a minimum width of fifteen (15) feet.  
Where possible, water lines shall be located outside the curb line on the west and 
south sides of streets; sewer and gas lines shall be on the east and north sides.  
Wherever public utility easements are planned adjacent to the subdivision tract 
boundary or phase, they shall be platted within said subdivision or phase thereof. 


 Water and sewer lines outside of street rights-of-way shall follow side and rear 
property lines where possible and shall have a minimum easement width of 
twenty (20) feet except that a greater width shall be provided where it is 
determined by the County Engineer that a greater width is necessary for 
maintenance or construction. 


 
 
6-2.2 Drainage. Drainage easements shall be provided as required by the County 


Engineer after review of the construction plans. 
 
6-2.3 Dedication of a permanent high-water and maintenance easement to an elevation 


of 840 feet along Whitewater Creek north of Hood Road is required. (Amended 6/26/86) 


 
6-3 Lots. 
 
6-3.1 Minimum Lot Size. Minimum lot size shall be as prescribed in the Zoning 


Regulations for the County of Fayette. 
 
6-3.2 Minimum Lot Elevation. The lot area contained within and contiguous to the 


building walls and for a minimum distance of ten (10) feet measured from all 
sides of said building, shall have a minimum elevation of three (3) feet above the 
100-year flood stage of streams or canals in the particular area being developed 
based on acceptable engineering procedure and approved by the County Engineer.  
And that said minimum elevation shall be subject to approval by the 
Commissioner of Health if it would affect the positioning of the septic system.  
(Ordinance No. 2000-03) 


 
6-3.3 Contiguous Areas.  Each residential lot shall have a minimum contiguous area 


that is free and clear of zoning buffers and setbacks, watershed protection buffers 
and setbacks, jurisdictional wetlands, and easements of any kind.  The required 







  46


minimum contiguous areas, set forth below, are a function of zoning requirements 
and minimum lot sizes. 
 
Zoning        Minimum Contiguous Area 
District                Free & Clear (ac) 
A-R    2.0 
EST    1.3 
R-85, R-80    1.5 
R-78, R-75, R-72, R-70   0.9 
R-55, R-50, R-45, R-40, R-20, DR-15, C-S  0.61 
R-55, R-50, R-45, R-40, R-20, DR-15, C-S  0.32 
 
1  Where public water is not available (lots have individual wells) 
2  Where public water is available   
(Added 3/23/2006) 


 
6-4 Building Lines. 
 
6-4.1 All building setback lines shall be specified in the Zoning Regulations for the 


County of Fayette. 
 
6-4.2 County Limits. Lots shall not be divided by corporate boundary lines. 
 
 
 
6-4.3 Corner Lots. Corner lots shall be of such size and dimension that will permit the 


location of buildings so as to conform with the building setback lines, as 
prescribed in the Zoning Regulations.  Corner property lines at street intersections 
shall have a twenty (20) foot radius. 


 
6-4.4 Double and Reverse Frontage. Lots having street frontage both to the front and 


rear shall be prohibited except where it is essential to provide separation of 
residential development from railroad or Major and Secondary Arterial rights-of-
way. Where a railroad or Major Arterial abuts or runs through any portion of the 
subdivision, the subdivision plan shall provide that lots backing onto said railroad 
or arterial right-of-way shall have a minimum depth of one hundred seventy (170) 
feet which shall include a twenty (20) foot planting buffer strip separating the lots 
from the right-of-way. 


 
6-4.5 Commercial Use Buffer Zone. When a portion of the subdivision is to be 


devoted to commercial purposes such as a shopping center, and when it adjoins 
residential lots, a buffer zone shall be provided as required in the Zoning 
Ordinance of Fayette County. 


 
6-5 Streets. The street and road system of any subdivision shall give due 


consideration to the Major Thoroughfare Plan. 
 







  47


6-5.1 Access. Every lot of every subdivision shall have adequate access to and abut a 
public or private street.  , which is or shall be maintained by the County.  Where 
the subdivision does not immediately adjoin abut a public street, the Subdivider 
shall provide access from the subdivision to a public street.  Any upgrades to 
existing roads or prescriptive easements to provide adequate access to the 
subdivision shall be the responsibility of the Subdivider.  The County Engineer or 
Public Works Director shall determine if any necessary up grades to the existing 
roads/ prescriptive easements are required prior to approving construction of the 
subdivision. (Ordinance No. 2000-03)    


 
6-5.2 Alignment and Continuation.  Streets within the subdivision shall be so 


arranged as to provide for the alignment and continuation of or projection of 
existing public streets.    


 
6-5.3 Street Length.  A permanent street shall not exceed 3,000 feet in length.  This 


distance shall be measured from a street which has at least two (2) outlets onto 
another public street which is not a cul-de-sac or single-access loop street.  This 
measurement shall not extend outside of the proposed subdivision. This 
measurement shall extend into previous phases of the same subdivision.  A street 
ending in a cul-de-sac shall be measured from its intersection with another public 
street as described above to the center of the cul-de-sac diameter.  A single-access 
loop street shall be measured from its intersection with another public street as 
described above to the further point from such intersection. (Ordinance No. 2000-03) 


 
 
 The Planning Commission may vary the maximum length requirements or permit 


a tie-on to a street which fails to meet the above criteria when the conditions for 
the granting of a variance enumerated in Section 9-5, B. of the Zoning Ordinance 
exist. A request for such a variance must accompany an application for 
Preliminary Plat approval. (Amended 1/12/06) 


 
6-5.4 Dead-End-Streets.  Permanent dead-end streets and alleys shall be prohibited. 
 
6-5.5 Half Streets.  Permanent half street and half alleys shall be prohibited. 
 
6-5.6 Intersections.  The sentence “no street shall intersect another street at less than 


eighty (80) degrees and shall as nearly as possible intersect at ninety (90) 
degrees” and adding in lieu thereof “Streets shall intersect as nearly as possible at 
right angles and no intersection shall have an angle of less than sixty (60) 
degrees”, such that the subsection shall provide as follows: 


 
 Intersections: The center lines of no more than two (2) streets shall intersect at 


any one point. Streets shall intersect as nearly as possible at right angles and no 
intersection shall have an angle of less that sixty (60) degrees. A tangent no less 
than one hundred (100) feet shall be placed between a curved street and the 
nearest right-of-way line of the street with which it intersects. (Amended 6/11/81) 


  







  48


6-5.7 Curb Radius. The curb radius at street intersections shall be no less than twenty 
(20) feet except on major arterial streets where Georgia Highway Department 
Standards shall prevail.   


 
6-5.8 See Development Regulations. (Amended 5/23/85) 
 
6-5.9 Stub Street (Right-of-Way Extension). Where the Planning Commission 


determines that it is essential to provide for the extension of a street to an adjacent 
property, such street right-of-way shall be extended by dedication and paved to 
the property line.  Such a stub street shall be clearly labeled “Temporary Dead-
End Street” on the Final Plat. (Amended 5/23/85; Ordinance No. 2000-03) 


 
6-5.10 See Development Regulations.  (Amended 5/23/85) 
 
6-5.11 Subdivision Names.  A proposed subdivision name shall not duplicate the name 


of another subdivision unless such property is contiguous to the subdivision 
beating the proposed name and with the same or more restrictive zoning, and 
covenants and restrictions as the subdivision previously bearing such name.  In 
addition to meeting the above criteria, the sharing of a subdivision name must be 
approved by the Planning Commission.  Whenever a new subdivision is permitted 
by the Planning Commission to share the name of a previously approved 
subdivision, such name shall be followed by the Roman Numerals II.  Any 
subsequent subdivisions approved by the Planning Commission under these 
provisions shall be numbered in sequence with Roman numerals. (Amended 6/26/86) 


 
6-5.12 See Street Specifications. (Amended 7/9/81) 
 
6-5.13 Additional Right-of-Way.  If the subdivision boundary lies adjacent to the right-


of-way line of an existing platted street of less than minimum right-of-way width 
a minimum of one-half the required extra width shall be dedicated. 


 
6-5.14 See Development Regulations. (Amended 6/11/89) 
 
6-5.15 Provisions for Public Use.  In subdividing land, due consideration shall be given 


to suitable sites for schools, parks, playgrounds, and other common areas for 
public use. Such land shall be located in accordance with the Comprehensive 
Plan. The acquisition of such land shall rest with the proper authority. 


 
6-5.16 Open. (Amended 7/12/90) 
 
6-5.17. Testing. See Development Regulations for tests required by County standards. 


Results of said tests must be submitted to and reviewed by the County Engineer 
prior to review of the Final Plat, subject to the provisions of Section 8 of these 
regulations. (Amended 7/12/90)   


 
Sec. 8-505.  MINIMUM DESIGN STANDARDS 
 







  49


The following design standards are in addition to applicable Federal, State, and Local 
Ordinances, including, but not limited to: the Fayette County Zoning Ordinance, the Fayette 
County Development Regulations, and Fayette County Sign Ordinance.   
 


(a) Subdivision Access.  Where the subdivision does not immediately access an 
existing public street (County or State owned and/or maintained), the 
Subdivider shall provide access via a new public street or private street which 
complies with the minimum County standards to an existing public street.  Any 
upgrades to existing public streets to provide adequate access to the subdivision 
shall be the responsibility of the Subdivider.  The County Engineer or Public 
Works Director shall determine if any necessary up grades to the existing public 
streets are required prior to approving construction of the subdivision.  


 
(b) Easements.  All easements shall be shown on the Final Plat or Minor 


Subdivision Plat and meet the following standards where applicable.   
 


1. Where possible, water lines shall be located outside the curb line on the 
west and south sides of streets; sewer and gas lines shall be on the east 
and north sides;   


2. Water and sewer lines outside of street rights-of-way shall follow side 
and rear property lines where possible and shall have a minimum 
easement width of 20 feet.  The Water System may require a greater 
width if determined necessary for maintenance or construction; 


3. Wherever public utility easements are planned adjacent to the 
subdivision tract boundary or phase, they shall be platted within said 
subdivision or phase thereof; and  


4. Drainage easements shall be provided as required in Article VIII. of the 
Development Regulations. 


 
(c) Contiguous Areas for Residential Development.  Each residential building lot 


shall have a minimum contiguous area that is free and clear of zoning buffers and 
setbacks, watershed protection buffers and setbacks, jurisdictional wetlands, and 
easements of any kind.  The required minimum contiguous areas, set forth below, 
are a function of zoning requirements and minimum lot sizes. 


 
Zoning        Minimum Contiguous Area 
District                Free & Clear (ac) 
A-R    2.0 
EST    1.3 
R-85, R-80    1.5 
R-78, R-75, R-72, R-70   0.9 
R-55, R-50, R-45, R-40, R-20, DR-15, C-S  0.61 
R-55, R-50, R-45, R-40, R-20, DR-15, C-S  0.32 
 
1  Where public water is not available (lots have individual wells) 
2  Where public water is available   
(Added 3/23/2006) 


 







  50


(d) County Corporate Limits.  Lots shall not be divided by corporate boundary lines. 
Any lot divided by corporate limits (city or county) shall meet fully the 
requirements of Fayette County on the portion of the lot that is within 
unincorporated Fayette County for the purposes of a building permit.  All 
corporate limits dividing a lot will be viewed in the same manner as a property 
line. 


 
(e) Building Property Lines Street Layout and Design 


 
1. Subdivision Entrances and Street Length – No street or portion of a 


street may provide access to more than 75 lots unless 1) a second means 
of access to the lots is provided by another street; or 2) a two-way divided 
road is used at the entrance and extended to all points within the 
subdivision until the number of lots being served is 75 or less.  Amenity 
and common areas (e.g., green space) are excluded from the 75-lot limit.  
Of the two (2) options, use of a second means of access is preferred and 
shall be provided unless it is determined not feasible by the County 
Engineer due to the lack of adequate road frontage, limited sight 
distance, or significant environmental constraints.   


 
2. Any two-way divided entrance/road shall have a minimum 80-foot right-


of-way, the two (2) 16-foot travel lanes, curb and gutter, and an 18-foot 
wide landscape island.  Additional specifications for the divided 
entrance may be found in the Development Regulations.   


 
 
 
 


3. Corner Lots. Corner property lines at street intersections shall have 
chamfer corners with minimum chamfer distances of 20 feet in each 
direction (chamfering means to connect two [2], non-parallel property 
lines with a third beveled line.)  The purpose of the chamfer is to allow 
sufficient room within the right-of-way for utility placement and 
maintenance.   


 
6-4.3 Crosswalks. Rights-of-way for pedestrian crosswalks shall be provided when in 


the opinion of the Planning Commission, Zoning Administrator, or County 
Engineer crosswalks are necessary for direct pedestrian access to schools, 
shopping centers, and parks.  The crosswalk right-of-way shall not be less than 
twenty (20) feet wide. (Ordinance No. 2000-03)    


 
4. Curb Radius. The curb radius at street intersections within subdivisions 


shall be no less than 25 feet.  Curb radius requirements for intersections 
with collectors or arterial streets are dictated by the Fayette County 
Development Regulations and/or the Georgia Department of 
Transportation.   


 







  51


5. Dead-End Streets, Half-Street and Alleys. Dead-end streets, half-streets 
and alleys are prohibited.  Temporary dead-end streets resulting from 
phased developments shall be constructed with cul-de-sacs a temporary 
turn-around. 


 
6 Elbows. Elbows (i.e., a circular bump-out of the paved road) may be 


used in lieu of a horizontal curve for road alignment when the 
centerline tangents have an intersection angle between 90 and 120 
degrees.  The “elbow” portion of the intersection shall be designed with 
a paved radius of 42 feet (to back-of-curb) and a 60-foot right-of-way 
radius.  Elbows are not considered cul-de-sacs with respect to required 
road frontage for subdivision lots.   


 
7. Intersections. The center lines of no more than two (2) streets shall 


intersect at any one (1) point.  Streets shall intersect as nearly as 
possible at right angles and no intersection shall have an angle of less 
than 60 80 degrees.  A tangent section no less than 100 50-feet long 
shall be placed between a centerline curve and the nearest right-of-way 
line of the street with which it intersects.   


 
8. Stub Street (Right-of-Way Extension).  Where the Planning 


Commission determines that it is essential to provide for the extension of a 
street to an adjacent property, such street right-of-way shall be extended 
by dedication and paved to the property line.  Such a stub street shall be 
clearly labeled “Temporary Dead-End Street” on the Final Plat.  Where it 
is necessary to provide a street for future connection to an adjacent 


 
 property, such street shall be constructed in conjunction with the 
subdivision up to the property line creating a Stub Street.  Said Stub 
Street shall be indicated on the Preliminary Plat and Final Plat and 
labeled “Temporary Stub Street.”  Connecting Stub Streets shall 
maintain the same name and be terminated with a temporary turn-
around as necessary.  (Amended 5/23/85; Ordinance No. 2000-03)   


  
(f) Subdivision Names.  A proposed subdivision name shall not duplicate the name 


of another subdivision unless such property is contiguous to the subdivision 
beating bearing the proposed name and with the same or more restrictive zoning, 
and covenants and restrictions as the subdivision previously bearing such name.   


 
In addition to meeting the above criteria, the sharing of a subdivision name must 
be approved by the Planning Commission.  Whenever a new subdivision is 
permitted by the Planning Commission to share the name of a previously 
approved subdivision, such name shall be followed by the appropriate Roman 
Numberals (e.g., II).  Any subsequent subdivisions approved by the Planning 
Commission under these provisions shall be numbered in sequence with Roman 
Numerals.  (Amended 6/26/86) 


 







  52


(g) Additional Right-of-Way.  If the subdivision boundary lies adjacent to the right-
of-way line of an existing platted public street of less than minimum needed right-
of-way width, as determined by the County Thoroughfare Plan, a minimum of 
one-half the required extra width shall be dedicated, at no cost, to the County by 
the Subdivider.   


 
(h) Provisions for Public Use.  In subdividing land, due consideration shall be given 


to suitable sites for schools, parks, playgrounds, and other common areas for 
public use.  Such land shall be located in accordance with the Comprehensive 
Plan.  The acquisition of such land shall rest with the proper authority. 







  53


SECTION 7 
 


Sec. 8-506.  MINIMUM IMPROVEMENTS 
 
 


(a) General.  The Subdivider shall provide public improvements as required by all 
these regulations and by applicable County regulations, specifications, and 
requirements.   


 
(b) Curbs and Gutter.  The Subdivider shall install curb and gutter and proper 


drainage as required by County specifications.   
 


(c) Monuments. The Subdivider shall provide and set reinforced concrete 
monuments four (4) inches in diameter of square, thirty (30) inches long with a 
flat top. The top of each monument shall be set flush to the ground. Said 
monuments shall be set at each street corner and at all points where the street 
lines intersect the exterior boundary of the subdivision, at points of curvature in 
each street and at every exterior corner or point of curvature of the exterior 
boundary, except where such corners lie with a stream meander in which case 
reference monuments shall be placed on the bank of the stream. The top of the 
monument shall contain a metal plate or metal rod which shall be scored in such a 
manner that will properly and accurately identify the location.  The subdivider 
shall provide and set iron monuments at all property corners.  The monuments 
shall be an iron rod or pipe of not less than one half inch in diameter and not 
less than 18-inches long and driven to a minimum depth of 12 inches.    


 
(d) Well Water Supply and Sanitary Sewerage.  Every lot of within a proposed 


subdivision shall have an approved supply of adequate water and an approved 
sewage disposal system, as determined by the Fayette County Water System and 
the Environmental Health County Manager.  be supplied with adequate water 
and waste water facilities which shall be approved by the Georgia Commissioner 
of Health. Septic tank drain field approval shall be on an individual lot basis. 
Where public water or waste water facilities are available within the distance 
specified below, the Subdivider shall assure that every lot of the subdivision shall 
be provided with public water. 
 


(e) Where public water facilities are available within the distance specified below, 
the Subdivider shall assure that every lot of the subdivision shall be provided 
with public water.   


 
NUMBER OF LOTS MINIMUM DISTANCE FROM WATER LINE* 
 
6 or more  2,500 feet 
 
 
 
 







  54


For each additional lot after six (6), an additional one hundred and fifty (150) 150 
feet shall be added per lot to the minimum distance from a water line requiring 
connection thereto.    
 
*Measured along public right-of-way to closest point on property. 
 
Cost differentials based on line sizes and fire hydrants needed to serve a 
subdivision versus that needed as part of the overall system will be determined by 
the Water System.  (Ordinance No. 2000-14) 
 


(f) Standard fire hydrants will be provided at the spacing specified by the Fayette 
County Fire cCode per Chapter 9, Fire Prevention and Protection.  Design 
standards shall be as, and of the type specified by the American Water Works 
Association. 


 
(g) Sanitary Sewer.  When a public sewage disposal system is not available, the 


Fayette County Environmental Health Department shall review the Preliminary 
and Final Plat of a subdivision to determine the feasibility for individual on-site 
sewage disposal systems.  After approval of the Final Plat or Minor Subdivision 
Plat of the subdivision, on-site sewage disposal system permit applications must 
be submitted to the Fayette County Environmental Health Department for each 
individual lot for review and approval. 


 
If the lots of a subdivision are to be served by individual subsurface wells, the 
on-site sewage disposal permit application must indicate the location of the well 
and on-site sewage disposal system.  The subsurface well must be setback at 
least 100 feet from any on-site sewage disposal system and drainfields. 


 
7-5 Sidewalks. Space for the installation of sidewalks is provided under the 


Development Regulations, and shall only be constructed on individual lots 
permitted for construction.  (Ordinance No. 2000-03)   


 
7-6 Streets. The Subdivider shall provide improved rights-of-way in accordance with 


these regulations and the Development Regulations, and applicable Georgia State 
Transportation Department specifications and providing that drainage ditches 
shall be a minimum of two (2) feet deep.  Cross-drainage shall be in accordance 
with acreage drained.  Grassing shall be required and contours shall be such that 
can be maintained by standard County equipment.  


 
(h) Stormwater Drainage. The Subdivider shall provide adequate stormwater 


drainage in accordance with these regulations and all applicable County 
regulations and specifications.  The Subdivider shall also provide for adequate 
drainage for springs or other ground water drainage. 


 
 
7-8 Installation of Improvements.  No grading, paving, construction of sidewalks or 


installation of any other utility shall be permitted until the Preliminary Plat of the 
subdivision has been approved by the Planning Commission.  (Ordinance No. 2000-03) 







  55


 
(i) Grassing And Erosion Control. Proper erosion control measures must be in 


place throughout the entire phase of construction and must also be in place prior 
to Final Plat approval.  Permanent grass must also be established on all disturbed 
areas prior to Final Plat approval.  However, proper temporary erosion control 
measures and performance bonds can be substituted for a permanent stand of 
grass during the Final Plat Inspection.  (Ordinance No. 2000-03) 


  
7-10 Building Permit.  No permit for the construction of any building on any lot of a 


proposed subdivision or phase thereof shall be issued unless the Final Plat of the 
proposed subdivision has been recorded in the office of the Clerk of Superior 
Court of Fayette County, Georgia, and unless the Minimum Site Improvements, 
as prescribed in this Ordinance, have been made and such improvements have 
been inspected and approved by the County Engineer applicable departments.  
Upon recordation of the Final Plat, the required number of recorded copies, a 
recorded copy of a Warranty Deed for any Right of Way donated to the County, 
and the digital media copy of the approved Final Plat shall be submitted to the 
Planning and Zoning Department prior to the issuance of any building permits.   
Lots within a nonresidential subdivision shall also require an approved Site 
Plan, as applicable, for the issuance of a building permit.    (Ordinance No. 2000-03)  


 
(j) Building permits shall may be issued for a phase part of a subdivision prior to the 


completion of the improvements in the entire subdivision, provided that the 
County Engineer shall the applicable departments approves the improvements in 
said phase and plat if it is determined that the lots to be built upon are 
completely served by the improvements in the completed phase as if it were a 
separate subdivision. 


 
(k) Utilities.  The Subdivider shall provide all applicable utilities to the subdivision 


in accordance with all applicable County requirements.  The utilities shall be 
located as specified by the Development Regulations.  Power, natural gas, and 
water utilities must be installed, if available in the area, prior to Final Plat 
approval. All of the minimum improvements listed in this section of the 
ordinance must be completed and inspected prior to Final Plat approval with 
the exceptions of the installation of utilities in non-residential subdivisions. 


  
  7-10.3 Exceptions to Improvements.  All of the minimum improvements listed in this 


section of the ordinance must be completed and inspected prior to Final Plat 
approval with the exceptions of:   


 
1. Installation of utilities in non-residential subdivisions. (Ordinance No. 2000-03)   







  56


SECTION 8 
 


Sec. 8-507.  PROVISIONS FOR RECORDING OF FINAL PLATS PRIOR 
TO COMPLETION OF MINIMUM IMPROVEMENTS 


(Amended 7/12/90) 
 


8-1 Requirements Therefore.  Construction of all minimum improvements, except 
the top layer of asphalt pavement, must be completed in conformance with 
Fayette County specifications as determined through inspection by the County 
Engineer, and the Road Superintendent before the Final Plat can be recorded and 
building permits issued.  To assure the construction of the asphalt paving, the 
Subdivider shall deliver to the County the following. (See 4-2.5)   (Amended 7/12/90) 


 
8-1.1 Performance Bond  A performance bond or irrevocable Letter-of-Credit 


designated for the asphalt paving of a road must be filed with the County 
Engineer prior to the recording of the Final Plat.   
 
The bond or irrevocable Letter-of-Credit shall be equal to 110 percent of the 
amount determined by the County Engineer sufficient to reimburse the County for 
its expenses in completing the paving.  The cost estimate shall include, at a 
minimum, cost of material (asphalt and tack) to complete the road, plus an 
additional 10% for labor and equipment, plus an additional 15 percent for repairs 
to the binder and/or base.  Additional costs may be included for unusual 
circumstances.   
 
The bond or irrevocable Letter-of-Credit shall be given for a period specified by 
the Subdivider but shall exceed one (1) year.  
 
However, if coring of the asphalt and base reveal that additional overlays are 
necessary in order to bring the road up to County standards, the application of 
which overlays would extend beyond the life of the bond or Letter-of-Credit, or 
be hampered by weather conditions which would extend beyond the life of the 
bond or Letter-of-Credit, the County Engineer and/or Director of Public Works 
may require the Subdivider to provide for an extension of the life of the bond or 
Letter-of-Credit so that said overlays can be correctly applied. (Amended 7/12/90; 
Ordinance No. 2000-03)  


 
8-1.2 If, in the opinion of the County Engineer weather or other circumstances preclude 


the establishment of permanent ground cover on the shoulders of the road or roads 
to be covered by the bond or irrevocable Letter-of-Credit, and additional amount 
equal to 100 percent of the cost of establishing said ground cover may be included 
in the amount of the bond or letter or credit. (Amended 7/12/90)   


 
 
 
 







  57


8-1.3 If a permanent ground cover is not established at the time of the Final Plat 
Inspection, then a one (1) year performance bond shall be required for all grassing 
and construction of shoulders along streets.  The bond shall be in an amount equal 
to 100 percent of the cost of performance.  (Ordinance No. 2000-03)   


 
(a) Performance Bond or Irrevocable Letter-of-Credit.  The following 


improvements shall be made after the recordation of a Final Plat if a 
Performance Bond or Irrevocable Letter-of-Credit is provided that meets the 
standards set hereafter: 
 
1. Paving the top layer (top course) of asphalt on one (1) or more roads 


within the subdivision; and 
2. Meeting permanent stabilization requirements within the proposed 


right-of-way. 
 
Other than those items listed above, all minimum improvements within the 
subdivision shall be completed and accepted in accordance with the approved 
Construction Plans, the Fayette County Development Regulations, and the 
Subdivision Regulations prior to the recordation of a Final Plat.  Acceptance 
shall be determined by the County Engineer, the Director of Utilities, and the 
Stormwater Management Director based on a field inspection of the project 
and/or review of required submittals.  
 
Work to be completed after the recordation of a Final Plat shall be guaranteed 
by either a Performance Bond or an Irrevocable Letter-of-Credit and the 
document(s) shall be filed with the County Engineer prior to his/her signature 
on the Final Plat.   
 


(b) Criteria for Performance Bonds or Irrevocable Letter-of-Credit for paving 
 
The amount of the Bond or Irrevocable Letter-of-Credit needed for paving shall 
be the sum of material, labor, equipment, and repair estimates, as determined 
by the County Engineer, using the following guidelines: 
 
1. Material costs = 120%  150% of current cost estimate for tack and 


asphalt; 
2. Labor and equipment = 10%  20% of material costs; and 
3. Repairs to binder and base = 20% of material cost. 
 
Additional costs shall  be included for unusual circumstances.   
 
Performance Bonds/Irrevocable Letters-of-Credit for paving shall be 
considered only if coring of the asphalt binder and base, as required by the 
Development Regulations, demonstrate the work was completed per the 
approved Construction Plans and County standards.   
 
Paving work shall be completed within two (2) years of recording the Final Plat 
unless an extension is provided by the County Engineer.   







  58


 
The Bonds/Irrevocable Letters-of-Credit shall not be released until all repairs 
and paving work are done in accordance with the approved Construction Plans 
and the work is accepted by the County Engineer.   
 


(c) Criteria for Performance Bonds for Permanent Stabilization 
 
The amount of the Performance Bond or Irrevocable Letter-of-Credit needed 
for permanent stabilization shall be the sum of material, labor, equipment, and 
repair estimates, as determined by the Stormwater Management Department.  
At a minimum, the cost estimate shall include all Best Management Practices 
required to bring the project into compliance with the approved Soil Erosion 
and Sediment Control Plan.  Additional costs may be included for unusual 
circumstances.   
 
Performance Bonds/Irrevocable Letters-of-Credit for stabilization will be 
considered only if the Stormwater Management Director determines that 
current weather patterns and the season make permanent stabilization 
infeasible at this time.    
 
Stabilization work shall be completed within six (6) months one (1) year of 
recording the Final Plat.  
 
The Performance Bonds/Irrevocable Letters-of-Credit shall not be released 
until all areas of concern are stabilized in accordance with the approved 
Construction Plans and the work is accepted by the Stormwater Management 
Director.   


 
(d) Conditions Thereof. 


 
1. Performance Bonds or Irrevocable Letters-of-Credit delivered for the 


purpose of guaranteeing construction of minimum improvements pursuant 
to Section 8-1 shall run to the County and be accepted by the County 
Engineer provided that the Subdivider, his heirs, successors and assigns, 
and their agents and servants will comply with all applicable terms, 
conditions, provisions, and requirements of these regulations, will 
faithfully perform and complete the work of constructing and installing 
said facilities or improvements in accordance with these regulations. and 
that the The Subdivider will save the County from any unnecessary 
expense incurred through the failure of the Subdivider, his heirs, 
successors or assigns, or their agents or servants, to complete the work of 
said construction and installation as required by these regulations, and 
from any damage growing out of negligence in performing or failing to 
perform said construction and installation. (Amended 7/12/90) 


 
 







  59


 Before acceptance of any Performance Bond or Irrevocable Letter-of-
Credit for paving, the County Engineer may, at his direction, have the 
County Attorney review said instrument.  If a A bond is offered, it shall be 
executed by a Surety or Guaranty Company qualified to transact business 
in the State of Georgia.  and  approved by the Board of Commissioners.  If 
an Irrevocable Letter-of-Credit is offered, it shall be written by a financial 
institution licensed to do business in the State of Georgia.  (Ordinance No. 2000-
03) 


 
2. Duration and Release.  Performance Bonds and/or cash Irrevocable 


Letters-of-Credit posted pursuant to the regulations shall be released or 
returned, as the case may be, at such time as the facilities guaranteed 
thereby have been installed and accepted. 


 
3. Default.  If the construction or installation of any improvements or 


facilities for which a bond or Irrevocable Letter-of-Credit is posted is not 
completed within three (3) months after substantial completion of any 
building or structures which said improvements of facilities are designed 
to serve, or if said construction or installations not in accordance with the 
applicable specifications and requirements, the County may proceed to 
construct, install, or modify said improvements of facilities in accordance 
with the applicable specifications and requirements. In either the case of a 
bond or an Irrevocable Letter-of-Credit, the County shall make whatever 
claims and/or drafts are necessary in order to obtain the funds necessary to 
so construct or install said improvements of facilities. The default 
provisions of this Section 8-4 8-507 shall not apply when the governing 
body acts to permit the Subdivider to remove his subdivision from the 
land records of Fayette County in accordance with the provisions of these 
regulations. (Amended 7/12/90) 


 
8-7 Miscellaneous. 
 
8-7-1 One (1) or more bonds or irrevocable letters of credit or any combination thereof 


shall be held to be in compliance with this Section, 8 so long as, the total is equal 
to the total required; provided, however, that no bond or irrevocable Letter-of-
Credit shall be released for a lesser or smaller portion of the construction or 
installation work that is required by these regulations and/or other County 
specifications and requirements to be installed or constructed as a unit. (Amended 
7/12/90) 


 
 If subsequent to the posting of a bond or irrevocable Letter-of-Credit under these 


regulations, it can be established that the amount thereof is more than required 
because subsequent estimates by the County establish that the work can be 
constructed or installed for a lesser amount than the amount of the bond posted or 
deposited hereunder, the bond or irrevocable Letter-of-Credit so posted may be 
released proportionately. (Amended 7/12/90) 


 
8-8 Open. (Amended 7/12/90) 







  60


 







  61


SECTION 9 
SECTION 8-508. 


 
Sec. 8-508.  ACCEPTANCE AND GUARANTEE OF COMPLETED 


MINIMUM IMPROVEMENTS 
 
 


 Completion. At such time as any or all improvements are completed, the 
Subdivider shall notify the County, in writing, accurately identifying the 
improvements covered and requesting a final inspection of the same.  All testing, 
core sampling or other requirements for verifying that the work conforms to the 
standards shall be completed, submitted to and reviewed and approved by the 
County, and any work required to bring said standards completed prior to this 
notification.  Facilities will not be accepted unless they conform to County 
standards.  The following requirements shall be satisfied prior to approval of the 
Final Plat by the applicable departments.  (Amended 7/12/90)    


 
Maintenance Bond or Letter-of-Credit. Prior to Final Plat approval by the 
County Engineer, the Subdivider shall submit to the County Engineer a bond or 
irrevocable Letter-of-Credit for the purpose of guaranteeing the materials and 
workmanship of the minimum improvements for a period of two (2) years. If, 
during the two (2) years maintenance period, the need for repairs to the road or 
other improvements becomes evident then the Subdivider will be notified in 
writing by the County Engineer and informed of the measures to be taken to 
repair the facilities.  If the Subdivider has not taken action within thirty (30) days 
of said notification, the County Engineer shall take such steps as are necessary to 
claim funds from the bond or Letter-of-Credit to adequately reimburse the County 
for its estimated expenses associated with making the repairs itself.  (Ordinance No. 
2000-03)    
 


(a) Submittals.  The Subdivider shall provide to Fayette County all applicable 
submittals as required in the County’s Development Regulations.  A detailed list 
of the specific submittals and contact information for the applicable 
departments responsible for review and approval of each submittal is available 
from the Fayette County Stormwater Management Department.  


  
(b) Final Inspections.  Upon completion of all minimum improvements, the 


Subdivider shall notify the departments listed on the Final Plat checklist and 
request a field inspection.  The Subdivider is responsible for correcting all 
deficiencies identified during the final inspections.  Improvements shall not be 
accepted unless they conform to the approved Construction Plans and all 
applicable Federal, State and Local requirements (see Forms for Final Plat 
Checklist at www.fayettecountyga.gov). 


 
 
 
 







  62


(c) Maintenance Bond/Irrevocable Letter-of-Credit.  The Subdivider shall provide 
to the County Engineer, a Maintenance Bond or an Irrevocable Letter-of-
Credit for the purpose of guaranteeing the materials and workmanship of the 
minimum improvements for a period of two (2) years.  For purposes of Bond/ 
Irrevocable Letter-of-Credit determination, “minimum improvements” includes 
all materials and work within the proposed right-of-way plus any part of the 
storm sewer infrastructure serving the subdivision.  This includes, but is not 
limited to: storm pipe, open ditches, headwalls, stormwater management ponds, 
etc.   


 
The Subdivider shall be responsible for making any needed repairs to the road 
or other “minimum improvements” as defined above within the two-year 
bonding period.  Notification of needed repairs may be provided by the County 
to the Subdivider at any time during the bonding period.  If the Subdivider does 
not make the necessary repairs within 90 calendar days of said notification, the 
County Engineer shall claim funds from the Bond or Irrevocable Letter-of-
Credit to adequately reimburse the County for its cost associated with having 
the repairs made by a contractor or the appropriate County Department.   


 
Regardless of project size, the minimum Maintenance Bond/Irrevocable Letter-
of-Credit is $5,000.00.   


 
If a Final Plat becomes void, as may happen if not recorded into the Fayette 
County Clerk of Superior Court records within 90 calendar days of approval by 
the Planning Commission, the existing Maintenance Bond/Irrevocable Letter-
of-Credit is also void and a new Maintenance Bond/Irrevocable Letter-of-Credit 
will be required prior to approval of the new Final Plat.   


 
9-2.1 Facilities shall not be accepted unless they conform to these regulations and 


applicable County specifications. 
 
9-3 Acceptance.  The approval of a Final Plat by the Planning Commission shall be 


deemed to constitute an acceptance by Fayette County of any street or other real 
property shown upon the plat  (Amended 7/12/90; Ordinance No.  2009-01 Amended 06/25/09)   
 


(d) Open.  Ownership.  Upon recordation of the Final Plat or Minor Subdivision 
Plat, subsequent to approval by the Planning Commission, Fayette County shall 
accept ownership of any street or other real property shown upon the Final Plat 
or Minor Subdivision Plat.   (Amended 7/12/90) 


 
(e) Before acceptance of any Maintenance Bond or Irrevocable Letter-of-Credit, 


the County Engineer may, at his direction, have the County Attorney review 
said instrument.  If a bond is offered, it shall be executed by a Surety or 
Guaranty Company qualified to transact business in the State of Georgia and 
approved by the Board of Commissioners.  If an Irrevocable Letter-of-Credit 
is offered, it shall be written by a financial institution licensed to do business in 
the State of Georgia.  


  







  63


SECTION 10 
 


Sec. 8-509.  VIOLATIONS AND PENALTIES 
 
 


 Violations. 
 


(a) It shall be unlawful to convey or improve property by the construction of 
buildings on lots of any land subdivision which has not been approved and 
recorded as provided in these regulations, except those parcels recorded prior to 
the effective date of these regulations. 


 
(b) It shall be unlawful to record a subdivision plat, or once recorded, to make any 


changes thereon whatsoever which have not been approved by the Planning 
Commission in accordance with the provisions of all applicable regulations.  
(Ordinance No.  2009-01 Amended 06/25/09) 


 
(c) Each Day’s Violation a Separate Offense.  Each and every day’s violation of 


any provisions of this Ordinance shall constitute a separate offense. 
 


(d) Penalties. Any person or persons, firm or corporation of association of persons 
who shall divide and offer for sale any real estate in violation of the terms or 
provisions of the Ordinance shall, upon conviction therefore in State Court, be 
punished as provided by the County Code. 


 
 
 







  64


SECTION 11 
 


Sec. 8-510.  LEGAL STATUS 
 
 


(a) Effect of Invalidity of Part of Ordinance. Should any section or provision of 
this Ordinance be decided by the Courts to be unconstitutional or invalid, such 
decision shall not effect the validity of this Ordinance as a whole or any thereof 
other than the part so decided to be unconstitutional or invalid. 


 
(b) Conflict with Other Laws. All ordinances or parts of ordinances in conflict 


herewith are hereby repealed. 
 


(c) Amendment. The Board of Commissioners shall have the authority to amend 
these regulations after a public hearing thereon.   


 
11-3.1 Notice of the time and place of such public hearing shall be published in a 


newspaper of general circulation in Fayette County at least fifteen (15) 15 days 
prior to such meeting. 


 
(d) Amendment. The Board of Commissioners shall have the authority to amend 


these regulations after a public hearing thereon.  Notice of the time and place of 
such public hearing shall be published in a newspaper of general circulation in 
Fayette County at least fifteen (15) 15 calendar days prior to such meeting. 


 
(e) Variance or Appeal.  In cases of undue hardship under this Ordinance, the 


property owner may petition the Planning Commission for relief a Variance or 
an Appeal from the decision of any of the aforementioned appropriate 
departments with regard to interpretation, administration, and enforcement.  
and where the Planning Commission concurs it will prepare and send to the Board 
of Commissioners such amendment as is considered necessary and equitable. In 
case the If the Planning Commission fails to does not concur grant the variance 
or appeal, the property owner may then appeal to the County Board of 
Commissioners. for relief. 


 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 





		Planning and Zoning- Subdivis...tions Agenda Request File.pdf

		Planning and Zoning- Subdivision Regulations Backup- Compressed






Minutes
Board of Commissioners


June 10, 2010
7:00 P.M.


Notice: A complete audio recording of this meeting can be heard by accessing Fayette
County’s Website at  www.fayettecountyga.gov.  Click on “Board of Commissioners”, then
“County Commission Meetings”, and follow the instructions.  The entire meeting or a single
topic can be heard.


                       
The Board of Commissioners of Fayette County, Georgia, met in Official Session on Thursday, June 10, 2010, at 7:00
p.m. in the Public Meeting Room of the Fayette County Administrative Complex, 140 Stonewall Avenue, Fayetteville,
Georgia.


Commissioners Present: Jack Smith, Chairman
Herb Frady, Vice Chairman
Lee Hearn
Robert Horgan
Eric Maxwell


Staff Present: Jack Krakeel, County Administrator
Scott Bennett, County Attorney
Carol Chandler, Executive Assistant


 Karen Morley, Chief Deputy Clerk
________________________________________________________________________________________________
Chairman Smith called the meeting to order.
Commissioner Hearn offered the Invocation.
Pledge of Allegiance.


ACCEPTANCE OF AGENDA: Commissioner Horgan made a motion to approve the agenda as presented.
Commissioner Hearn seconded the motion.  The motion carried 5-0.


PUBLIC HEARING:
A. PUBLIC HEARING ON THE COUNTY’S PROPOSED ANNUAL BUDGET FOR FISCAL YEAR BEGINNING


JULY 1, 2010 AND ENDING JUNE 30, 2011:


Chief Financial Officer Mary Holland discussed the county’s proposed annual budget for fiscal year beginning July 1,
2010 and ending June 30, 2011.  She remarked that this budget proposal represented a 1.4% reduction over last year’s
adopted budget and that was a reduction of more than $1 million.  She noted that there were two items still under review
including the Drug Abuse and Treatment Fund and the Victims Assistance Fund.  County administrator Jack Krakeel
added that there have been ongoing discussions regarding these funds and it was anticipated that the resolution to these
two issues would result in a decrease in funding associated with them. A copy of the request and backup, identified as
“Attachment No. 1", follow these minutes and are made an official part hereof.  



http://www.fayettecountyga.gov





Board of Commissioners Minutes


June 10, 2010


Page 2


Chairman Smith pointed out that this was a public hearing and he asked if anyone wished to speak in favor or against
the proposed annual budget.  There were no comments made.


County Administrator Jack Krakeel said he felt it was important to point out that the budget that was being presented
to the Board tonight during this first public hearing recognizes that this budget will operate with the same tax levy that
was in place last year and would not require a tax increase. 


PUBLIC COMMENT:
None.


CONSENT AGENDA: Commissioner Horgan made a motion to approve the consent agenda as presented.
Commissioner Hearn seconded the motion.  The motion carried 5-0.


ROAD DEPARTMENT - BID #751 DUST CONTROL:
1. Approval of staff’s recommendation to award Bid #751 for dust control on gravel roads using B&B Oil Company,


Inc. for application of Ultra Bond 2000 at their bid rate of $0.54 per square yard and South Eastern Road
Treatment for application of calcium chloride at their bid rate of $0.26 per square yard.  A copy of the request
and backup, identified as “Attachment No. 2", follow these minutes and are made an official part hereof.  


ROAD DEPARTMENT - BID #P732 WATER TANK INSTALLATION:
2. Approval of staff’s recommendation to award Proposal #P732, Water Tank Installation, to Diversified Fabricator,


Inc. in the amount of $23,000 for installation of a water tank onto an existing Road Department truck.  A copy
of the request and backup, identified as “Attachment No. 3", follow these minutes and are made an official part
hereof.  


911 COMMUNICATIONS - SPRINT NEXTEL CORPORATION FREQUENCY RECONFIGURATION AGREEMENT:
3. Approval of staff’s recommendation for approval of the Amendment to the Frequency Reconfiguration


Agreement between Fayette County and Sprint Nextel Corporation required by the rebanding of the 800 MHz
public radio system used by the Fayette County 911 Center.  A copy of the request and Agreement, identified
as “Attachment No. 4", follow these minutes and are made an official part hereof.  


PLANNING & ZONING - MOTORIZED CART TRAVEL ON SPECIFIED STREETS:
4. Approval of staff’s recommendation that specified streets in Kingswood Estates be authorized for the use of


motorized cart travel, including Derby Drive, Kingswood Drive, Kingswood Way, Trace Court, Roxboro Court,
Tandy Trace, Essex Circle, Oxford Lane, Lamberth Lake Drive, Hampton Court, Fincher Forest, Huie Hill, and
Berkshire Trail.  A copy of the request and backup, identified as “Attachment No.  5", follow these minutes and
are made an official part hereof.  


STREET LIGHTS - ORDINANCE NO. 2010-04 APPROVED:
5. Approval of Ordinance No. 2010-04 amending the Fayette County Code of Ordinances, Chapter 16, Street


Lights, Articles II and III.  A copy of the request, backup and Ordinance NO. 2010-04, identified as “Attachment
No. 6", follow these minutes and are made an official part hereof.  


SHERIFF’S OFFICE - DISPOSAL OF UNIFORMS:
6. Approval of staff’s request to dispose of old, worn, faded and torn Sheriff’s Office uniforms that are no longer


serviceable.  A copy of the request and backup, identified as “Attachment No. 7", follow these minutes and are
made an official part hereof.  







Board of Commissioners Minutes


June 10, 2010


Page 3


SHERIFF’S OFFICE - OVERTIME BUDGET AMENDED:
7. Approval of Sheriff’s Office request to amend the Overtime Budget for the Fayette County Sheriff’s Office


Criminal Investigations Division by $7,850.65 for reimbursement for employees assigned to work with various
Federal Agencies.  A copy of the request, identified as “Attachment No. 8", follows these minutes and is made
an official part hereof.  


NEW BUSINESS:
B.      CONSIDERATION OF STAFF’S REQUEST TO RENEW THE APPLICATION SERVICE PROVIDER (ASP)


AGREEMENT WITH TYLER  TECHNOLOGIES, INC. FOR REMOTE DATA HOSTING FOR A THREE-YEAR
PERIOD BEGINNING JULY 1, 2010 AND ENDING JUNE 30, 2013 AT A TOTAL COST OF $403,470:


Business Systems Administrator Nina Madrid reviewed this agreement with the Board and asked for consideration to
approve the renewal of the Application Service Provider (ASP) Agreement with Tyler Technologies, Inc. for remote data
hosting for a three-year period beginning July 1, 2010 and ending June 30, 2013 at a total cost of $403,470.  


Commissioner Horgan made a motion to renew the Application Service Provider (ASP) Agreement with Tyler
Technologies, Inc. for remote data hosting for a three-year period beginning July 1, 2010 and ending June 30, 2013 at
a total cost of $403,470 and to authorize the Chairman to execute same.  Commissioner Hearn seconded the motion.
The motion carried 5-0.  A copy of the request and Agreement, identified as “Attachment No. 9", follow these minutes
and are made an official part hereof.  


C.       CONSIDERATION OF THE WATER COMMITTEE’S RECOMMENDATION TO CONDUCT TWO PILOT
STUDIES FOR THE PURPOSE OF DETERMINING THE BEST METHOD FOR TOTAL ORGANIC CARBON
REMOVAL AT THE SOUTH FAYETTE WATER TREATMENT PLANT AT A TOTAL COST OF $49,950 WITH
FUNDS TO COME OUT OF THE RENEWAL AND EXTENSION FUND:


Water System Director Tony Parrott remarked that the E.P.A. was requiring that there be a reduction of the total organic
carbons in the water by 35% and the regulations would be even stricter in 2012.  He discussed two of the treatment
techniques that may help achieve this.  He asked for the Board’s consideration to approve two recommended contracts
to conduct two pilot studies for the purpose of determining the best method for total organic carbon removal at the South
Fayette Water Treatment Plant at a total cost of $49,950.  He remarked that these funds would come out of the Renewal
and Extension Fund.  


Commissioner Horgan made a motion to award the two recommended contracts to conduct two pilot studies for the
purpose of determining the best method for total organic carbon removal at the South Fayette Water Treatment Plant
at a total cost of $49,950 and to authorize the Chairman to execute same.  Commissioner Hearn seconded the motion.
The motion carried 5-0.  A copy of the request, backup and contract with Kruger, Inc. and the contract with Orica
Watercare, identified as “Attachment No. 10", follow these minutes and are made an official part hereof.  


ADMINISTRATOR’S REPORT:   
DISTRICT ATTORNEY’S OFFICE REQUEST TO TRADE TWO VEHICLES:
County Administrator Jack Krakeel asked for consideration to allow the District Attorney’s Office to trade two vehicles
from that office for two surplus Sheriff’s Department vehicles that are currently located at the Fayette County Public
Works Facility.  He said he had received confirmation from the Prosecuting Attorney’s Council that they are in
agreement.  He said if approved by this Board, there would be an exchange of titles and the two District Attorney’s
vehicles could be auctioned and they in turn would receive titles to the two vehicles located at Public Works.  He noted
the two vehicles being requested  consisted of a 2004 Crown Victoria with 120,000 miles and the other was a 2001







Board of Commissioners Minutes


June 10, 2010


Page 4


Crown Victoria with 103,000 miles.  He said the vehicles being traded were older model Crown Victorias with mileage
approaching 160,000 miles.  


Commissioner Horgan made a motion to approve the County Administrator’s request to allow the District Attorney’s
Office to trade two older model Crown Victoria vehicles from that office for two surplus Sheriff’s Department vehicles.
Commissioner Hearn seconded the motion.  The motion carried 5-0.  


ATTORNEY’S REPORT:
GEORGIA FORESTRY AGREEMENT:
County Attorney Scott Bennett asked for the Board’s consideration to authorize the Chairman to execute the agreement
between the Georgia Forestry Commission and Fayette County in the amount of $3,400.


Commissioner Horgan made a motion to authorize the Chairman to execute the Agreement between the Georgia
Forestry Commission and Fayette County in the amount of $3,400.  Commissioner Hearn seconded the motion.  The
motion carried 5-0. A copy of the Agreement, identified as “Attachment No. 11", follows these minutes and is made an
official part hereof.  


DELTACOM SERVICE AGREEMENT - RFP #730 FOR THE FAYETTE COUNTY WATER SYSTEM LOCATION:
County Attorney Scott Bennett asked for the Board’s consideration to authorize the Chairman to execute the contract
that was awarded to Deltacom for RFP #730 for PRI Circuit Replacement on McDonough Road at the Fayette County
Water System at the May 13  Board of Commissioners’ meeting.  He said the monthly fee would be $434.80.   th


Commissioner Horgan made a motion to authorize the Chairman to execute the Deltacom contract for PRI Circuit
Replacement on McDonough Road at the Fayette County Water System.  Commissioner Hearn seconded the motion.
The motion carried 5-0.  A copy of the contract, identified as “Attachment No. 12", follows these minutes and is made
an official part hereof.  


STAFF REPORTS:
UPDATE ON THE WEST FAYETTEVILLE BYPASS: Director of the Road Department Andy Adams updated the Board
on the construction of the West Fayetteville Bypass.  He noted that in a couple of weeks the construction of the
intersection at Sandy Creek Road  would require all Sandy Creek Road traffic to be closed temporarily while the work
was being performed.  He said there would be a detour plan put in place and this would be posted on the County’s
website.  He said this construction should take approximately one week maximum and would begin on Monday, June
21 .  He said any traffic going Southbound on Sandy Creek Road would go down Flat Creek Trail to S.R. 54.  He saidst


any traffic on S.R. 54 going Northbound on Sandy Creek Road would proceed past the Sandy Creek intersection and
go to Flat Creek Trail and proceed North.   


BOARD REPORTS:
None.


EXECUTIVE SESSION:
None.







Board of Commissioners Minutes


June 10, 2010


Page 5


ADJOURNMENT:   Hearing no further business to come before the Board, Chairman Smith adjourned the meeting at
7:30 p.m. 


___________________________ ____________________________________
Karen Morley, Chief Deputy Clerk Jack R. Smith, Chairman


The foregoing minutes were duly approved at an official meeting of the Board of Commissioners of Fayette County,
Georgia, held on the 24  day of June, 2010.th


___________________________
Karen Morley, Chief Deputy Clerk








COUNTY DEPARTMENT AGENDA REQUEST 


Department: Presenter(s):


Background/History/Details:


Wording for the Agenda:


What action are you seeking from the Board of Commissioners?


If this item requires funding, please describe:


Has this issue come before the Commissioners in the past? If so, when?


Do you need audio-visual for the presentation?


 STAFF USE ONLY


Administrator's Approval


Back-up Material Submitted?


Approved by Finance


Approved by Purchasing


Reviewed  by Legal


Approved by County Clerk


Type of Request:


Staff Notes:


Meeting Date:


Sheriff's Office Captain Michelle Walker, if needed


Approval of the Sheriff's Office request to amend the Overtime Budget for the Fayette County Sheriff's Office Criminal Investigations 
Division by $1,440.40 for reimbursement for employees assigned to work with various Federal Agencies.


The Fayette County Sheriff's Office Criminal Investigations Division receives monies for reimbursement of overtime funds from various 
federal programs for personnel assigned to work investigations in cooperation with these agencies.


Authorization from the Board of Commissioners to amend the Overtime Budget Account for the Fayette County Sheriff's Office Criminal 
Investigations Division (10030321-511300) by $1,440.40 which has been received from various federal programs for the 2009-2010 
Fiscal Year.  This would revise the Overtime Regular Budget Account to $160,058.45.


No funding is required for this request.


No


No


Yes


No


Yes


Not Applicable


Yes


Yes


ConsentThursday, June 24, 2010








COUNTY DEPARTMENT AGENDA REQUEST 


Department: Presenter(s):


Background/History/Details:


Wording for the Agenda:


What action are you seeking from the Board of Commissioners?


If this item requires funding, please describe:


Has this issue come before the Commissioners in the past? If so, when?


Do you need audio-visual for the presentation?


 STAFF USE ONLY


Administrator's Approval


Back-up Material Submitted?


Approved by Finance


Approved by Purchasing


Reviewed  by Legal


Approved by County Clerk


Type of Request:


Staff Notes:


Meeting Date:


Tax Assessors Joel T. Benton


Approval of staff's recommendations for the disposition of requests for property tax refunds.


When a taxpayer feels that an error has occurred with respect to property taxes paid to Fayette County on Real Estate and Personal 


Property tax bills, they have the right to request a Refund under O.C.G.A. 48-5-380. These requests are turned over to the Tax 


Assessors' Office in order to be reviewed in detail and  recommendations are then forwarded to the Board of Commissioner's for their 


final disposition of said requests, since the Governing Authority is the only body which can by law grant a refund of property tax.


Approve recommendations from staff for the disposition of requests for property tax refunds.


The funding required will be for those refund requests where the overpayment of taxes (voluntarily or involuntarily) was a direct result of 


property that had previously been erroneously assessed and taxes have already been collected from the taxpayer(s).


Yes Periodically through the year(s)


No


Yes


Yes


Yes


Not Applicable


Yes


Yes


ConsentThursday, July 22, 2010







Refund Requests BOC Pending


Taxpayer Year(s) Property Basis for Request Recommend Reason Amount


Jones, Judith B.


2006          


2007         


2008        


2009


Residential


On 03/31/10 taxpayer 


provided written statement 


that her homestead was 


removed in 2005 due to her 


husband's death and that she 


was not notified that she had 


to reapply for homestead


2006 Deny                      


2007 Approve                 


2008 Approve                 


2009 Approve                                                                        


Per property records pulled from 2005 


through 2009 Ms Jones did not have 


homestead exemptions from 2006 until 


the present. Due to her husband's 


death and the fact that his was the only 


signature on the Application for 


Homestead Tax Exemption the 


homestead exemptions were removed. 


As a result of her husband's death, Ms. 


Jones did receive a Certificate of Order 


of Year's Support and did not pay real 


property tax in 2005. However, there is 


no evidence that Ms. Jones was notified 


that she was must reapply for her 


homestead exemptions in 2006, 


therefore we are recommending that 


she be granted a refund for these 


exemptions for 2007, 2008 and 2009.     


2006   $90.28              


2007  $85.05            


2008  $86.76              


2009 $ 86.51


New Hope United Methodist Church 2009 Exempt


Taxpayer requesting exempt 


status and refund for prior 


Year 2009 in which taxes 


were paid


2009 Deny


Request for exempt status was made to 


the BOA on March 28, 2010. BOA 


approved exempt status for 2010, but 


denied exemption for prior year 2009. If 


an entity qualifies for exempt status, it 


becomes exempt from taxation from the 


date of the request forward, only.


2009  $1,625.35


Number of Requests 5


Number of Recommended Approvals 3


Number of Denials 2


Amount Requested $1,973.95 


Amount Recommended to Refund $258.32 





		Tax Assessor- Refund Agenda Request File.pdf

		Tax Assessor- Refund Backup






The AgendaThe AgendaThe AgendaThe Agenda
Board of Commissioners


June 24, 2010
 7:00 P.M.


Call to Order, Invocation, and Pledge of Allegiance.


Acceptance of Agenda.


PRESENTATION/RECOGNITION:


A. Presentation of a Resolution to the Marquis de Lafayette Chapter of the
Sons of the American Revolution recognizing the observance of the
“National Let Freedom Ring” Bell Ringing Ceremony on July 4.


PUBLIC HEARING:


B. Public Hearing on the County’s proposed annual budget for the fiscal year
beginning July 1, 2010 and ending June 30, 2011, and consideration of
Resolution 2010-10 enacting said budget.


C. Consideration of Ordinance 2010-05, proposed amendments to the Fayette
County Code regarding Chapter 8 Development Regulations by adding
Article XIV Subdivision Regulations, in its entirety.


D. Consideration of Ordinance 2010-06, proposed amendments to the Fayette
County Code, regarding Chapter 8 Development Regulations, Article III
Street Design Standards and Specifications.


E. Consideration of Resolution 2010-11, proposed amendments to the
Planning and Zoning Department Fee Schedule.


F. Consideration of Ordinance 2010-07, proposed amendments to the Fayette
County Code, Chapter 12 Offenses and Miscellaneous Provisions, by
adding Article VII Cemetery, Burial Ground, Human Remains, or Burial
Object, in its entirety.


PUBLIC COMMENT:


CONSENT AGENDA:


1. Approval of reappointment of Darryl McKinney to the Fayette County
Hospital Authority for another four-year term commencing June 1, 2010 and
ending May 31, 2014.


BOARD OF COMMISSIONERS
Jack Smith, Chairman


Herb Frady, Vice Chairman
Lee Hearn


Robert Horgan
Eric Maxwell


i


STAFF
Jack Krakeel, County Administrator
Scott Bennett, County Attorney


Carol Chandler, Executive Assistant
Karen Morley, Chief Deputy Clerk


Floyd Jones, Deputy Clerk


i


MEETING LOCATION
Public Meeting Room
Administrative Complex
140 Stonewall Avenue
Fayetteville, GA 30214


i


MEETING TIMES
2nd and 4th Thursday each month at 7:00 pm


i


COMMISSION OFFICE
Administrative Complex


Suite 100
140 Stonewall Avenue
Fayetteville, GA 30214
Phone: (770) 305-5200
Fax: (770) 305-5210


i


WEB SITE


www.fayettecountyga.gov


i


E-MAIL


administration@fayettecountyga.gov







Agenda
June 24, 2010
Page Number 2


2. Approval of reappointment of Joan Smith to the Fayette County Hospital Authority for another four-year term
commencing June 1, 2010 and ending May 31, 2014.


3. Approval of the reappointment of Harriett Steele to the Region Three Mental Health Planning Board for another
three-year term commencing April 1, 2010 and ending March 31, 2012.


4. Approval of the reappointment of Brian Cardoza to the Fayette County Public Facilities Authority for another
one-year term commencing July 23, 2010 and ending July 22, 2011.


5. Approval of reappointment of Mary Shaver to the Fayette County Public Facilities Authority for another one-year
term commencing July 23, 2010 and ending July 22, 2011.


6. Approval of reappointment of Jack Smith to the Fayette County Public Facilities Authority for another one-year
term commencing July 23, 2010 and ending July 22, 2011.


7. Approval of staff’s request to renew the Annual Support Agreement with Data Voice, Inc. for
telecommunications equipment and software beginning July 1, 2010 and ending June 30, 2011 at a total cost
of $39,996.00.


8. Approval of staff’s recommendations for the disposition of requests for property tax refunds.


9. Approval of a request from 911 Communications for authorization to dispose of uniforms and related equipment
no longer of use to the Department.


10. Approval of the Sheriff’s Office request to amend the Overtime Budget for the Fayette County Sheriff’s Office
Criminal Investigations Division by $1,440.40 for reimbursement for employees assigned to work with various
Federal Agencies.


11. Approval of the Water Committee’s recommendation to insert a septic tank maintenance mailer in water bills
mailed to customers in unincorporated Fayette County.


12. Approval of May 24, 2010 Board of Commissioners Budget Meeting Minutes, May 27, 2010 Board of
Commissioners Minutes, June 2, 2010 Board of Commissioners Workshop Minutes and June 10, 2010 Board
of Commissioners Minutes.


ADMINISTRATOR’S REPORT
ATTORNEY’S REPORT
STAFF REPORTS
BOARD REPORTS
EXECUTIVE SESSION


ADJOURNMENT








COUNTY DEPARTMENT AGENDA REQUEST 


Department: Presenter(s):


Background/History/Details:


Wording for the Agenda:


What action are you seeking from the Board of Commissioners?


If this item requires funding, please describe:


Has this issue come before the Commissioners in the past? If so, when?


Do you need audio-visual for the presentation?


 STAFF USE ONLY


Administrator's Approval


Back-up Material Submitted?


Approved by Finance


Approved by Purchasing


Reviewed  by Legal


Approved by County Clerk


Type of Request:


Staff Notes:


Meeting Date:


Commissioners Carol Chandler


Approval of reappointment of Brian Cardoza to the Fayette County Public Facilities Authority for another one-year term commencing July 


23, 2010 and ending July 22, 2011.


The Fayette County Public Facilities Authority was created by special act in 1978.  The first members were appointed in 1999, in 


preparation for the construction of the Fayette County Justice Center and Jail. 


 


There are three members on the PFA. Appointments are for one year each with no term limits. All three seats are appointed by the Board 


of Commissioners. 


 


Approval of reappointment of Brian Cardoza to the Fayette County Public Facilities Authority for another one-year term.


Not Applicable.


No


No


Yes


No


Not Applicable


Not Applicable


Yes


Yes


ConsentThursday, June 24, 2010








COUNTY DEPARTMENT AGENDA REQUEST 


Department: Presenter(s):


Background/History/Details:


Wording for the Agenda:


What action are you seeking from the Board of Commissioners?


If this item requires funding, please describe:


Has this issue come before the Commissioners in the past? If so, when?


Do you need audio-visual for the presentation?


 STAFF USE ONLY


Administrator's Approval


Back-up Material Submitted?


Approved by Finance


Approved by Purchasing


Reviewed  by Legal


Approved by County Clerk


Type of Request:


Staff Notes:


Meeting Date:


Fayette County Water System Tony Parrott


Approval of the Water Committee's recommendation to allow the Water System to insert information about septic tank maintenance into 


water bills for customers in unincorporated Fayette County.


Fayette County is required to perform septic-tank education outreach as one of the best management practices for county's NPDES MS4 


permit (National Pollutant Discharge Elimination System Municipal Separate Storm Sewer System). The proposed water bill insert 


highlighting septic-tank function and maintenance meets this permit requirement. 


 


The insert would go to 12,000 of the Water System's 27,000 customers.


Approval to insert the mailer in the water bills.


The Stormwater Department is printing the inserts in-house, thus there is little cost involved.


No


No


Yes


Yes


Not Applicable


Not Applicable


Yes


Yes


ConsentThursday, June 24, 2010







,


/


Septic Systems Safely Recycle Wastewater - Wastewater flows from your house into the tank
where heavy solids or sludge settles to the bottom. Scum made up of hair, grease, and soap float to
the top of the tank and wastewater in the middle is pushed out into the drainfield. Baffles attached to
the outlet of the tank keep scum from entering the drainfield.


A leachfield is a perforated-pipe network buried 1-3 ft. deep in gravel channels. - Dissolved
waste and bacteria is then decomposed by microorganisms and nutrients and absorbed into the soil.


Treated wastewater or effluent leaves the leachfield and percolates down through the soil. As
effluent continues to seep down through the soil, waste not removed in the drainfield are further
removed by natural process in the soil before meeting up with groundwater.


Perform Regular Maintenance" Solids must eventually be pumped from the tank. Experts advise
pumping a 1,000 gallon septic-tank used daily for a family of four every 3-5 years.


Do Not Pour Grease Down the Drain - Grease can clog the septic drainfield, making it impossible
for soil to absorb liquids. If that happens you'll need a new drainfield.


Avoid Hazardous Chemicals - Varnish, paint thinners, motor oils, gasoline and other similar chemi
cals can ruin your system and are a hazard to groundwater. Dispose of them properly.


Protect the System from Damage - Do not drive over or build a structure on top of the drainfield, or
cover it with concrete or asphalt. Do plant grass on top to minimize erosion.





		Water System- Bill Insert Agenda Request File.pdf

		Water System- Bill Insert Backup- Compressed



